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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31st March

MBERE

HE=ZA=+—HIFE

For the year ended
31st March
BE=-RA=t—-HLFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —EMEF
HK$ million HK$ million Change
BEET BEET =)
Revenue WA 2,111.8 2,303.2 -8.3%
Gross profit EN 347.2 384.1 -9.6%
Operating profit e m A 157.0 199.9 -21.5%
Profit for the year FERF 81.2 77.0 +5.5%
Profit attributable to owners ZA/NCIEZZS DN
of the Company JEAL 5 ) 89.6 78.8 +13.8%
Basic earnings per ordinary BRERREARRT
share (HK cents) (BAL) 14.06 12.31 +14.2%
Interim dividend per ordinary TR FAR T HIRR S
share (HK cents) GBI 1.80 1.50 +20.0%
Proposed final dividend per ERERE SRR E
ordinary share (HK cent(s)) (Bl 1.50 1.00 +50.0%
Gross profit margin ER=E 16.4% 16.7% -0.3p.p.ADE
Operating profit margin HEpin 7.4% 87% -13p.p. ADE
Net profit margin pEDi A 3.8% 33% +05p.p.ENH

REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS
BEFRHZBA
15.1%

@ Steels Distribution and Processing Business

D 88 RN TR

@ Building Products Distribution Business
FREEM L H TS

2024/25

@ Property Investment and Fund Management Business

EHERERESEEER 81.0%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFEBFRE
4

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated UTREBBEIZERARAT([ARREF L) KREME
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings NEl( G RSB DR TISFE 2 LEZEEH
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the BMERE -

“Group”) for the respective years as hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT SERER

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31st March 2025 31st March 2024 31st March 2023 31st March 2022 st March 2021

HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000
FEn TEx BT TEx TEx

¢
Revenue WA 2,111,804 2,303,176 2,658,481 2,807,900 2,073,632
Operating profit mERF 156,951 199,943 180,778 156,992 96,000
Net finance costs FHBER (71,700) (91,339) (76,097) (61,436) (62,914)

Share of results of investments  E{ERIEZAAE
accounted for using equity ZHEER

method - net — 55 (19,641) (22,750) (11,297) (12,550) (19,724)
Profit before income tax hﬁﬁ SHATEF 65,610 85,854 93,384 83,006 13,362
Income tax credit/(expense) TeHEe,/ (XH) 15,634 (8,844) (11,201) (19,567) (9,539)
Profit for the year FEEF 81,244 77,010 82,183 63,439 3,823
Attributable to: e -

- Owners of the Company S.YNCIFZ=UN 89,617 78,782 82,846 65,503 1,673

- Non-controlling interests —JEE RS (8,373) (1,772) (663) (2,064) 2,150

81,244 77,010 82,183 63,439 3,823
Dividends e 21,005 15,992 16,010 19,212 6,412
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FRE BRI &

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 2025 31st March 2024  3{st March 2023 31st March 2022 31st March 2021
b ¥ -3 R-Z-NE

_ﬁ 2= SE=T=F = =

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000

FET FET FET BT FET

Non-current assets FRBEE 1,644,958 1,703,682 1,798,799 1,966,749 1,881,726

Current assets MEAE 910,420 946,220 1,158,622 1,401,472 1,079,044

Current liabilities TEAE (1,053,742) (1,157,479) (1,713,835) (1,374,122) (1,065,294)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (407,635) (450,564) (170,933) (879,871) (886,968)

Net assets BEFH 1,094,001 1,041,859 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508

Equity: s

Share capital BAR 63,650 63,860 64,041 64,041 64,123

Reserves @ 936,526 876,714 897,108 926,794 823,598
Capital and reserves attributable /A R)EA AEERA

to owners of the Company LR 1,000,176 940,574 961,149 990,835 887,721

Non-controlling interests RS 93,825 101,285 111,504 123,393 120,787

Total equity B 1,094,001 1,041,859 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREMES

N

Strategic Transformation to
Echo the Call for
New Quality Productive Forces

EEMELEEDEETRE
B X R AR E R

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

WkiEKE

ES3

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present you the audited consolidated results for the year
ended 31st March 2025 (“FY2024/25” or the “Year”).
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Looking back at the last years, it becomes increasingly
obvious that there was a fundamental change in our
operating environment. Market shocks and black swan
events have become a part of our everyday lives, and
business uncertainty continues to grow due to rising
geopolitical tension, dynamic trading relationships,
fluctuating commodity prices, and weakened consumer and
investment sentiment. Facing such challenges, our business
also requires an upgrade by focusing more on value-added
services, rather than relying solely on traditional trading. The
shift aims to create more value for end-users and sustain
growth in an uncertain and potentially stagnant market.

The Year, we believe we have shown the results of our
transition. Our value-added Steels Processing Business,
a business where its profit does not rely heavily on steel
prices, but instead on our efficiency and processing know-
how, continued to gain orders and market share in Hong
Kong. Supported by its 9.3% year-on-year growth in delivery
volume, we also improved our economies of scale, leading to
an improvement in revenue and profit from the sub-segment.

On the other hand, through our investment in Smart Toilet
Solutions, our Building Products Distribution Business is also
now bundling the value-added services, including air quality
monitoring and ventilation control, with our established
product portfolio, setting a new standard for sanitaryware,
particularly among public settings. As for our Property
Investment and Fund Management Business, in addition
to our building renovation and fit-out services, we are also
trying to go one step further for our tenants. By providing
value-added services such as flexible leasing terms and
industry-specific support, we saw notable results in Central
Park e Huangpu, resulting in stable occupancy rates and
hence rental income performance.

As a result of the aforesaid initiatives, our financial
performance has become more sustainable, subject to less
impact from the changes in steel prices, and is now able
to generate a steady rental income, instead of relying on
one-off fee income or fair value gain on investments. For
the Year, our revenue recorded a modest decrease of 8.3%
year-on-year to HK$2,111.8 million due to the lower average
steel prices; yet on profit terms, profit attributable to owners
of the Company reported a 13.7% year-on-year increase to
HK$89.6 million, highlighting our resilience.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
THEHRES

L

CEBEHRF  RAAGEABBRIINEERTL
BRAENEE - MGEEERRBEHEKE
B MAMEBURERBEMNE - EHHEEL
BAl - RRBEmERKE  WEOHBERREBHE
B - BEPEEBRNTHETEESFEEMN - mEwm
BB Z R - RANEBTREELAE - BXE
REIBEIRY - MIFEAKBEEREHER - It
HRASERARKAFPEAGEESEE  YETHT
EEMEBAREERNMISTER A HENERE
£ o

RS - BIMRESARE NS - RMOEED
BN T T K0 IS IEE BRBR BN - T
N AlE P Ve EL R
BAPYLE T35 148 S B ET B 1R B 3 o
A3 8RR 9.3% B T - RFNEAS
BIVEFTRF - REZEHH BORARERIFE
7 -

H—HH  BERHBRECAFRERDRNERK
A BRI EEM Mo HES IR ETERBER
& EREZRMEERRBRERRSGHATLF
MEBEERAET  REGARARET THHR
B REREQHGHME - ERRANFHERE
RESBZER RTHEBTFEMNEEIN  *
MMENREFREEE PRS- BBREMH
EERY - PINBEENEERR L ERFETED
iR BPEERIEE « ERRABSEENX
Mo BRTREMBAER - tmsSHESBANK
i o

ERUEMERE FRAMMEREEEATFHE
B TESESHHERESNTERE  RE
MR TNBES KA MIEERBE—WASEA
ABERREZRE - AFE SWEFHERT
BEE BRMOKRARFHREEMTEKSI%E
A1 8EBEL AMERFNKRIEMS + AR F
A ARG EFNAIEZEFE EA18.7%E89.6 5 BB
L RO EBERMERNEME
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETERES

N

Riding on the improving financial performance, we were also
able to improve our financial position, laying the ground for
future success. As at 31st March 2025, we saw an increase
in our cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits
from HK$147.1 million to HK$179.7 million. We also utilised
our excess cash to repay certain short-term bank borrowings
with relatively high interest rates, with finance costs for the
Year seeing a significant decrease of 21.6% year-on-year to
HK$72.3 million. That has also led to an improving gearing
ratio, down from 54.2% to 48.5% for the Year.

The transformation journey over the last years would not
have been as successful without your support. Hence, on the
backdrop of stabilizing and sustainable results, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK1.50
cents per ordinary share; along with the interim dividend
of HK1.80 cents per ordinary share, the total dividend for
the Year reached HK3.30 cents per ordinary share. The
consistent dividend payout highlights our commitment to
shareholders’ value, and we are looking forward to sharing
our fruitful results with you upon business success.

Looking ahead, we believe there is limited visibility into
the market. Instead of predicting the unpredictable, we
will continue to focus on our strengths by focusing on
technological innovation and value creation to fortify our
businesses. In particular, as the Hong Kong Government
now places new quality productive forces as one of its key
development areas, we see room for further consolidation
and efficiency enhancement within the construction industry.
While we will continue to expand our cut-and-bend services,
we are also looking at opportunities that would offer more
value-added solutions to all parties within the construction
value chain, such as integrated systems that would allow
real-time data access, full traceability, efficient coordination,
and two-way communication. We believe this would support
our transformation process, repositioning ourselves as
a value-creating partner in the construction ecosystem -
one that integrates products, services, and technologies
to support smarter, safer, and more sustainable built
environments.

Such development should also allow us to better align with
future policy direction, equipping us with the most up-to-
date products and services for upcoming opportunities,
such as the development of Northern Metropolis. With plans
for over 900,000 housing units and key infrastructure such
as the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Innovation and Technology
Park and cross-border transportation links, the Northern
Metropolis should offer us notable opportunities for our
Steels Distribution and Processing Business and Building
Products Distribution Business.

\SJ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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Meanwhile, we will also keep a keen eye on emerging
technologies to improve our production, while implementing
prudent cost control measures to ensure financial stability.

In a period of change, we sincerely appreciate your
continued trust and support as a shareholder. | would also
like to take this opportunity to thank our Board members,
business partners, staff, customers, and other stakeholders
for your partnerships and collaborations, helping us to
build the foundation for success. Once again, thank you for
being an essential part of our journey - we look forward to
achieving new milestones together, and contribute to the
new chapter of Hong Kong.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BN DA
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Business Upgrade and
Value-added Focus to

Drive Resilient Business Development

EBRARREEEH
APRERBRERRETER

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

FY2024/25 was a year marked by heightened macroeconomic
volatility and structural shifts across global and regional
markets. While early signs of recovery emerged from
the easing of supply chain disruptions and inflationary
pressures, renewed headwinds - including intensified trade
frictions, diverging monetary policies, persistent geopolitical
uncertainties, and fluctuating commodity prices - continued
to weigh on the Group’s operations.

In Hong Kong, despite the government’s efforts to stimulate
property and construction development, private sector
activity was subdued amid a softening residential market;
whereas in Mainland China, the commercial property market
also remained under pressure due to the stagnated demand
and an influx of new supply.

!-2/ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | BB AR B[R AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Amid this challenging environment, the Group remained
focused on operational discipline and strategic execution.
For its Steels Distribution Business, the Group continued to
leverage its effective procurement mechanism to mitigate
the impact of steel price volatility. Meanwhile, its value-
added Steels Processing Business achieved a record
high in production output during the Year, highlighting its
proven value and growing market adoption across public
and private projects. In Shanghai, the Group’s local team
has once again demonstrated its management excellence,
effectively navigating the dynamic market conditions to
maintain strong occupancy rates and stable rental income.
All these efforts have effectively cushioned the impact of a
softer market environment, laying the foundation for solid
financial performance.

During the Year, the Group’s revenue declined by 8.3%
from approximately HK$2,303.2 million to approximately
HK$2,111.8 million, primarily due to lower average steel
prices. Gross profit decreased from approximately HK$384.1
million to approximately HK$347.2 million, with gross profit
margin reporting a modest decrease from 16.7% to 16.4%,
reflecting the impact of pricing pressure, which was partially
offset by the resilient performance of its value-added Steels
Processing Business.

Supported by stringent cost control measures, reduction
in finance costs, and the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from the improved performance of its Steels
Processing Business, profit attributable to owners of the
Company reached approximately HK$89.6 million for the
Year, representing a 13.8% increase compared to the same
period last year.

For the Year, the basic earnings per ordinary share was
HK14.06 cents, as compared with HK12.31 cents in the
same period last year.

EHTMIBENTIZRE - AREBEETELE
B WL EREENITE AT E - EIE D HEH
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BEETEENER -
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AML23032BEE LRI EL2111.8FER
JC AR 4 8.3% « EFIE #3841 8 & /B TR
LENBAT2EBEE T EEFKESZEEMT
B H16.7% WP E16.4% c ER R TERBRT
EBERTITHAEENTE BRI ZEEHE
HIEMTEBRFANETE T RIEERE DR
B o

XERERZEOR IS - ISR AR - A
FAEIE N TEBRFNES MEENEREL
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FRIEAA12.31781 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER W& D
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Steels Distribution and Processing Business

Steels Distribution and Processing Business primarily
supplies construction and industrial steels in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. In addition to its procurement and
distribution model, it operates one leading steel reinforcing
bar prefabrication yard in Hong Kong, providing customised
offsite cut-and-bend services. The prefabricated steel
reinforcing bars are ready for immediate use, offering
consistent product quality and full traceability, which
help reduce on-site labour, enhance safety, and minimise
construction waste.

During the Year, the steel market remained volatile amid
global economic uncertainties and fluctuating infrastructure
demand. While the overall delivery quantity for the Group’s
Steel Distribution Business recorded a modest decline
of approximately 4.9% year-on-year, segment revenue
decreased by 9.0% from approximately HK$1,879.5 million
to approximately HK$1,710.6 million, primarily due to the
drop in average steel prices. Despite the softer market
environment, the Group’s offsite prefabricated solutions were
well-received by the market, with delivery volume increasing
by approximately 9.3% year-on-year driven by growing
adoption across public and private projects. Supported
by its proven procurement strategy, expanding economies
of scale, and the rising contribution from the value-added
processing business, the segment maintained a stable gross
profit margin during the Year.

However, as a result of the absence of a reversal of onerous
contract provision in this Year (FY2023/24: approximately
HK$24.4 million), and a high base of comparison due to
the completion of higher-margin contracts in the previous
year, segment profit before income tax declined from
approximately HK$116.0 million to approximately HK$104.3
million, despite a reduction in finance costs. The resilient
business performance highlights the Group’s leading
market position, expanding client portfolio, and successful
transformation towards a value-driven service business.

During the Year, the Group participated in a number of major
infrastructure and private development projects, including
Tung Chung New Town Extension, Fanling North New
Development Area (Phase 1), Shek Li Street Public Housing
Development and Fanling Data Centre Development, among
others.

\1_4/ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Building Products Distribution Business

Building Products Distribution Business represents a
comprehensive value proposition for architects and
designers. It offers an extensive, well-designed, and
popular portfolio of branded sanitary wares, smart toilet
solutions, and fitting and kitchenware products, catering to
the needs of hotels, residential, shopping malls, airports,
and commercial buildings. It strives to provide a full chain
of services covering design, installation, logistics, and
technical support.

During the Year, the segment saw weakened retail consumer
sentiment and a slowdown in project initiatives despite
government stimulus measures. In Hong Kong, the growing
economic uncertainties and stagnated property prices did
not provide sufficient incentives for both homebuyers and
developers, with the number of housing and commercial
projects seeing a decline, causing a decrease in new
installations, replacement, and renovation works. In Mainland
China, the segment continued to face sustained competition
and demand pressure, particularly in the mid-to-high-end
renovation market. As a result, segment revenue declined by
approximately 6.3% year-on-year to approximately HK$319.1
million (FY2023/24: approximately HK$340.4 million),
while profit before income tax decreased to approximately
HK$24.9 million (FY2023/24: approximately HK$30.5 million).

Despite the challenging environment, the Group’s product
portfolio remained well-received in the market. Its major
brand, TOTO, continued to be chosen among commercial
and hospitality settings for its durability and design quality.
The Group’s Smart Toilet Solutions, which integrate AloT-
enabled features such as air quality and humidity monitoring,
water leakage detection, and energy-efficient ventilation,
have also gained higher popularity due to the rising
demand for safety, better environment quality, and efficient
management.

With the Smart Toilet Solutions being bundled with the
Group’s expansive product offerings, the Group sees high
potential in gaining further market share in the future, as
reflected in the latest implementation in Chinachem Tower,
Man Yee Building, and Hong Kong International Airport.
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Property Investment and Fund Management Business

As a niche market specialist in asset revitalisation and
value optimisation, the Group continues to adopt an “asset-
light” strategy for its investment projects in Shanghai. As
at 31st March 2025, the Group manages a total gross floor
area (“GFA”) of approximately 161,724 square meters, with
assets under management valued at around HK$8.0 billion.
Among the three Central Park projects under management,
Central Park ® Pudong, wholly-owned by the Group, aims
to deliver sustainable rental income and medium-to-long-
term capital appreciation. The Group also partners with
leading investment funds on two other projects, namely
Central Park e Jing’an and Central Park e Huangpu, where
it holds equity stakes and acts as a general partner and/or
investment manager to earn fee income.

During the Year, Shanghai’'s commercial property market
experienced a period of structural adjustment. While
supportive monetary and fiscal measures were introduced by
the Government to stabilise the sector, the market continued
to face headwinds from subdued leasing sentiment, an influx
of new supply, and cautious corporate expansion. These
factors exerted sustained pressure on occupancy levels,
average rental rates, and asset valuations.

In response, the Group proactively refined its leasing
strategies and repositioned its properties to target specific
industry clusters. Notably, Central Park ® Huangpu was
successfully repositioned to serve the medical and
healthcare sector, leveraging its proximity to Grade A
tertiary hospitals. This strategic shift has attracted a major
tenant to establish a medical innovation hub in the building,
and the flagship project has led to a broader increase in
occupancy rates from other healthcare-related enterprises,
effectively forming a healthcare tenant ecosystem. Riding on
the increasing occupancy rates and commercial activities,
the Group’s hotel asset within the same complex also
achieved an average occupancy rate of over 85%, with room
rates approaching pre-pandemic levels, supported by its
integrated conferencing and F&B facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overall, segment revenue recorded a modest decline of
approximately 1.3% year-on-year to approximately HK$82.1
million (FY2023/24: approximately HK$83.2 million), primarily
due to the slight reduction in management fee income.
However, rental income remained largely stable despite the
challenging market conditions, reflecting the effectiveness of
the Group’s proactive asset management efforts. Excluding
the share of loss from investments under the equity method
and the fair value loss of investment properties, the segment
reported a profit before income tax of approximately HK$32.7
million, compared to approximately HK$25.5 million in the
previous year. The improvement was mainly attributable to
effective cost control and enhanced operational efficiency.

The share of loss of investments accounted for using the
equity method decreased from approximately HK$22.8
million to approximately HK$19.6 million during the Year,
primarily due to the diminishing fair value losses on
investment properties compared to the previous year.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group anticipates further changes to
the dynamic macro environment. With the global economy
entering a phase of evolving geopolitical relationships,
changing monetary policies, and fluctuating consumption
and investment sentiment, it is expected that there will be
a growing conservatism among infrastructure and private
projects, given their significant investment and long
investment horizon. The weakening of demand may also
compress the Group’s margins for its Steels Distribution and
Processing Business.

To manage cost pressures and protect margins, the
Group will continue to exercise disciplined cost control
and preserve financial flexibility in case of further market
shocks. Yet, the Group also recognises the necessity of
transformation, that long-term sustainability and business
resilience may come at the expense of structural changes.
To this end, the Group is progressively evolving itself as a
value-creating partner in the construction ecosystem - one
that integrates materials, services, and smart technologies
to support a smarter, safer, and more sustainable built
environment. In the process, this should also strengthen trust
between the Group and its customers, thereby enhancing
customer loyalty, while improving coordination and efficiency
across the construction value chain, generating synergies
and savings for all.
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Regarding its Property Investment and Fund Management
Business, the commercial leasing market in Shanghai is
expected to remain stagnated due to the influx of supply
amid a stable demand. To maintain a stable business
performance, the Group will continue to strengthen its
tenant engagement efforts, by offering more tailored and
value-added services beyond traditional leasing, such as
flexible leasing terms, shared amenities, and industry-
specific support. These initiatives should be able to enhance
tenant stickiness, improve occupancy stability, and hence,
differentiate the Group’s properties in the competitive
regional market.

While the road ahead may be filled with uncertainties, the
Group remains confident in its ability to adapt, evolve, and
deliver sustainable performance. By staying agile, embracing
innovation, and deepening its integration of technology
and services, the Group is well-positioned to navigate the
challenges and capture emerging opportunities - creating
long-term value for its customers and shareholders.

CORPORATE FINANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial Position

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2024,
the Group's total assets decreased from approximately
HK$2,649.9 million to approximately HK$2,555.4 million as
at 31st March 2025, mainly as a result of the translation
difference of the Group’s investment in Mainland China
and the reduction in working capital. In breakdown, the
Group’s inventories decreased from approximately HK$380.6
million to approximately HK$342.9 million, with the average
inventory days of supply slightly decreasing from 81 days to
75 days. The Group's trade and bill receivables decreased
from approximately HK$370.8 million to approximately
HK$361.0 million, with the average overall days of sales
outstanding slightly decreasing from 57 days to 52 days.
Net asset value of the Group increased to approximately
HK$1,094.0 million, mainly attributable to profit for the Year,
while partially offset by the translation difference arising from
the depreciation of Renminbi (“RMB”) for the Group's net
investments in Mainland China. Net asset value per ordinary
share was equivalent to approximately HK$1.57 as at 31st
March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Compared with the financial position as at 31st March
2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged
bank deposits increased from approximately HK$147.1
million to approximately HK$179.7 million. The Group’s
borrowings decreased by approximately HK$136.9 million
to approximately HK$1,122.6 million as at 31st March 2025.
Gearing ratio (net debt, which is total borrowings minus
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents,
divided by capital and reserves attributable to owners of the
Company plus net debt) slightly decreased from 54.2% to
48.5%.

In terms of liquidity, the Group’s current ratio slightly
increased from 0.82 to 0.86. During the Year, the Group
utilised its excessive cash to repay certain short-term bank
borrowings with relatively high interest rates, and was able
to renegotiate existing credit facilities at more favourable
interest rates and terms to reduce short-term commitments.
In the opinion of the Directors, after due and careful
consideration of the internally generated funds and banking
facilities presently available to the Group, the Group has
sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities as they fall
due, and is able to carry on its business without significant
disruption.

The Group will continue to closely monitor the turnover of
its working capital and take various cost containment and
efficiency enhancement measures to strengthen its liquidity.

Financial Resources

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The
Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate and foreign
exchange risks; cost-efficient funding of the Company and
its subsidiaries; and yield enhancement from time to time
when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group has
always adhered to prudent financial management principles,
including the selection of appropriate security investments
according to the Group’s treasury investment policy.

BEERWE D

.y

H-T-NFE=Z A=+ BFERRAEL - ARE
BrRehReSENRCRBRITFERBL 1471
AEBTIEIMENI179.7TEEB T - AEENR T
THF=-RA=+—BZEENRLL136.9FEE
TTEHN1,1226 B8 L - BEBBLXR(BEF
o AMEEREREDRIFRTERERS MRS
LE - BRUARRGEEABRGEREARBEEMN LS
BEIFEE )R 54.2% B HURZE 48.5% °

EREENE  AEBARE L R H0.828 M L
FTE086 - RAFE  AKEEMER S AMKE
BETHEHEERSNEHRITEE - WKIHNAE
BENXRGEREFAHRBEEEE - URER
HIB AR - RBREZEABEENESARAE
BERE A BHAMRITRE  AEEEER/AEHE
ERAMBEREBEEINPABUARBITEL S
78 o

AEEBEETORILEEELBERR - LT
MEBR ARG LIRS AEN B - LUERIRD
o

MBEIR

AEBEZRENEBEHHELCEEMETEER
B AREZEREBEMBRERKAENEEY
Bk - BREMNERINERR - RAREREME
NERHABKRAMmWBET R - AREASKE
RefnaTHRESRER - ARE-ERFEE
M ERRE - BREREBEAEENEBREBRE
BERENESERE -

2024/25 Annual Report | 4 Qa/



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group's trade financing remained primarily supported by
its bank trading and revolving facilities for Steels Distribution
and Processing Business and Building Products Distribution
Business, and term loans for Property Investment and
Fund Management Business. As at 31st March 2025, about
66.8% of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings were
denominated in HK dollar, and the remaining 33.2% in RMB.
These facilities are either secured by pledged bank deposits
and/or corporate guarantees provided by the Company or
the Group's machineries and investment properties. All of
the above borrowings were on a floating rate basis. Interest
costs were levied on interbank offered rates plus a very
competitive margin. RMB loans of the Group have been
obtained from domestic and foreign banks in the amount of
RMB347.9 million. Interest costs of RMB banking facilities
were based on Loan Prime Rate adjusted with competitive
margin. The maturity of the Group’s borrowings as at 31st
March 2025 was as follows:

Maturity Profile
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71.9% 2.6% 9.2% 16.3% 100%
Charges on Assets EEEKHA

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$0.7 million (31st March 2024: bank deposits of
approximately HK$1.8 million), which were pledged as
collateral for the Group’s bill payables; (ii) investment
properties of approximately HK$1,246.6 million (31st March
2024: approximately HK$1,280.7 million) were pledged as
collaterals for certain bank borrowings of the Group; and (iii)
machineries of approximately HK$7.8 million (31st March
2024: approximately HK$9.1 million), which was included in
property, plant and equipment, and was used to secure the
Group’s hire purchase liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK
dollars, US dollars and RMB. As the exchange rate between
HK dollars and US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its
exposure to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not
material. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will, among
others, continue to match RMB payments with RMB receipts
to minimise realised exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management
of the Group considers appropriate, in order to hedge
against major non-HK dollars currency exposures. It is the
Group’s policy not to enter into any derivative transaction for
speculative purposes.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group’s total capital expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$3.1 million (2024:
approximately HK$15.9 million), which was primarily financed
through cash generated from operating activities.

Capital Commitments

As at 31st March 2025, the Group’'s total capital
commitments amounted to approximately HK$102.9 million
(831st March 2024: approximately HK$115.0 million).
Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31st March 2024: Same).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group did not have any material acquisitions and

disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during
the Year (2024: Same).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PARTICULAR OF MAJOR PROPERTIES FTEYEHE

As at 31st March 2025, the Group's properties held for RZZEZRAF=—HA=1T—H AEEFIFEEREZH
investment and their particulars are as follows: HEREFBEY T :

Approximate
attributable
above-ground
GFA (square
meters)
(excluding Number of

Property name car-parking car park Group’s
and location Existing use Tenure spaces) spaces interests
BA G
BEER
(FFHK)
Y5 2 B8 R i ik BRAR (FEEFEN) FEUNBE AEEz2EZR
(D
Central Park ® Pudong

FBE o HR
No. 2399 Zhangyang Road, Commercial  Medium term* 24,752 170 100%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China
B EETERE BERRE R
SR A5 B 2399 5%
Unit 606, Sanlian Building
ZHARE606E
No. 8 Huajing Road, Commercial  Medium term* 37.64 — 86.2%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China
B TR SRR I 2 A R 8 55R BERRE R
* Medium terms are for lease less than 50 years but not less than 10 * FEATRE DRSO FBRDR10F -
years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Central Park ® Pudong

Central Park ® Pudong is a 12-storey office tower with a total
above-ground GFA of approximately 24,752 square meters.
Situated in Inner Ring Road, a prime location of the Pudong
New District, Shanghai, the tower is in close proximity to
Luijiazui's Central Business District and Beiyangjing Road
Station of Line 6 of the Shanghai metro.

During the Year, both occupancy and rent rates of Central
Park e Pudong have remained at a steady level, generating a
rental income of approximately HK$46.1 million (FY2023/24:
HK$45.6 million).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
Central Park e Jing'an

Central ParkeJing'an is a 29-storey Grade A office
building with a retail podium on the ground floor, totalling
approximately 58,601 square meters in above-ground GFA.
The premises are situated at the junction of Hengfeng Road
and Hanzhong Road, two major pathways across Jing'an
District. Surrounded by metro-connected retail shopping
malls, hotel amenities, and a number of Grade A office
buildings, Central Park ® Jing’an enjoys locational excellence
with 3 easily accessible metro lines, and is within 10 minutes’
walking distance to the Shanghai Railway Station.

The Group invested in Central Park e Jing'an by partnering
with a leading sovereign wealth fund to form a joint venture,
namely HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited, which the
Group holds an effective 9.3% equity interests. In addition
to the potential value appreciation, the Group also earns
fee income through the provision of management services.
The project underwent revitalisation in September 2018,
and upon completion, is positioned as a Grade A office with
modernised office and workspace facilities.
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During the Year, Central Park e Jing’an financial performance
was affected by the change in fair value of investment
properties, with the Group’s share of loss of investment
accounted for using the equity method increased to
approximately HK$19.4 million (FY2023/24: share of loss of
approximately HK$12.3 million). No gain or loss on disposal
was recorded and no dividend was received during the Year.

Central Park ® Huangpu

Central Park ® Huangpu is a 53-storey high-rise landmark
located at the heart of Huangpu’s central business district,
near the intersection of Dapu Road and Xujiahui Road
and a 5-minute-walk from metro station. As a regional
landmark commercial complex with an above-ground GFA of
approximately 78,371 square meters, Central Park ® Huangpu
is the host of Pullman Shanghai Central (a hotel managed
by Accor Hotel Group) with office building, conference halls,
catering facilities, and retail outlets.

The Group invested in Central Park ® Huangpu through
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited, by partnering with a leading
private equity fund in which the Group holds 5% equity
interests. In addition to the potential value appreciation,
the Group also earns fee income through the provision of
management services.

During the Year, Central Parke Huangpu financial
performance was affected by the change in fair value of
investment properties, which was partially offset by the
improvement in performance of the hotel and the increase
in office average occupancy rate. The Group’s share of loss
of investment accounted for using the equity method for
this project was approximately HK$0.3 million for the Year
(FY2023/24: share of loss of approximately HK$10.5 million).
No gain or loss on disposal was recorded and no dividend
was received during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31st March 2025, the particulars of the significant
investments held by the Group are as follows:

BEERWE D
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RA_ERF=A=1t—RH AEEFEZEAR
BRIBEIIWMT

Name of entity

BEEER

(Y

As at 31st March 2025

R-B-E¥=A=t+-H

Place of
business/country
establishment/
incorporation

EXBE/
AR LER

Carry amount

RkEME

HK$’000

TR

Total number of shares and
percentage of ownership interest
attributable to the Group
FEBAFROAHK
EEREGAIHL

Percentage to
total assets
of the Group
fhAEE
BEAE
A

31st March
2024

31st March
2025

—E-ME
=R=+-H

“BCEHE
=R=+-H

Unlisted, ordinary shares

FEm o BBR

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited Mainland China/ 224173 8.8% 3,937.87 3,808.10
and its subsidiaries British Virgin Islands shares shares
(collectively “HSO Group”) (Note i) and 15% and 15%

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited FEAKE/ 3,937.871K% 3,808.10/%
REWBRR(SRBIHSO£E ) (M) RERTES % 15% R 15%

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited Mainland China/ 43,229 1.7% 5 shares 5 shares
(“Skyline Holdings") British Virgin Islands and 5% and 5%
and its subsidiaries
(collectively “Skyline Group”) (Note ii)

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited FEAKE/ 50 % 5% 50 % 5%
(T'Skyline Holdings]) RRRLES
RENBRR (G Skyline B 1) (i)

Notes: 5T

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 15%
by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62% owned
subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria Private Limited
(an independent third party). As at 31st March 2025, Plentiful has
contributed capital, aggregated to approximately US$39,379,000
(2024: US$38,081,000) and the investment in HSO Group is accounted
for using equity method in accordance with HKAS 28 (Amendments)
Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures. Please refer to Note 19 to
the audited consolidated financial statements for details.

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 95% by
Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (an independent third party) and 5%
by Top Bloom Group Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company). As at 31st March 2025, Top Bloom has
contributed capital, aggregated to approximately US$10,110,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$78,965,000 (2024: US$10,030,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$78,758,000) and the investment in
Skyline Group is accounted for using equity method in accordance with
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures.
Please refer to Note 19 to the audited consolidated financial statements
for details.

HSOSEFZERFREARNESEHERERESESE
% HAMEWAERARER ) (BARREE62%
2 MW EB AR %A 15% Kk HReco Wisteria Private
Limited(BB Y £ =/ )HHB8E% - R_T_AF=
A=+—8  E#®BE4& H I &39,379,000 3% t(2024:
38,081,00%7)  WHHSOKBE R EREBFBGHE
AIE 285 (B ) RE & R R R A &R AR & AT
R o FEIEE MM 2R A M mREME 19 -

Skylne EE X ZRHPEAEREREHERERESE
25 HiApollo Skyline Holding Limited (B2
BE=H)HEB 5% 25 & A Top Bloom Group Limited
([Top Bloom ) (AR AIRE2EH B AR A 5% HE
HoMRZE-ZAF=A=1+—H  Top BloomBA&HEA
10,110,000 % Jt (16 & 7 4978,965,000& 7t ) (ZZE = /1
£ © 10,030,000 % T (HHE R 478,758,000 7T) ) + I 4
Skyline £ B 2 % B IRBE B G TR ZE 2855 (1B 5T ) i
BARIRAEREIRE R ETR - FI55 202
e UBRRMEE9 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 2nd June 2025, Top Bloom (as Lender) entered into
a loan agreement with Skyline Holdings (as Borrower),
pursuant to which Top Bloom has agreed to provide
the loan in favour of Skyline Holdings in the amount of
RMB18,000,000 for a term of six months at an interest rate of
10% per annum. The loan shall be used by Skyline Holdings
or its subsidiaries for general working capital purposes. For
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 2nd June 2025.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this report, the Group did
not have any material events after the reporting period (31st
March 2024: Nil).

HUMAN CAPITAL AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group puts a strong emphasis on nurturing talents,
with its growth strategy built around its strong commitment
to people. The Group provides competitive remuneration
package, along with a safe and pleasant working
environment with constant learning and growth opportunities,
so as to attract and motivate employees.

The remuneration packages for Directors and employees are
normally reviewed annually and are structured by reference
to prevailing market terms and individual competence,
performance and experience. Other employee benefits
include training subsidy, discretionary bonus, retirement
benefits, insurance, medical coverage and share option
scheme.

As at 31st March 2025, the Group employs 255 staff (31st
March 2024: 250 staff). Total staff costs during the Year,
including the contribution to retirement benefit schemes,
amounted to approximately HK$123.4 million (2024:
HK$130.5 million). During the Year, no option has been
offered and/or granted to its directors and employees under
the share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company.

\2_6/ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
It believes that high standards of corporate governance
provide a framework and solid foundation for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage
business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’
interest in general. The Company has applied the principles
of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions
set out in the section headed “Part 2 - Principles of good
corporate governance, code provision and recommended
best practices” of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) under Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
except for CG Code provision C.1.6 and CG Code provision
C.2.1 for the year ended 31st March 2025 (the “Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of
the Company to ensure that business activities and
decision-making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner, and aligning the corporate culture
of good governance with the Group’s purposes, values
and strategies, thereby meeting the expectations of the
stakeholders. The Group also strives to embed its core
values for sustainable developments into its day-to-
day operation. Our vision, mission and values as well as
strategies adopted for the environmental and social areas
are made available at the Company’s website.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Company’s Model
Code during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also
applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group,
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and three
Independent Non-executive Directors. The composition of
the Board during the Year and up to the date of this report is
set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Non-executive Director:
Ms. Wong Kwai Sun (appointed on 13th December 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors (Note):

Mr. Xu Lin Bao
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

Note: Ms. Cheung Marn Kay was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 27th June 2025. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 26th June 2025.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
73 to 77 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has three Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. At least one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
made an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. In addition, any further re-appointment
of an Independent Non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than nine (9) years will be subject to
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the
Company. The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material relationships with each other.

@ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors consist of
eminent business executives from Hong Kong and Mainland
China, who provide independent advice to the management
through their wide range of skills and experiences. The
Executive Directors have regular meetings with general
managers of respective business units and key staff of
support units to discuss major business plans and review
operational and financial performance. The Non-executive
Director and Independent Non-executive Directors are also
invited to participate in special review meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee to oversee
various aspects of the affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
practices and environmental, social and governance
("ESG") performance as well as other significant policies
and financial matters. The daily operations of the Group’s
business are executed by the management of the respective
business units under the instruction and supervision of the
Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of
reference.
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The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and
interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. Individual attendance records of each Director at
the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the general
meeting during the Year are set out below:

EXeEHEMERNIRAREZBERBEIAL
LELMBRE  UEHEMERAEE 2 2F &P
HFENEMAREZFHER - RAFE - &
ENEER  FMEZEE FHRZESRREZER
e UMBRAGZEHN L FELEHENIT

Number of meetings attended/held
LE/ BIER2AE

Remuneration Audit Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Directors EEHS 3 #MzES ERZESR REZEE RRAE
Executive Directors: HITEE :
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew hABE L 4/4 1/1 N/A T ER 111 111
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFBEEHITE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2 FREE 414 N/A T N/A TiE A N/A R 111
Non-executive Director: HHTEE -
Ms. Wong Kwai Sun BT 111 N/A NEf N/A NEf NATER  NATERE
(appointed on 13th December 2024) (RZF-[F
FZA1=FEEHF)
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUFNTEE -
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHRERE 414 1/1 22 11 111
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BRESE 414 N/A T 22 11 1/1
Mr. Li Yinquan FaREE 414 1 22 N/A R 0/1
Total Number of Meetings Held BTEEEY 4 1 2 1 1

CG Code provision C.1.6 stipulates that generally
independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Mr. Li Yinquan was unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on
23rd August 2024 due to his other engagement.

QOJ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A ER AR AR
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Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and
are structured to encourage open discussion. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes and written resolutions of the Board are
taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes
and written resolutions, together with any supporting board
papers, are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely
basis. The Directors are free to have access to the
management for enquiries and to obtain further information
when required. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills and knowledge, and familiarity with the Group through
ongoing participation at Board and Board Committees
meetings.

The Company has adopted a procedure for Directors to
seek independent professional advice. All Directors, in the
discharge of their duties from time to time, may request the
Company to pay for independent professional advice for the
Directors in appropriate circumstances, such request must
be made by the relevant Directors to the Company Secretary
in writing and with stated reasons for the request.

The Company Secretary shall then make the necessary
arrangements for professional advisor(s) proposed to be
appointed and the associated fees to be borne by the
Company. The Company Secretary shall inform and make
such proposed arrangements to the Board.

The Board shall consider the request and the reasons
provided by the relevant Director and the arrangements
proposed by the Company Secretary. The Board may resolve
to obtain independent professional advice to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company if
the request is considered to be reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances.

TREGMSE
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

When appointed as a Director, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policies and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
All Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
applicable regulatory requirements, corporate governance
practices and ESG issues organised by professional bodies
and/or independent auditors to further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.

Ms. Wong Kwai Sun, who was appointed as a Non-executive
Director on 13th December 2024, obtained the legal advice
referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules from the
Company's legal advisor prior to her appointment on 5th
December 2024 and has confirmed that she understood her
obligations as a Director.

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, who was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 27th June 2025 (her
appointment date after the date of this report), obtained the
legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules
from the Company’s legal advisor prior to her appointment
on 25th June 2025 and has confirmed that she understood
her obligations as a Director.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by attending seminar or conference relating to
the Company’s business or corporate governance and
regulations or by reading materials relevant to their duties
and responsibilities during the Year.

\3_2/ Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | BB AR B[R AR
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EERAFE2EFBEIERR ADHINT ¢

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

Attending
workshops,
seminars,
conferences,
e-training and/
or forums
HET (L
IR

QBN R

Reading journals,

updates, articles
and/or materials
RIEET -
BHEH  XE
R/ SEEER

Name of Directors
¢

Executive Directors: HITEE -

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew HaB L v v
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (ZEREEHTE)

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu B FHBLE v v

Non-executive Director: HPTEE -

Ms. Wong Kwai Sun BN (R -E-mF v 4
(appointed on 13th December 2024) +ZA+=HEZT)

Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHHTEE -

Mr. Xu Lin Bao BMERE 4 v

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike 1B SE v v

Mr. Li Yinquan Fa|RESE v v

BOARD DIVERSITY

During the Year, the Board conducted an annual review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy, which is made available on the Company’s
website, and is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy has
been properly implemented and is effective. Under Board
Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. All appointments to the Board
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board and the policy.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which would include but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge,
length of service and other factors that may be relevant from
time to time towards achieving the objective of the Board
diversity. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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The proportion of female Board representation is a
measurable objective of the Company in assessing the
implementation of the diversity policy. As at the date of this
report, the Board has a female Director out of six Directors,
achieving the gender diversity of the Board at 16.6%.
The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing
the proportion of female members over time as and when
suitable candidates are identified.

The six Directors are from diverse and complementary
backgrounds, including management, trading, property
development and investment, property management,
mainland market expertise, accounting, financial
management, banking and finance. The valuable experience
and expertise they bring to our business are critical for the
long-term growth of the Group.

The diversity policy including the gender diversity was
generally followed in the workforce (including senior
management) throughout the Company for the Year. During
the Year, 64% of the total workforce were male and 36% of
the total workforce were female. The Group shall endeavour
to maintain at least the existing gender ratio in the workforce
and will timely review the employee turnover and recruitment
data basis for adjustment to the recruitment targets, policies
and strategies, if necessary. Further information about the
composition of the Group’s workforce can be found in the
2024/25 ESG Report separately released on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew.
CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
believes that the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue
to provide the Group with strong leadership, efficient usage
of resources, as well as effective planning, formulation and
implementation of the Company’s business strategies. The
day-to-day management and operation of the Group will
continue to be the responsibility of the management team
under the monitoring of the Executive Committee and Mr.
Yao's leadership.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Director is appointed for a term of one
year subject to renewal by mutual agreement prior to the
expiry of the term. Independent Non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years subject to renewal by
mutual agreement prior to the expiry of the term. According
to the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation.
Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting, and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting at least once every three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of
which has its specific written terms of reference. Minutes
and written resolutions of all committee meetings are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and, together with any
committee papers, are available to all Board members.
The committees are required to report to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.
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The Company has adopted a terms of reference of the
Executive Committee in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws,
regulations, Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal
regulations applicable to the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board,;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out
the duties on the corporate governance functions of the
Company in accordance with its terms of reference.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
three members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Li Yinquan, both being
Independent Non-executive Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai
Andrew, being an Executive Director. The Remuneration
Committee’s role is to make recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration policy and structure for Directors
and senior management and to ensure that they are fairly
rewarded for their individual contribution to the Group’s
overall performance, having regard to the interests of
shareholders.
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The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. No Director or any of
his associates may be involved in any decisions as to his
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has specific
written terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are
available both on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the
Remuneration Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and determined the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors;

(il made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for management of
the Company;

(iii) reviewed and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives; and

(iv) reviewed and recommend for the Board’'s approval for
the director’s fee of a Non-executive Director proposed
to be appointed.

Details of the remuneration of every Director and senior
management for the Year are set out in Note 9 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of three
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Li
Yinquan (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Lin
Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. Mr. Li Yinquan is
Independent Non-executive Director with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may
also be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to
discuss special projects or other issues, which the members
consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2024 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2024 and
recommended to the Board for approval,;

(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the
scope of the audit;
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(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2024 and their review on the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30th September 2024;

(v) reviewed and discussed reports from the internal
auditor of the Company regarding their review on the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of the systems;

(vi) formulated and reviewed the annual internal audit plan;

(vii) reviewed the effectiveness of co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors to ensure the internal
audit function with adequate resources; and

(viii) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of
three members, includes an Executive Director, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee)
and two Independent Non-executive Directors, being Mr.
Xu Lin Bao and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for formulating policy and making
recommendations to the Board on nominations, appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and Board succession.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy and accessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference that is in compliance with the CG Code. The terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee setting out its
authority, duties and responsibilities are available both on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The following is a summary of work performed by the
Nomination Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed the diversity, structure, size and composition
of the Board (including the skills, knowledge and
experience), and assessed the qualifications, time
commitments, and contribution of each Independent
Non-executive Director;

(i)  monitored the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy and the measurable objectives
under such policy and its progress, reviewed and
recommended for the Board’s approval of the Board
Diversity Policy;

(iii) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval of
the Nomination Policy;

(iv) reviewed and recommended for the Board’'s approval
for the proposed resolutions for re-election of the
retiring Directors at the 2024 annual general meeting;

(v) reviewed and recommended for the appointment of
Non-executive Director;

(vi) assessed the independence of Independent Non-
executive Directors; and

(vii) made recommendations to the Board to complement
the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website and sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship and nomination procedures and
the process.

Selection criteria

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age,
culture, ethnicity and gender diversity. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate potential candidate(s) for election
as member(s) of the Board on the basis of the entirely of
their credentials and in light of the criteria set forth below:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) accomplishment, qualifications, perspectives, skills and
experience relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in
the Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the
Board and its committees to discharge his/her duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board;
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(vi) requirements for the Board to have sufficient
independent non-executive directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the independence of
the candidates, if applicable, with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

(vii) if a proposed candidate will be holding his/her seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, the candidate’s
ability to devote sufficient time to the Board; and

(viii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i) the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs
of the Board for additional or replacement Board
members, solicits ideas for possible candidates from
a number of sources, including capable individuals
personally known to and recommended by the members
of the Board and research undertaken by or on behalf
of the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the
Company, as described in (iv) below;

(i) if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate(s), based on the criteria set out in above
selection criteria, and determine whether such
candidate(s) is/are qualified for directorship;

(iii) the Nomination Committee shall select and rank
desirable candidates by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company, and make recommendations
to the Board for directorship;

(iv) any shareholder of the Company who wishes to
nominate a person to stand for election as a Director
at a general meeting must, in addition to compliance
with requirements under the Company’s Bye-laws,
lodge with the Company (a) a written nomination of
the candidate; (b) a written confirmation from such
nominated candidate of his or her willingness to stand
for election; and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules; and
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(v) for any person nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at any general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws, the Nomination Committee shall apply the same
criteria as set out in the above selection criteria to
evaluate and determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendations to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
Details of the proposed candidate(s) including
his/her/their personal particulars and the Board’s
recommendation(s) will be included in a circular
to be sent to the shareholders for consideration in
accordance with the applicable Listing Rules.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and compliance with
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out
in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board
and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that Board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and
efficiently. The Company Secretary also advises the Board
on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. All Directors may call
upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation
of the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze is the Company Secretary. She is a
full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Wong undertook no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for developing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and
internal control procedures and systems of the Group and
reviewing their effectiveness to protect shareholders’ interest
and to safeguard the Group’s assets at least annually. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.

During the Year, the Company has taken risk management
as a core part of its business activities and operations.
The Company is taking steps to refine its comprehensive
risk management system that is aligned with the strategies
and operations of the Company by standardising its
risk management procedures, adopting qualitative and
quantitative measures to identify, evaluate and mitigate
the identified significant risks (including any ESG risks).
Furthermore, the Company has increased the level of
synergy between risk management and internal audit by
identifying the potential risks by reviewing the internal
control system, policies and/or procedures relating to the
Group’s business operations so as to promote the risk
control capabilities.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which
manages the risk associated with its businesses and
operations. The system comprises the following phases:

o Identification: identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement
of objectives;

e Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; and

e Management: consider the risk exposures, ensure
effective communication to the Board and monitor the
residual risks on an ongoing basis.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system
which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follows:

° Control environment: a set of standards, processes
and structures that provide the basis for carrying out
internal control across the Group;

° Risk assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed;

e Control activities: actions established by policies and
procedures to ensure that management’s directives
to mitigate risks for the achievement of objectives are
carried out;

° Information and communication: internal and external
communications to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out the daily controls; and

e Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each component of the internal
control system is present and functioning.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm as internal audit advisor (the “Internal
Audit Advisor”) to provide risk management and internal
control assessment services to assist the Board and the
Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring and in performing
the internal audit functions for the Group. The review
included interviews with relevant management and key
process owners and performing walkthrough tests to identify
the major risk and significant deficiencies, and making
recommendation for improving internal control system
to the Audit Committee for further approval. The Board,
through the Audit Committee, has reviewed, considered and
discussed the findings and recommendations of the internal
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor for the
Year. Having taken the recommendations in the internal
audit reports into consideration, the Group will continue to
improve its risk management and internal control systems.
In addition, the Internal Audit Advisor has also performed
a follow-up assessment on the findings as identified in the
internal audit reports to assess the remediation status.
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The Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget
of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting function and those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting, by reviewing the internal audit reports
prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor and management
letters submitted by external auditor, if any. The Board
and the Audit Committee met with the internal and external
auditors and management to discuss the findings from their
works and recommendations.

During the Year, the Board is not aware of any significant
internal control and risk management weaknesses or
inconsistencies with the risk management policies, and
considered that the existing risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Company
has complied with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code relating to risk management and internal control.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website. Such policy aims
to provide reporting channels and guidance to employees
on reporting improper activities, misconduct or malpractice
within the Company or any violation of rules, regulations or
laws relating to fraud against shareholders, and reassurance
to whistleblowers of the protection. The nature, status and
the results of the complaints received under such policy are
reported to the designated executives and/or the chairman
of the Audit Committee, in the case of a report disclosing a
possible criminal offence.

During the Year, no incident of fraud or misconduct that have
material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations has been discovered. The use and effectiveness
of such policy will be monitored and reviewed regularly by
the Audit Committee.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has adopted a code of business ethics
and anti-corruption policy, which is made available at the
Company’'s website. The Group believes that honesty,
integrity and fair play are its important assets in business. All
Directors and employees (including full-time, part-time and
temporary employees) of the Company should adhere to the
Group’s high standards of business, professional and ethical
conduct in carrying out the Group's business and familiarise
themselves with integrity and conduct requirements and
other policies that are implemented by the Group from time
to time including but without limitation the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Money Laundering Policies, Whistleblowing Policy and
other relevant policies.
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The Company would review such policy from time to time in
compliance with latest legislation and meets the request of
business needs.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure
obligations as to inside information and has a policy with
regard to the principles and procedures for handling
and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the requirements under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the
need for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting
system and procedures. The Company has taken reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of the inside
information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group, who
are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, of their duties and obligations in respect of
dealings in the securities of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION BB AT <

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external RAFEE » ANQ 7 2 IMNEZERTE RGBS EHAD

auditor of the Company, provided the following services ERFRAAAEFEIZE T RE D B UE 2 B
to the Group and their respective fees charges are set out =38

below:
HK$’000
Types of services R TERE FET
e

Audit services B AR TS 1,990,000
Non-audit services (Agreed-upon procedures in relation BRI (VN A S HE

to preliminary announcement of interim results) XEMBZHERER) 210,000
Total Rk 2,200,000
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND mMEREZHERZEE

REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing EEPARESEREREATERLERA 2R
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with EEIARH o NEEL BRI E 2 E T M 2 B 0H
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. FHRRER 2B IIAZHEN R E RN

A statement by the external auditor about its reporting

responsibilities is set out in the independent auditor’s report

included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events HmE X THESEEHRIE A e eRETZE NN T

or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the HERE e o
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. During the Year, the
Company has reviewed its shareholders communication
policy, which is made available at the Company’s website,
to ensure the effective implementation of such policy
and the effective and timely dissemination of information
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, corporate governance and
risk profile) to shareholders and the investment community.
The management from time to time meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations.

The Group also promotes communications with its
shareholders and the investment community mainly
through (i) Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), corporate governance report, ESG reports,
results announcements, other corporate announcements
and circulars which are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and (ii) annual general
meetings and other general meetings which may be
convened. Such general meetings are presided over and led
by the Chairman, Board members, in particular, either the
chairmen or deputy chairmen of Board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and external
auditor will attend annual general meetings and/or other
general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions. The
Company’s user-friendly website (https://www.hkshalliance.
com) provides investors with the latest news, corporate
profile, business information and financial information
including announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, etc.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and
the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM”) to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.
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(B) Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to
which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be
given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to
shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent
to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement
on each such shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings
of the Company, provided that the copy shall be
served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be
given, as the case may be, in the same manner and,
so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of
the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be
served or given at that time, it shall be served or given
as soon as practicable thereafter.
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Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the
requisitionists, or two or more copies which
between them contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists, is deposited at the registered office
of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before
the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and
(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. For other enquiries, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-05, 11th
Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

procedures for proposing a person for election as

a Director are made available at the Company’s website
(https://www.hkshalliance.com).
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, which aims
to set out the approach with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and profits retained in the
business for various purposes.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the
dividend payment ratio in respect of any particular financial
year or period, the Board will take into account a desire to
maintain a constant and stable dividend level with an overall
objective of maximising shareholders’ value over a longer
term while retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth, and will consider the following factors in declaring
or recommending dividend to the shareholders from time to
time:

(i)  financial results of the Group;

(ii) shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;

(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(vili

=

statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws
of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws and any other
applicable laws and regulations);

(ix) tax considerations; and

(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period in the form of interim dividend,
final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The Company
may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or
recommend in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the factors under this policy and
there can be no assurance that dividend will be declared or
paid in any particular amount for any particular financial year
or period.

The Board will review this policy and make necessary
amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2025
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March
2025 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares and kitchen cabinets; and property
investment and fund management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information
by business segments and geographical markets are set
out in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 85 of this annual
report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.50 cents per ordinary share for the Year (2024: HK1.00
cent per ordinary share), payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on Wednesday, 3rd September 2025,
subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 22nd August
2025 (the “2025 AGM"). Final dividend is expected to be
paid on Friday, 12th September 2025.

During the Year, an interim dividend of HK1.80 cents per
ordinary share was paid to the shareholders by the Company
on 9th January 2025.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
during the following periods and during these periods, no
transfer of shares will be registered:

(i) For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM:

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 19th August 2025 to Friday, 22nd
August 2025, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2025 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited (the “Branch Share Registrar”) of Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18th August 2025.

(iiy For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the
final dividend:

On the assumption that the resolution for declaring
the final dividend for the Year is duly passed at the
2025 AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 1st September 2025 to
Wednesday, 3rd September 2025, both days inclusive,
for the purpose of ascertaining the shareholders’
entitlement to the final dividend. In order to qualify for
the final dividend, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Branch Share Registrar for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29th August 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) covering a review of the Group's
business, an analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year and the future development in the
Group’s business, are provided in the sections headed
“Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which shall
form an integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group's financial position, results of operation
and business prospects may be affected by certain risks
and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the
Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our control.
There may be other possible risks and uncertainties which
we are not aware of or which may not be material at present
but may turn out to be material in the future. The followings
are the major risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of Renminbi (“RMB”), the Group will continue
to match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimize
exchange exposure. Forward foreign exchange contracts
would be entered into when suitable opportunities arise and
when management of the Group considers appropriate, to
hedge against major non-HK dollars currency exposures.
The Group always monitors cash flows and maintains an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalents and unutilised
banking facilities to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s
operations and reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows
to mitigate liquidity risk.

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from
inadequate or deficiency in internal processes, people
and systems or from external events. The Group has clear
responsibility and accountability rests with every function at
divisional and departmental levels. The Group are governed
and guided by good standard operating procedures,
proper authorisation policies and reporting framework.
Our management will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time to adjust potential risk response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, competitive environment of steels and building
materials industry, performance of property markets and
regulatory changes in regions where our business carry on
or investments locate, which would not be mitigated even
with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict
procedure.
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Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a
great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great
place to work for our employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to our
employees and other stakeholders. An environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) working group, which is chaired by
an Executive Director, Mr. Lau Chi Chiu, and consists of our
several line managers, has been set up to assist the Board
in enhancing ESG implementation. The Group strives to
reduce its emission intensity in our daily business operations
through various measures, including but not limited to, the
installation of renewable energy facilities, adoption of energy
saving measures for our office as well as properties under
our management, recycling and reducing the use of paper,
metal and plastic in our daily operation.

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being
and safety.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, and “Heart to
Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Group in 2010.

For further information about the environmental policies
and performance and community involvement of the Group
during the Year, please refer to the ESG report (the “ESG
Report”) which will be separately released on the website
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and the website of the Company under the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” section,
the discussions of which shall form an integral part of this
“Report of the Directors”.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer
to the website address set out in the “Corporate Information”
on page 3 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures and
monitoring of risk, which helps to ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to
our shareholders. We recognise that employees are our
valuable assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in
development of our employees to create loyalty and love to
the Company. We understand the importance of maintaining
good relationship with our stakeholders (including but not
limited to, employees, customers, suppliers and business
partners) to achieve our long-term goals. To accomplish this,
we continue to get closer to our stakeholders, build lasting
relationship, and keep good communication to understand
their needs and share with them our business development.
During the Year, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2025 and as at the date of this report,
there were 636,508,315 ordinary shares of the Company
issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company
are respectively set out in Notes 32 and 33 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 34 and 39 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2025, approximately HK$53,986,000
(2024: approximately HK$53,986,000) of the reserves
and approximately HK$81,007,000 (2024: approximately
HK$48,830,000) of the retained earnings were available for
distribution to the Company’s owners.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company repurchased a total of
2,096,000 shares on the Stock Exchange at an aggregate
consideration (before expenses) of HK$513,890.00. All the
repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled on 29th
August 2024. The directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
believe that share repurchases will be beneficial to the
shareholders as the shares are traded at a discount to the
net asset value per share. Details of the shares repurchased
are as follows:
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BE HEIBELEAQRFTLTES

EAKEﬁ A2 B A B ZZ BT [ B A ££2,096,000
% B 19 1&??%@%@%51389000,%73(%[&%5%&
A1) - TEEERMBEBER-_ZE-_NFNA=tTI
Bl - AR UASREEFENNRS @ AR

AEE((EF)RARRMEBE/SERERELS
Befn DB BRI T

Aggregate
consideration
Number (before
of shares expenses)
Date of repurchase repurchased Purchase price per share 2R ERRE
=5 B H#A BRRHEAE BRAE (HBRBAXRAD)
Highest Lowest
RS =3y
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(B7) (B7) (B7)
18th July 2024 496,000 0.240 0.239 118,986.00
—ENELATNAH
19th July 2024 400,000 0.245 0.236 96,320.00
—ENELAT A
1st August 2024 250,000 0.245 0.244 61,242.00
—EENA—H
Gth August 2024 330,000 0.250 0.243 82,370.00
—E-MENAKNA
13th August 2024 120,000 0.250 0.249 29,992.00
—EENAT=H
15th August 2024 500,000 0.250 0.245 124,980.00
—FEHENA+RHA
Total 2,096,000 513,890.00
HE
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of B LAlPAIWEEIN - RABHENBRARAFE
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the  HEEE - HEXBEMEAARRZ LHES

Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND RIGHT-OF-USE
ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right- of- use assets of the
Group during the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16,
respectively, to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures are set out in Notes 18 and 19, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2025
are set out in Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes of the Group as at 31st
March 2025 are set out in Note 8 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders be reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$2,834,000 (2024: approximately
HK$2,884,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wong Kwai Sun
(appointed on 13 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Note)

Mr. Xu Lin Bao
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

Note: Ms. Cheung Marn Kay was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director with effect from 27th June 2025. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 26th June 2025.

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Xu Lin Bao and Mr.
Yeung Wing Sun Mike shall retire by rotation. Mr. Yeung
Wing Sun Mike, being eligible, will offer himself for re-
election at the 2025 AGM. Mr. Xu Lin Bao has decided to
retire from office with effect from the conclusion of the 2025
AGM, he will not offer himself for re-election in order to
devote more time for his other personal commitment.

In accordance with Bye-law 83(2) of the Company's Bye-
laws, any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting. Accordingly, Ms. Wong Kwai Sun, who was
appointed as a Director by the Board on 13th December
2024 and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, who was appointed as a
Director by the Board on 27th June 2025 (her appointment
date after the date of this report), shall retire at the 2025
AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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The Non-executive Director and each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company with a fixed term of office
for one year and three years respectively which can be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s
written notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2025, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(c) were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and options of the Company

FRTEERESBILIFATEFCHARAGI LR
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K HAE G0 (T 785 B 1641 ) 58 XV #B) 2 Bt
HEkO LERETPHA R MAR B (2R
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Attributable interest
o the Directors shares

ESR(ER

Name Directors

ESpf

Number of

Approximate

Aggregate
Interest
RitER

percentage
k%R  HAESH

(S
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,537,806 14.06% 89,537,806
gl s Perfect Capital International Corp. (Note a)
F{E#I A 7lPerfect Capital International Corp. WRERE ()
LEn (fifia)
Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.92% 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
ZEBIAFHuge Top Industrial Ltd. 2 #% (With)  HG(EEE 2 ER(BE)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.62% 3,918,000
EGHBA 100% (E%)
283,879,806 44.60% 283,879,806
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% 5,246,622
GHERE EZHEA 100% (E%)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is the sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top.
Mr. Yao is the sole director of Huge Top.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2025, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and no Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under the age of 18 had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st
March 2025, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following
entities had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

BIEESZRPERBEXVIE2RE
SO MEAAKRBREBIXRZAL

B EXTEFRED - HERD REEE 2 #EER
KR - BRSNS R_FE_RF=H
=+—B  BARAREES MG R 336 &
FERERME - NIEER IR KA
THRAREBEESLMEEIEXVEE2REID
REMARRWE Z EIAR

Name Capacity

28 A 8%

(5

Number

Approximate
percentage

BMOBEDLE

of shares
A EE

Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,537,806 14.06%
EnBEAA
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.92%
S U YN 3
279,961,806 43.98%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.92%
EnBEAA
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 44,708,000 7.02%
Tz kA E=EBA
Note: ffsE -
a. These shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned a. ZER B Huge Top#A ° Perfect Capital # 48 Huge

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2025, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
2011 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11th
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The participants of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme includes any employee, agents, consultant
or representative, including any executive or non-executive
Director, of any member of the Group or any other person
who satisfies the selection criteria prescribed by the rules of
the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date
(i.e. 11th August 2011) and expired on 10th August 2021.

Before the expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
under the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their discretion, grant options to the participants
who fall within the definition prescribed in the 2011 Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for shares of the Company at
the price not less than the highest of: (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets on the date of offer of the grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant of the option; and (c) the nominal
value of the shares. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme were contained in the Company’s circular
dated 8th July 2011.

Upon expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no further
share options will be granted by the Company thereunder
but in all other respects the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and all share options
granted prior to such expiration shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith.
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A summary of the movements of the outstanding share
options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the
Year are as follows:

RAFE - RIE-F——FRBE B R ARTEZ
BREESHHIWT

Number of share options

L
Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled
Name and category Exercise price Beginning during during during during End of
of participant Date of grant Validity period per share RUCREEY the Year JUEREET JUEREET the Year the Year
SERENL LR RTAH BRA BRITfE AEEY  AEERT  ARER  AFEAN  AFEEH REER
Director:
FER
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 1 1,000,000 - — (1,000,000 - -
19th January 2025
Hrank “E-nE-A-TH “T-Rf-AZTRE 0928
ZEZRF-AhA
Sub-total 1,000,000 — — (1,000,000 — -
N
Employees:
EE&:
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 1 1,100,000 — — (1,100,000) — —
19th January 2025
it S S i “Z-R5-ACTRE 0928%R
ZE2ZRE-ATNE
Sub-total 1,100,000 — — (1,100,000 — -
N
Total of 2011 Share 2,100,000 — — (2,100,000 — -
Option Scheme
“E-—FBRE
FE e
Notes: B3
1. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche 1. BRESUHEE  8—HoR RS AMERENTDS 2

covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the
extent of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd
and 4th tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th
January 2025.
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2021 Share Option Scheme

In view of (a) the expiration of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 10th August 2021; and (b) no further share
options can be granted pursuant to the 2011 Share Option
Scheme after its expiration, the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 11th August 2021 (the “2021 Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain highcalibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group. The participants of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme include any employee (whether full time or part
time), executive or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including executive or non-executive Director)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser of
the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other person,
who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the terms of the 2021
Share Option Scheme.

Under the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
the Board may, at their discretion, grant options to the
participants who fall within the definition prescribed in
the 2021 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for shares
of the Company at the price not less than the highest of:
(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange'’s daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (b) the
average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant of
the option; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.
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The total number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme was up to 10% of the number
of shares in issue as at 11th August 2021 (i.e. 64,123,231).
The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2021 Share Option Scheme, together
will all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under any other share option schemes of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries (including the 2011 Share Option
Scheme), must not exceed 30% of the shares in issues from
time to time.

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
to each grantee (including both exercised or outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue for the time being.

There is no minimum period for which an option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme must be held before such option
be exercised. A non-refundable consideration of HK$10.00
is payable by the grantee to the Company no later than 28
days from the date of grant on acceptance of the offer.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was effective from 11th
August 2021 and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain valid and effective for the period of ten years
from that date (i.e. 10th August 2031).

No share option has been granted by the Company under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Further details of the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme
were contained in the Company’s circular dated 12th July
2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or subsisted during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or subsisted
at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the Year
are set out in Note 38 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

To the best knowledge of Directors, none of these related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete
directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 33.6% of the Group's total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 73.7% of the Group's total
purchases. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 10.4% of the Group's total
revenue while the largest supplier of the Group accounted
for approximately 22.1% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest
in the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the Year have been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2025 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June 2025
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 12th January 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999 and Chief Executive Officer in
November 2015. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yao is
an external director of China COSCO Shipping Corporation
Limited, a holding company of certain companies listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”), Shanghai Stock Exchange, Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Singapore Exchange and Athens Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive director
of China Railway Signal & Communication Corporation
Limited (which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and Kader Holdings
Company Limited (which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange). Mr. Yao serves as the Hong Kong Deputy to
the 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Federation of
Hong Kong-Shanghai Associations, the vice-chairman of the
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce Hong Kong, the
vice-chairman of Shanghai Overseas Friendship Association,
the honorary founding chairman of Shanghai Hong Kong
Association, the chairman of the council of Lingnan
University and the board member of Fudan University. He
was awarded “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong”
by Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice
of Peace by Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(“HKSAR”) in 2008 and “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in
2016. Mr. Yao graduated from the University of California,
Berkeley with a bachelor’'s degree in science and Harvard
Graduate School of Business with a master's degree in
business administration.
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Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company on 25th November 2015 and is a director of
certain subsidiaries and the chairman of environmental,
social and governance working group of the Company. He
joined the Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the
daily operations of the business of the Group and has held
various sales and marketing and supply chain positions in
the plastics and steels businesses of the Group. He was the
general manager of Group's plastic business from April 2003
to November 2011 and the general manager of the Group's
steels business from December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau
graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia
with a bachelor’s degree in commerce (marketing and
management) and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master’s degree in business administration.

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wong Kwai Sun

aged 64, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company on 13th December 2024 and is a director of
certain subsidiaries and one joint venture of the Company.
She joined the Group in December 2017 and was act as the
chief operating officer of the Company until her retirement
on 1st January 2025. During the period, Ms. Wong was
mainly responsible for managing the human resources and
overseeing the Company's Property Investment and Fund
Management Business. Ms. Wong has over 25 years of
operational management experience. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Wong founded her own business for investment
consultancy services in Shanghai from 2011 to 2017,
she established Fanrich Consultants (Shanghai) Ltd.”
(a company established under the laws of the People’s
Republic of China, and was acquired by the Group in 2017
and subsequently voluntarily dissolved by deregistration on
15th December 2023 due to exit the business) and served
as the general manager and legal representative from its
establishment until deregistration. She previously worked
at several foreign financial institutions and multinational
enterprises, where she served in different positions including
director, general manager and chief marketing officer, etc.
She served as the chief marketing officer of the joint venture
between China Life and Commonwealth Bank of Australia
and served as the senior marketing manager of Zurich
Insurance Group in Hong Kong. Ms. Wong graduated from
The University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in
arts in 1985 and The University of Bradford in the United
Kingdom with a master’'s degree in business administration
in 1990. Ms. Wong is currently a standing committee member
of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference
of Shanghai Hongkou District, director of the Shanghai
Overseas Friendship Association and vice president of the
Shanghai Hong Kong Association.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 76, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 21st April 2006. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the vice chairman of
the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy of Social
Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China Real
Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of
China Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session),
the chairman of Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the
vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association
(the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of executives of
Yiju China Real Estate Research Center. He graduated from
Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in EMBA. Mr. Xu is
a senior qualified economist.

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 72, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 25th March 2014. He is also
a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung was an independent
non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He has over 40 years’ working experience
in the banking industry of Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. Mr. Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group
in 1972 and advanced himself in the organisation by taking
up different positions under various business streams
including personal banking, sales and services, operations
as well as branches, regional network and personal wealth
management. Since 2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to
Shanghai and took up the role of Branch Manager Shanghai
and Head of Personal Financial Services China of HSBC. In
June 2006, he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited and appointed as the Head of Personal Financial
Service and Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung was
appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of
Personal Financial Services and Wealth Management in May
2007. He retired from HSBC Group in January 2014. Mr.
Yeung is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber
of Commerce in Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese
People’'s Political Consultative Conference Committee (the
11th and 12th session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded
the “Magnolia Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai
Municipal Government to recognise his outstanding
contributions to the economic and social development, and
international exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a
Professional Diploma in Company Direction and a Certificate
in Sustainability Leadership by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEABER
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Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 5th July 2018. He is also the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Li serves
as an independent non-executive director of other listed
companies on the main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
namely, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (also
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), China Resources
Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited, Genertec Universal
Medical Group Company Limited, Mainland Headwear
Holdings Limited and Million Cities Holdings Limited. He
served respectively as the general manager of financia
department, chief financial officer, vice president of China
Merchants Group and chief executive officer of China
Merchants Capital Investment Co., Ltd. He also served as
an executive director of other listed companies on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited and China
Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, a non-executive
director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (also listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as an independent
non-executive director of China Agri-Products Exchange
Limited and Kimou Environmental Holding Limited and Sound
Group Inc. (formerly known as Lizhi Inc., which is listed on
NASDAQ). Mr. Li also serves as the Hong Kong Deputy to
the 12th,13th and 14th National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li graduated from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’'s degree
in economics. He was also awarded a master's degree
in economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (formerly known as Graduate School of the
People’'s Bank of China) and a master's degree in banking
and finance for development from Finafrica Institute in Milan,
Italy.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay

aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company on 27th June 2025. She is also
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Ms. Cheung is currently an independent non-executive
director of Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited, a
company listed on the main board of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Prior to her current role, Ms. Cheung was the
managing director of BlackRock Asset Management North
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of BlackRock, Inc., from 1999 to
2012. Ms. Cheung is presently the Treasurer of Council and
Court member of the Lingnan University, the chairman of
The HKSAR Sir Murray MaclLehose Trust Fund Investment
Advisory Committee and a member of The HKSAR Standing
Committee on Disciplined Services Salaries and Conditions
of Service. Previously, Ms. Cheung was a board member
and chairman of the audit committee of the Hong Kong
Examinations and Assessment Authority, a member of The
HKSAR ICAC Citizens Advisory Committee on Community
Relations and a member of the Advisory Committee of the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission. Ms. Cheung
obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of
British Columbia in 1992.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M XA R

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 85 to
216, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March 2025;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the
valuation of investment properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M 2 BLAM ¥R 5

“

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

FAEETEER)

Key Audit Matter

HEETER

Valuation of investment properties

RENRNMGEE

Refer to notes 4(a), 15 and 19 to the consolidated
financial statements

BREY R EFZ B EHEA Tt 4(a) 15819

As at 31st March 2025, the carrying amount of
the Group's investment properties in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) was approximately
HK$1,246.9 million and a fair value loss of
approximately HK$25.0 million was recognised in the
consolidated income statement during the year. The
Group also has investment properties held through
investments accounted for using the equity method
with the Group's share of their carrying amount
of HK$612.6 million as at 31st March 2025 and
share of a fair value loss of approximately HK$19.4
million were recognised during the year. The Group
performed valuations on its investment properties
and those held through investments accounted
for using the equity method, with the assistance
of two independent professional valuers based
on the discounted cash flow approach, income
capitalisation approach and/or the direct comparison
approach.
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We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balance to the financial position of the Group, and
the significant judgement and estimates involved
in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties which is dependent on key assumptions
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc.
HMEINSHERENREYEH ESEMBHRINE
BEBEXN  URHEBEMEAABENETE Y REXFE
KaHE - MEBARERMKRE - BETSES - HIR - 18
BRRELRTES -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNES MR ERRETSR

Our procedures in relation to management’s
valuations of the investment properties included:

B EEEHREYENBEMMETHERF 21 -

We understood the management’s process in
relation to the valuation of investment properties and
assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
significant judgements involved in determining
assumptions to be applied.

BAE THREREHREMEMGENRE  WBBERE
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We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.

B EB N HEMN BTN EEXERENEEH
1 o

We involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
the methodologies and the key assumptions,
including market rents, term and reversionary yields
and market prices etc, used by the management’s
expert by comparing with relevant comparable
market data and industry research.

BATE BB 4 B B SOE B L BOE R AT & LY T35 BUR K
TR BORMTHREREERN A EZREETER
& EEMSES  BR - ERKEXLHESE -

Based upon the above, we considered that
management judgement and estimation applied in
respect of the relevant valuation were supportable by
the evidence obtained and procedures performed.
HERNA L ERNEAER - RMARRCERNETBEAE
M FrE AN B GENE IR E A E R RER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’'s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’'s report is LEE, Kin Wah, Albert
(practising certificate number: P04868).

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26th June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March 2025 #lZ —ZE - hF=F=+— EIJtEE/’

B IR

N

2025 2024
—E-RE —ECNE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Revenue WA ) 2,111,804 2,303,176
Cost of sales SHER AR 7 (1,764,638) (1,919,099)
Gross profit EF 347,166 384,077
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHES 7 (17,419) (25,111)
General and administrative expenses —MRRITHE 7 (147,721) (149,133)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss @Eﬂiﬁiﬁ%f)ﬁﬁ
on financial assets - net BE(EBE) BE - 58 7 (2,597) 2,404
Other gains - net ,ﬁ\‘r&”ﬁ(ﬁ—@%ﬁ 6 2,524 1,062
Net fair value loss on investment properties HEMENRBEEEFE 15 (25,002) (13,356)
Operating profit BERF 156,951 199,943
Finance income R TN 10 588 916
Finance costs HBER 10 (72,288) (92,255)
Share of results of investments accounted  EHIZEZEARZ
for using the equity method BEEE 19 (19,641) (22,750)
Profit before income tax BR A8 B AR R 65,610 85,854
Income tax credit/(expense) Fiisfige, () 11 15,634 (8,844)
Profit for the year FE A 81,244 77,010
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEIEREF, (E18)
— Owners of the Company —ARRAHEBA 89,617 78,782
— Non-controlling interests — s (8,373) (1,772)
81,244 77,010
Earnings per ordinary share attributable ~ AAREEFAEEEE
to owners of the Company for the year BREBEREH
Basic earnings per ordinary share FREBREREF 13 HK14.06 centsi#&fll HK12.31 centsi{l
Diluted earnings per ordinary share BREBRESRERN 13 HK14.06 centsi&fli HK12.31 centsi&{ll

)‘1

A 1R SR A SRR T O 3 — B B -

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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[ ( CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEEBmK

'\For the year ended 31st March 2025 H#E—E-HF=A=1+—HILFE

2024
—EoME
HK$'000
FAT
Profit for the year FE& 81,244 77,010
Other comprehensive income/(loss): HibZ2mEB A (BE) :
Items that may be reclassified HEMEH,ERER
subsequently to profit or loss: 2B
— Loss on cash flow hedge —BRenrh 2 BE — (1,668)
- Release of exchange reserve — B A R R R A
upon deregistration of subsidiaries ZER R — 631
— Currency translation differences —EKEN =5 (12,080) (84,371)
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHFIERER
profit or loss: 2B
— Change in fair value of financial asset —BARBEFAHM
at fair value through other 2HEBRAZERHEE
comprehensive income NABEEE 502 (2,907)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHMEZHEHERE (11,578) ~ (88,315)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEEXEKRA(FR)
for the year iz 69,666 (11,305)
Total comprehensive BEZEBA(EBE)
income/(loss) attributable to: FoEC
— Owners of the Company NS ZE PN 78,923 (1,111)
— Non-controlling interests — JEFE MR A (9,257) (10,194)
69,666 (11,305)

o

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income 4R G 2T 8 %5 7% P8 EREE T A9 B 5 — O BIE
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION \
e ISR R

As at 31st March 2025 RZ_ZE_hF=H E+—EI/'

2024
—EoME
HK$'000
FAT
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE 14 36,229 46,969
Investment properties AW 15 1,246,853 1,281,131
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 20,285 40,337
Investments accounted for EEmEANR
using the equity method ZIE 19 267,402 281,176
Prepayments, deposits FERFIE - Bk
and receivables FEU R K 24, 25 23,938 18,917
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTEE 20 45,103 29,493
Financial asset at fair value BRAREEFAER
through profit or loss CERMEE 22 2,901 3,914
Financial asset at fair value through BEAnBEFAEMER
other comprehensive income WAZEREE 21 2,247 1,745
Total non-current assets EREBEELRE 1,644,958 1,703,682
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits FENFIE - me Rk
and receivables JE Uk BR 3R 25 35,471 51,449
Inventories rE 23 342,883 380,586
Trade and bill receivables EUER REE 24 352,399 367,077
Pledged bank deposits B ERITIF K 26 687 1,804
Cash and cash equivalents ReERIREEE 26 178,980 145,304
Total current assets BB EHEE 910,420 946,220
Total assets EERR 2,555,378 2,649,902
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

tre B IS AR R 3R

‘\As at 31stMarch 2025 R—ZE-_HF=A=+—H

2025
e R

HK$’000
TERT

2024
ZEoRE
HK$'000
TR

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERREE
Equity attributable to owners KATEEA

of the Company EihEzE
Share capital (&N 32 63,650 63,860
Reserves R 34 936,526 876,714

1,000,176 940,574

Non-controlling interests FEIEFIERE S 35 93,825 101,285
Total equity EREE 1,094,001 1,041,859
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables  JEzt & & & E M EER 29 9,066 11,633
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISTAE 20 80,679 86,228
Borrowings BE 31 315,836 343,354
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 2,054 9,349
Total non-current liabilities FREBEELEE 407,635 450,564
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables ARSI EEE 27 58,366 64,614
Liabilities under supplier finance HEFREZTHET

arrangements ZafE 28 25,798 35,965
Contract liabilities EHEaE 78,544 47,830
Accrued liabilities and other payables  JEzt & & K E M EMEER 29 64,597 64,265
Provisions Bt 30 2,722 316
Current income tax liabilities EHMSHAE 9,640 8,458
Borrowings BE 31 806,781 916,147
Lease liabilities HEEE 16 7,294 19,884
Total current liabilities FREBBEARE 1,053,742 1,157,479
Total liabilities EE8E 1,461,377 1,608,043
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAE 2,555,378 2,649,902

The above consolidated statement of financial position
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the
Board of Directors on 26th June 2025 and were signed on its

behalf.

bttt &

B W5 R I 2% 1 B BB PR B0 PR 5 — B B RE

REMBREER S _AF AT AEES

SHE - YTRRRE

Yao Cho Fai Andrew Lau Chi Chiu

PhE 278
Chairman Executive Director
E HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March 2025 2 — - RF=A=+— EIJtEJg/

GARREDE

(J

Attributable to owners of the Company
ARARRNEL

Share
capital
B
HK$'000
T
(Note 32)
(K=t 32)

Other
reserves
Hitfd e
HK$’000
T
(Note 34)
(K=t 34)

Retained
earnings
REEA
HK$’000
THT
(Note 34)
(MizE34)

Non-

controlling

Total interest
A% FEHMtER
HK$'000  HK$’000
TER THR

Total
equity
ERAH
HK$’000
Th7

As at 1st April 2023 RZE-ZERA-H 64,041 530,913 366,195 961,149 111,504 1,072,653
Profit for the year ERRN - - 78,782 78,782 (1,772) 77,010
Other comprehensive income/(loss) E2EbA/ (BR)
- Release of exchange reserve upon ~ B A AR H
deregistration of subsidiaries B GERD - 631 - 631 - 631
- Loss on cash flow hedge Kbl = - (1,668) - (1,668) - (1,668)
- Currency transaction differences ~RHERZEE - (75,949) - (75,949) (8,422)  (84,371)
- Change in fair value of financial asset ~ —HAREEFALNLZE
at fair value through other WAZEREEY
comprehensive income (Note 21) AREEEE(FEE21) - (2,907) - (2,907) - (2,907)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2ERA/ (B8 &R —  (79,893) 78,782 (1,111)  (10,194)  (11,305)
Transactions with owners in their BEANEEBAZ
capacity as owners FHETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETERE - 722 (722) - - -
Lapse of share options BRELN - (1,508) 1,508 - - -
Return of capital to non-controlling BEARETI I
interests B2 - 1413 (1,204) 209 (29%8)  (2729)
Capital injection by non-controlling —FRB AT R
interest of a subsidiary BaoiE — - - - 3,493 3,493
Share repurchased (Note 32) BEERRD(HE32) (181) 181 (461) (461) - (461)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling RN S
interest of a subsidiary ErzRE - - — — (580) (580)
Dividends paid (Note 12) BARE (5 12) - —  (19212) (19,212 —  (19,212)
Total transactions with owners in BEANNEREBA S0
their capacity as owners ETHRHBE (181) 808 (20,091)  (19,464) (25)  (19,489)
As at 31st March 2024 RZE-ME=A=1+-H 63,860 451,828 424,886 940,574 101,285 1,041,859
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

I— \ V4 ﬁ-‘-z
an\ B fm o EJJ %

@he year ended 31st March 2025 &2 ~E - RHFE=RA=+—HI-FE

(Note 32)
(MzE32)

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATEE A

Share Other
capital reserves

Retained
eamings
wRE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiEx TR THET
(Note 34)  (Note 34)
(Makaa)  (FsEa4)

B Rl

Non-
controlling
interest
il
HK$'000
THET

As at 1st April 2024 RZE-MEMA-A 63,860 451,828 424,886 940,574 101,285 1,041,859
Profit for the year FEEF — — 89,617 89,617 (8,373) 81,244
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Eth2ERA/(BR)
- Currency transaction differences -EBELER — (11,196) — (11 (884)  (12,080)
- Change in fair value of financial asset ~ —HZAREEFALMZE
at fair value through other WAZEREEY
comprehensive income (Note 21) AEBRE(ME21) — 502 — — 502
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2ERA/ (B8 EE —  (10,694) 89,617 78,923 (9,257) 69,666
Transactions with owners in their BEANEEBAZ
capacity as owners FHETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves REETERE — 272 (272) — -
Lapse of share options BRELN - (458) 458 = —
Return of capital to non-controlling BEARETI I
interests Ex — (974) — — (974)
Capital injection by non-controlling —FRRB AT R
interest of a subsidiary Bn i — - — 3,850 3,850
Share repurchased (Note 32) BEERRD(HE32) (210) 210 (525) — (525)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling BB AR
interest of a subsidiary ErlRE — — — (2,053) (2,053)
Dividends paid (Note 12) BARE (5 12) — —  (17.822)  (17.822) - (17,822)
Total transactions with owners in BEANNEEBA S0
their capacity as owners ETNRFBE (210) (950)  (18,161)  (19,321) 1,797 (17,524)
As at 31st March 2025 R-E-RE=A=+-H 63,650 440,184 496,342 1,000,176 93,825 1,094,001
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity AR & W an B B 5% 8 SRLE PN A Y RE — DRI

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %
n‘/-ﬁ Iﬁ:@/)ﬂ:i%

For the year ended 31st March 2025 2 — - RF=A=+— EIJtE/

2025 2024
—2ChRF —2opF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TBT

(5
Cash flows from operating activities RETHZRERE
Cash generated from operations KEEBEEZRE 36(a) 301,418 317,198
Interest received BUHE 588 916
Interest paid BEARFE (70,957) (89,165)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBRER (2,096) (5,119)
China corporate income tax paid ERPBEPERER (1,648) (2,387)
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEFEH I RESRAFR 227,305 221,443
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BEWH - BE M&E (3,061) (10,189)
Proceeds received from disposals HEWE BERZEZ
of property, plant and equipment FT18 %A 36(b) 4,131 531
Capital expenditures for REMEZ
investment properties ERAL 15 - (127)
Capital injection to the investment TE TiREREANE
accounted for using the equity method ZIRE 19 (10,732) (12,202)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEDz RS ML EHE (9,662) (21,987)
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| CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/j_\ IE@/)ILE%‘:Z

'\For the year ended 31st March 2025 H#E—E-HF=A=1+—HILFE

2025 2024
—2ChRF —2opF

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TBT

(5
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZFB50R 36(c) 252,433 518,223
Repayment of bank loans BRERITER 36(c) (385,798) (568,963)
Payment for lease liabilities and hire HEABERHEBEEENHK
purchase liabilities (including interest) (BEFE) 36(c) (23,008) (15,752)
Government subsidy on property, M - BEREE2
plant and machinery B fR BS 243 —
Net decrease in trust receipt bank loans ERBBRTERZRAFE  36(c) (10) (93,934)
Net decrease in supplier HERRELTEZ
finance arrangements A EEE 36(c) (10,005) (29,203)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits WRRTFHRD 1,114 9,318
Return of capital to non-controlling interests B ANiRiE FIE1E I AR (974) (2,729)
Capital injection from non-controlling (o) UNIE L2 T
interests FE 3,850 3,493
Repurchase of ordinary shares LR (525) (461)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BERARREBAZRS (17,822) (19,212)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B ATIFFEH| R 2 & (2,053) (580)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEFBRSMLFE (182,555) (199,800)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RekBeFEL
and cash equivalents FEE CRd) 35,088 (344)
Cash and cash equivalents, FzRek
beginning of the year Re% 145,304 147,485
Currency translation differences IR =5 (1,412) (1,837)
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year FRZBEENELE 26 178,980 145,304

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be LR AR S TRERIEEPEW A T — & -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 18th
February 1994. The address of its registered office is
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Rooms 1103-05, 11th Floor, East
Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in distribution
and processing of construction materials such
as steel products; trading of sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets and property investment and fund
management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue on 26th June 2025 by the Board of
the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN
ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622, the Laws of Hong Kong).
They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by financial
assets/liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL") and other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and investment properties, which are
carried at fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting
Standards requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Certain comparative figures have been regrouped
to conform with the current year’'s presentation of

the consolidated financial statements.

2.1.1 Going concern basis

As at 31st March 2025, the Group’'s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$143.3 million while the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted

to approximately HK$179.0 million.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a
going concern. Certain plans and measures
have been taken to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve its financial position
which include, but not limited to, the following:

e As at 31st March 2025, the Group had
unutilised banking facilities of HK$932.6
million and utilised banking facilities
of HK$968.2 million that are subject
to standard annual review process by
the banks. Management maintains on-
going communication with the relevant
banks and these facilities are under
normal utilisation in accordance with their
terms and conditions. In the opinion of
the director, these banking facilities will
continue to be available to the Group and
the Group will be successful in agreeing
with the banks on terms as requested
for supporting its operation for the next
twelve months from 31st March 2025; and

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ERAR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EMIEERARMEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN 2 RBIEXE(H)
ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(HE)

2.1.1 BEALEZE(E)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

° During the Year, the Group had successfully
negotiated with various banks to increase
the amount of credit facilities, including
to provide revolving facilities sub-limit for
manging short-term liquidity needs and/or
to provide more flexible installment payment
term so as to match with the needs of the
Group’s business model.

The directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group's cash flow projections which
cover a period of not less than twelve
months from 31st March 2025. They are of
the opinion that, taking into account the
anticipated cash flow generated from the
Group’s operations, the possible changes
in its operating performance, the availability
of the Group’s bank borrowings as well as
the Group’s ability to draw down from its
existing banking facilities, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due
within twelve months from 31st March 2025.
Accordingly, the directors consider that
it is appropriate to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

s MNAFE G AEEEKINE
ZRBITHE - NIENEER
BE - BREHRBRERR
BEmEAEBEHEER
BMBERIIRHER
DHIN - EAREAEE
MEBELRATE -

ARREFCEHNAEBENRS
REER  MZBEESRERRE
MEB_T_HF=A=+—
READR+—EAHE- &%
BASEZEELNATRESM
B HREXRBAWRLEANE
B AEERTEXNARML
AR AEBERRERARITRE
MEEN  WERR  AEEFA
ERAMEERCHITEE
AEETER_T_AF=A
=t—HEFT-—BEARIHEDN
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REEERUNEBNGEA T
BREBIRE -
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NOTEST()THE(XDNSCHMDATEDFWNANKHALSTATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Amendments to existing standards and

interpretation adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
to existing standards and interpretation for the first
time for their annual reporting period commencing

1st April 2024:

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to

HKAS 1
Amendments

to HKFRS 16
HK (IFRIC) —

Int 5 (Revised)

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

The adopted amendments to existing
standards and interpretation listed above did
not have any material impact on the results

Classification of

Liabilities as Current

or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities

with Covenants

Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback

Presentation of

Financial Statements
— Classification by

the Borrower of

a Term Loan that

Contains a
Repayment on

Demand Clause

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN 2

mm

mEEXE(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 New standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation not yet adopted

by the Group

The following new standards, amendments
to existing standards and interpretation have
been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on 1st April 2024

21 FEBEEE(E

and have not been early adopted:

)

2.1.3 F 5 KR 2 HTER -
BITERIRZFE

B IR M
<

15T

AT RERMEFHER - KER]
BITEA R
FOA—BFRAARMTREEFKR
R TREAREEIR

ZECMERZTZ

B ER 4 -

Amendments to HKAS 21
BEGHERFE 2157 2185

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS 7
BAMBMELERF RN

EAREMBHRELEAE 7R ERT

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

BBMBRELRE 15
BB BREERE T
BB BREERFE I
?%%FﬁiﬁW%uﬁi
BB ERETR 2EF

HKFRS 18

BAMBHMELERIE 185
HKFRS 19

BEMBHRELERE 1957
Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

BERBESRZERT

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

E%%ﬁﬁiﬁW%m#&
BB ERE 285 2185

Lack of Exchangeability

TRZ A H ]

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

HEBMTANDBELEZER]

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

HEBHBRESFIER
MEEMHE—F 111

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements (new standard)

Mg mE 2 25| R ECGHEE)

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures

FAHEZARAMBAR : #HE

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

M mE 2 25| — B AL R A AT RER
ERERBERCEHERZHHE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after

RUT BHBSRE
ZEZETHEEN
1st January 2025
—E_hHF—-H—H
1st January 2026
—= —/\55'E H E

1st January 2026

—E-RF—A—H

1st January 2027

—E_+F—H—H
1st January 2027

—E_+F—H—H
1st January 2027

“ZE+F—-H—H

To be determined

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REFEAR LS
FEE

BERRIZHENEERE

e —1

FE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGE IN

ACCOUNTING POLICY (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 New standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation not yet adopted
by the Group (Continued)

The Group will adopt the above new standards,
amendments to existing standards and
interpretation when they become effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment
of the related impact of adopting the above
new standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation, none of which
is expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central
treasury department (group treasury) under
policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk

()

(1)

Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity
price risk because certain subsidiaries
of the Group are engaged in the trading
of steel products. As at 31st March 2025
and 2024, the Group had committed
sales orders for steel products for
which the selling price is fixed, which
exceeded the aggregate amount of
on-hand inventories. As the prices of
steel products can fluctuate materially,
the Group’s results may be affected
significantly by future fluctuations in
steel prices (Note 4(c)). To manage
its commodity price risk arising from
committed sales orders, the Group is
closely monitoring the market price
of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.

The Group also exposed to price risk
mainly arising from investments held
by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial
position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Management considers that their
price risk are insignificant.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$") and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

3

n\/__]_\

BRI

MR REREE(HE)
B 7 LB R = (48

3.1

(a) THEEE

(i)

(ii)

B8/ 5
HMRANEEZETHERQR
HEMBERZS  BULA
SEEEERERRR R
ZERAFRZZTME=
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SMNEEBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BB WK

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(ifi)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain investments
in foreign operations, of which the
net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group’s foreign operations is
managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.

At 31st March 2025, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2024:
5%) against RMB with all other variables
held constant, profit before income
tax would have been approximately
HK$815,000 higher/lower (2024:
HK$551,000 higher/lower), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/(losses)
on translation of RMB-denominated
monetary assets and liabilities.

As HK$ are reasonably stable with
US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management considers the
Group’s foreign exchange risk arisen
from US$ is insignificant. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group's income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2025, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100
basis points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$11,226,000 (2024:
HK$12,595,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and bill receivables,
deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable. The
Group has not incurred significant loss
from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does
not expect so in the future. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at
banks is assessed to be immaterial and
no provision was made as at 31st March
2025 and 2024.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and/or appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

n\/-_l_\

BB WK

3 MBEREEGE)
3.1 MBEBREE(E)

(a) HEmEEE(E)

(iii)

HEmE RN BEFEE
5 (42 )
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W EERE 2R R
jJu//szfMoo EE2E - mEAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’'s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of building products
and distribution and processing of
construction materials. As at 31st
March, 2025, top 10 customers of the
Group accounted for approximately
48% (2024: 43%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from
them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers
saved for the debtors related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors, the overall
macro-economic environment and
whether there are any disputes with
the debtors. The Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors
are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

— trade receivables;

— cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

— other financial assets measured
at amortised costs (including
deposits, other receivables and bill
receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors
consider that the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group measures the expected credit
losses on a combination of both individual
and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

The expected loss rates are based on
the on the payment profiles of sales
over a period of 72 months before 31st
March 2024 and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the trading business in
the Mainland China, the Group has
identified the CPI inflation and GDP of
Mainland China to be the most relevant
factors. For customers in Hong Kong,
the Group has identified the GDP levels,
CPI inflation of Hong Kong, GDP and
annual current account balance as a
percentage of nominal GDP of Hong
Kong as the most relevant factors for
trading and manufacturing business
in Hong Kong. The Group adjusts the
historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors accordingly.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped
based on the nature of customer accounts,
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

On the above individual and collective
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st
March 2025 and 2024 were determined
as follows:

3

3.1

<

MR REREE(HE)
B 7% L B (R 3% ()

(b) EFEmE(E)

(ii)

EHEEHEE)
BHRAE RSB EEE
75 (18)

R ERER & LR EET -
RZE_RAFR_FT_OF
—A=+t—HzEBEREE
FWR

1-60 61-120 121-180 181-365  Over 365
days days days days past days past
Current past due past due past due due due Total
i 1-60 H 61-1208  121-180H  181-365H 365H @5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TERT TR TET TR TET TR TER
At 31st March 2025 R=Z2=5fF
=A=t+-AH
Gross carrying amount - FHBE-
trade receivables FEIER R 255,566 50,325 9,530 19,561 11,382 23,216 369,580
Loss allowance BiEEE (2,274) (393) (297) (281) (2,808) (11,757) (17,810)
Net carrying amount - REFE-
trade receivable BT 253,292 49,932 9,233 19,280 8,574 11,459 351,770

1-60 61-120 121-180 181-365 Over 365
days EVS days  days past  days past
Current past due past due past due due due
Ik Bl Ik ek BEER
= 1-60 A 61-1208  121-180B  181-365H 3650
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TAT TR TAT
At 31st March 2024 R-B-ME
=ZA=1-H
Gross carrying amount - FREBE-
trade receivables JEUBR 284,188 54,797 6,709 4,318 7,878 22,299 380,189
Loss allowance BEEE (1,416) (248) (354) (743) (1,202) (11,349) (15,312)
Net carrying amount - REFE-
trade receivable FEM R 282,772 54,549 6,355 3,575 6,676 10,950 364,877

Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as “impairment loss on
financial assets - net” within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against
the same line item.

FE M PR FOR BB ENKE S
it M R AT & B & B R (E B
B-F®IZ27 - Rigkm
BEMHE 2 EERFE A
EPN-
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised
costs

Management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical default
rate and current financial position. The
impairment provision is determined
based on the 12-month expected credit
loss which is considered insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in
the operating entities of the Group and
aggregated by group finance. Group finance
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note
31) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any
of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Group’s debt
financing plans, covenant compliance
and compliance with internal ratio of the
consolidated statement of financial position
targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating entities
over and above balance required for working
capital management are transferred to the
Group’s treasury. The Group’s treasury invests
surplus cash in time deposits, marketable
securities, and other instruments with
appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to
provide sufficient head-room as determined
by the above-mentioned forecasts. At the
reporting date, the Group held cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$178,980,000
(2024 HK$145,304,000) (Note 26) and trade
and bill receivables, net, of approximately
HK$352,399,000 (2024: HK$367,077,000)
(Note 24) that are expected to readily generate
cash inflows for managing liquidity risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at
the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3 MEBRREEE)

3.1 B EEEEGE)
(c) mEEZEMRE(E)

>3

TREINAEBZEREE 1R
BRBESHAZAOEMB ZHBT
T -
TREBEZEHERAKNARMIRR

HIM A B AR

N3
s ©

Less than Between 1 Between 2
1 year and 2 years and 5 years Over 5 years Total
PR1E 122F 2E5F BB5F e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FiEx FExT FTEx FEx FTEx
(9
At 31st March 2025 R-ZEZHEF
=B=+—H
Trade and bill payables FEfIEZR N EE 58,366 — — — 58,366
Liabilities under HERRELTHT
supplier finance ZBE
arrangements 25,798 — — — 25,798
Other payables E fth BT BR IR 30,166 5,800 2,670 — 38,636
Borrowings and BER
Interest payables FERTFIE 867,366 39,617 150,005 196,975 1,253,963
Lease liabilities and HEAEBER
interest payables FERTFIE 7,635 2,087 — — 9,722
989,331 47,504 152,675 196,975 1,386,485
At 31st March 2024 R-B-mE
=A=+-—8
Trade and bill payables FEfER KL= 64,614 — — — 64,614
Liabilities under HEFMETHET
supplier finance =N
arrangements 35,965 — — — 35,965
Other payables H At AT BR TR 31,042 3,524 6,737 — 41,303
Borrowings and BER
interest payables FERHFE 994,444 37,499 114,272 253,768 1,399,983
Lease liabilities and HEABER
interest payables FEH B 21,183 7,635 2,087 — 30,905
1,147,248 48,658 123,096 253,768 1,572,770
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[ ( NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 &I EREE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 EsmkmERE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
and lease liabilities less pledged bank deposits
and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling
interests), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2025 and 2024
were as follows:

AEEERES 2 ARERREAEER
BREZEESN  URBRREHDHRES
HpRrtn FHRMME - Y RT —ExE
BARRBABDERRA

REFHAHEANRE - NEE A FHEN
AR ZBREEHE REAEART R
R BITHBROKEEEENRE -

RERZ—H AKERBELSAEL
REREN - ZULERTIAFRBEHRIAE
ABEERL - FREDUEERR
ERERBRCEMRITERARES
EReEEFE - RS MBIORERA
o BAREAER (T BB
‘) IFREE -

R-E-RER_E_NFE=A=+—
AzERARBLERNT

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Total borrowings (Note 31) BEE®EE(E31) 1,122,617 1,259,501
Total liabilities under supplier finance  {ERRELHE T2
arrangements (Note 28) afEesE(ME28) 25,798 35,965
Total lease liabilities (Note 16) HEBERE(ME16) 9,348 29,233
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W BeRREEEAR
and pledged bank deposits EHERRITIFH
(Note 26) (P 26) (179,667) (147,108)
Net debt FER 978,096 1,177,591
Total equity (excluding B BE(TRIE
non-controlling interests) FEE SRR ) 1,000,176 940,574
Total capital B4R 1,978,272 2,118,165
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 49% 56%
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an\ 7f 77]5Z #E % Bﬁ
>3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEMEIE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAEEMGE
(i)  Fair value hierarchy () RAAEESRK

This section explains the judgements and AEial R SRR NE T %
estimates made in determining the fair AREBEEEIANGENSHITE
values of the financial instruments that are ZAREBERELHE R
recognised and measured at fair value in e BAEHEEARBEMAZ
the financial statements. To provide an BABBHOAEREERZ A%
indication about the reliability of the inputs ERESEAEESHMIAS
used in determining fair value, the Group has EBmAER  SEBHRZHBLT
classified its financial instruments into the FKFTR o

three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level
follows underneath the table.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EE E=E e

At 31st March 2025 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-B-HAF=A=+-—H FHET FHET TERT TR
()

Financial assets SREE
Financial asset BARBERA
at FVOCI HinzmUA
LEREE
- Listed equity —J:mHXK
securities 753 2,247 — — 2,247
Financial asset BARBERA
at FVPL BanserEE
- Unlisted securities —3E ETHRES — — 2,901 2,901

2,247 — 2,901 5,148
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e ISR M R
»

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEMEIE(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 MAEEME(E)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

AR BEEFR(K)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
e =g E=E #azE
At 31st March 2024 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
R-ZEBE-_NF=A=+—H F#&T FBT FB&T F#&T
()
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial asset BEAREERA
at FVOCI E2mEmBA
ZEBMEE
— Listed equity — EmRA
securities B 1,745 — — 1,745
Financial asset BEAREERA
at FVPL BuseoREE
- Unlisted securities —FELEWESH — = 3,914 3,914
1,745 — 3,914 5,659

There were no transfers between level 1, 2
and 3 during the year (2024: Same).

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment
properties that are measured at fair value
which is included in level 3.
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NOTEST()THE(]DNSCHM]ATEDFWNANKHALSTATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as
publicly traded derivatives and
equity securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments
that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).
This is the case for unlisted equity
interests.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised
cost approximate their fair values as at the
reporting date since either the instrument are
with short maturities or the interest rate is
close to the current market rate.

e B ERR M

3 HBEREEGHE)
3.3 ARBEEMLE(E)

() A7 Eﬁ%@?(%ﬁ)

REBMEEELZS
BMTAMMARARS
WOTE T A RKRAE
FIZRRBETNR
R EHIR 2 T 5
Bt HE -

Eﬂi
Eil

FE: UERERTHE
BEzomI AN
BINMTETER) K
AREEERME
JTIRETE - Mk
B AERIEERA
BERZMEHE X
idﬁﬁI%Zﬁi
1$ |:1+ ;ZD * IE%
ﬂIEZQﬁﬁ@%
BZBERBARE
RABRESE WM
ERIEBRREES
o

=E: AEAABLIFEE
TRETEHE 6
AGETBEHA) -
3 IR A B R
BB

7 o B A S R A 51 2
SET ANME AP ERER
EAABERE  BAZIAN

75 28R 05 3 B AT

BRI o
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B IR M A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques are used to value
of the aforementioned financial instruments
include:

e for listed equity securities - the quoted
market prices for similar instruments

e for unlisted securities - backsolve
option pricing model and reference to
the underlying net asset value of the
investee companies

All of the resulting fair value estimates are
included in level 1 and 2 except for unlisted
securities where the fair values have been
determined based on present values and
the discount rates used were adjusted for
counterparty risk.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents the changes in

level 3 item - unlisted securities for the years
ended 31st March 2025 and 2024:

3 MBEREEE)

33 4

(i)

(iii)

REEHEE)

FREE R A BER I ERA

BEHERTEANRET Lile
MTEEE ZZ2T AR
#

s LTRAESF-RFEFEIA
Z TS HRE

e JFEMELF-GIHEMEEE
B AR EWRE QAN
HEAEEFE

FAMALBEETEREES
RE—ERE-ET BRES
AU REEER 55 AR 285
SRS 2 A0 BB L5 3 5
b <

EHEAT TBEBAETBAAL
EE(E3E)
TREVNBE-_ZT-_RAFR-ZF
“HE=ZA=t—HLFEE=
BIHE - JFLmERZ 28 :

(J

2025
R

2024
—E-NF
HK$'000
FBT

HK$’000
Fi#7

At 1 April MRMUA—H 3,914 3,701
Unrealised fair value (loss)/gain on Z AR BEFAERZZ

financial assets at fair value EMEERERAAEE

through profit or loss (Note 22) (E18) W (Hsxe2) (1,013) 213
At 31 March R=A=+—8 2,901 3,914
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iv) Valuation process and inputs

The Group engages external, independent
and qualified valuer to determine the fair
value of the unlisted securities as at 31
March 2025 (2024: Same). The Group'’s
finance department performs/reviews the
valuations for the aforementioned financial
instruments as included in financial assets
at FVPL (including derivative financial
instruments) and FVOCI required for financial
reporting purposes, including the level 3
fair value. These valuation results are then
reported to the Group’'s management for
discussions and review in relation to the
valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable
inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
(see (ii) above for the valuation techniques
adopted):

B IR M
<

n\/-_]_\

3 MEBRREEE)
REEHEE)

(iv) 1EEZERBAZE
NEBEBINEBILAEBMGE
B NEBEFLTEFR _-F
“HFE=ZA=+—RZRREE
(ZZF_m%F : HRA) - XEEW
M%%ﬁ#%%$ﬁ@”/%ﬁ
b mg R EBEFABR(E
BOTESR T A) RIRAABER
AHfEERAZEBREE
ﬁ BIEFEIBRAAEME - HE

AERE IR A R & B TR E B A
uTuFﬁi &%Eﬂ’fﬁ@//lb%i&’fﬁfﬁm
WEEE -

33 4

TRBAEEEIEBRABER
EMAEATABEREABEN
EEER(R EXX (i) R e fh
Bfdf) -

Unobservable

Fair value (HK$'000) inputs

RABER

unobservable

Range of  Relationship
of unobservable inputs
to fair value

AUBRBARE

inputs

AT

2AfEE (FE1T)

()
As at 31st March 2025
R-EBE-_RAFE=HA=+—H
2,901

B A BUR

Equity volatility
of comparable
companies

A LEER A RIHY
P& HE R
Risk free rate
= R g A

As at 31st March 2024
RZE-_MNME=A=+—H
3,914 Equity volatility
of comparable
companies
AT LA B
[ e R
Risk free rate

1 ) o

WABEREE HAREENERE

60.0%  The higher the volatility,

the lower the fair value
BB AnEEBKE

3.9%  The higher the risk free rate,
the lower the fair value

ERBNEES  ARBEEBE

50.0% The higher the volatility,
the lower the fair value

BB - AAEEBE

5.1%  The higher the risk free rate,

the lower the fair value

EREBRMNEES  AREEBE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

BEBEERERAR

4

EES T EERHE

RIBIBE RS M H (R =8 1 E R HI T
FENE  ZSREEREEABEBERLTHR
KREMHESIRTRE -

AEERAKIELHEERBR BREE
Bt T A 2 & 5T HE E 15 SR RE B PR 4 R AE
@ s NXFEEXRERZER RERR R
—EFMREEAR REHRHEERBELZ
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{fﬁiﬁﬂ’% ©

(a) REWMEMNMLE

ZSE@?;?’A/%F@%%Z&%%%
AREEE éﬂﬁé,m%am%zm&ﬂﬁu
IR - REWMEZANABEDBEGES
% BEREREMESWELAAEERNT
EmEE HPEERFEHERSK
BIREEHEM SRR - HERBR&
FIEERWE15HE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Recognition of deferred income tax assets

(c)

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. Deferred
income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future
taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such
estimates have been changed.

Onerous contract provision

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. If the cost of certain future
purchases to fulfil these sales orders exceeds the
contracted selling prices of the sales orders, a
provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of
purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into
account the cost of on-hand inventories and the
forecast market price of future purchases where
that can be reliably estimated.

e B ERR M

4 EESTHEERFEE)
(b) EZEMEHEERR

(c)

REE T BRHMEE R BEAE T
B EETEZHRAGHEER 5
ZEHEARHAE - NABEBBIES -
RER G REAE 2 RIETHIBEE 5 AR
E o ARBERBREEABNERIIA
MEREE  WxFEEZRERIGE
REZVRHEZLBIR  HEEZRHK
TEZETEREAZAERMELHRF
B - MEEER R BARKER
B MIAS S T = R IEEE - Al
EHRESTREZENHEEESH
LIPS EE - HEMGERERT
ZIEETR  HEERGEHRLEME
HEERRLEBEERHRZHERE
NZAEHERBKREE -

BEZNz2BE

R-E-_AF=ZA=+—8 A&£EE
MTZHEEEERBFHEFERDE
EZBEFERE - WAUBTIHEH
BB AT RRIRBEXALLIEEETE
Fisltiz EE A  AIEHARERE
o —IEEE - TS TR AR T
ERCHEECEESER  EEE
ARFETFEIRARIZAISESE 2K
RELEE 2 NS B TR -
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B IR M A

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue consists of the following:

5

WAR 7 EBE
AEE 2 PABENT -

()
Recognised at a point in times -

EX—RHER

2025
e K

2024
S 113
HK$'000

FTET

HK$’000
TERT

Sales of goods —EmiHE 2,029,718 2,219,974
Recognised over time - £ — BRI AR

Service income — RASURA 35,976 37,623
Rental income WA 46,110 45,579
Total revenue WA 4B %8 2,111,804 2,303,176

The Group’s businesses are managed according to
the nature of their operations and the products and
services they provide.

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM”) that are used to
making strategic decisions. The CODM is identified as
the Executive Directors who consider the business from
a customer perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on the segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as these consolidated
financial statements. The CODM considers the Group
operates predominantly in three operating segments:

(i)  Steels Distribution and Processing Business;
Building Products Distribution Business; and

Property Investment and Fund Management
Business.

The CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income
tax.

The revenue from external parties reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WA

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Segment assets by geographical market consist
primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment

properties,

right-of-use assets,

investments accounted

for using the equity method, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables. They exclude financial instruments
and deferred income tax assets.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property,
plant and equipment for the year ended 31st March

2025.

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for
the year ended 31st March 2025 is as follows:

5

>3

n\/-_]_\
WARDHER (&)
RS mSE o s MEEXTEREME -
MEREE REWE FRAEEE KiE
HEARZIRE  TANHIE - He RkEME
WEER - eMTAEREEMSHEENTE
FERDEEENA °

BE_T_AF=—A=1— ElJtif“ EN
X BRI ZME - BB MR

AEERBE T -_AF=-A=1+—HLF

BIREB D B2 FE7

DHTEAT -

()

Steels
Distribution
And
Processing

Business
RmT %
HK$’000
TR

Building
Products
Distribution
Business
BEMR
HK$’000
TET

Property
Investment
and Fund
Management
Business
BiERE
HK$°000
TEx

Unallocated

AAE
HK$’000
TiEgn

Total

BH
HK$’000
THERT

Revenue from contracts with customers REEPAEHZHA
— Recognised at a point in time -EXHEER 1,710,588 319,130 - - 2,029,718
- Recognised over time and —E—BRER AR
rental income RASWA 13 — 82,073 - 82,086
1,710,601 319,130 82,073 — 2,111,804
Cost of sales HEMAR (1,527,863) (236,775) — — (1,764,638)
Operating profit/(loss) EERR/(558) 153,013 30,115 25,025 (51,202) 156,951
Finance income BT 230 85 267 6 588
Finance costs BBER (48,971) (5,252) (17,386) (679) (72,288)
Share of results of investments LR REARZ
accounted for using the equity method REZEE - - (19,641) - (19,641)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETSBATR R,/ (E1E) 104,272 24,948 (11,735) (51,875) 65,610
Other gains/(losses) - net Hivlas/(BE) —F8 1,309 (254) 170 1,299 2,524
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEZ ANEEERE (162) — (24,840) — (25,002)
Capital expenditure BARY 873 116 141 1,931 3,061
Depreciation and amortisation e R (5,016) (5,256) (1,161) (16,527) (27,960)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment CREERERBE
loss on financial assets - net (Bfs) /BB 348 (2,651) 53 — 1 (2,597)
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5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for
the year ended 31st March 2024 is as follows:

WAR 7 &RER (&)

AEERBE T _MF=A=1+—HLF
F?ﬁ%ﬂ‘&"%z%iﬁ“ﬁﬁﬂT

Steels
Distribution
And
Processing

Business
W7 8
BRI
HK$'000
TET

Distribution

Property
Investment
and Fund
Management
Business
RHERE
RESEEERK
HK$'000
THET

Building
Products
Total

Business Unallocated

REMH
HK$'000
TFigx

RAE nE
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T

e
Revenue from contracts with customers REEPEHNZHA
- Recognised at a point in time —EE-RHER 1,879,527 340,447 — — 2,219,974
- Recognised over time and —E—BRERE AR
rental income RESHIA 15 — 83,187 — 83,202
1,879,542 340,447 83,187 = 2,303,176
Cost of sales SHERA (1,671,855) (247,244) — — (1,919,099)
Operating profit/(loss) R (B8) 178,403 35,779 35,530 (49,769) 199,943
Finance income BIEMA 359 253 293 11 916
Finance costs MBER (62,770) (5,501) (23,636) (348) (92,255)
Share of results of investments L ERRREARZ
accounted for using the equity method REZEE — — (22,750) — (22,750)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRATERANER/ (B1E) 115,992 30,531 (10,563) (50,1086) 85,854
Other gains - net Hiplias— 58 91 157 106 708 1,062
Fair value loss on investment properties Txﬁ%iz AT (90) — (13,266) — (13,356)
Capital expenditure EARRX 7,746 6,459 619 1,054 15,878
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH (4,542) (5,048) (546) (6,324) (16,460)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment SRAERERE
loss on financial assets - net (Bfs) /BB — 38 (75) 2,469 — 10 2404

For total selling and distribution cost,

6.8% (2024:

14.4%), 81.6% (2024: 78.8%) and 10.5% (2024: 5.9%)
are contributed by segment of Steels Distribution
and Processing Business, Building Products
Distribution Business, and Property Investment and
Fund Management Business, respectively. For total
administrative expenses, 18.3% (2024: 17.2%), 25.6%
(2024: 27.0%) and 20.7% (2024: 22.1%) are contributed
by segment of Steels Distribution and Processing
Business, Building Products Distribution Business, and
Property Investment and Fund Management Business,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenues of approximately HK$219,145,000 (2024:
HK$320,724,000) are derived from a single external
customer of the Steels Distribution and Processing
Business and Building Products Distribution Business
for the year ended 31st March 2025 (2024: Steels
Distribution and Processing Business).

The Group’s main business is domiciled in Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Analysis of the Group’s revenue
by geographical market is as follows:

an\ 7f ﬁ& #bjl %‘:Z M]L

WAR 7 RRER (&)

HE-_ZT_RAF=ZA=Z=+—8"' %
219,145,000 7L(=ZZ =4 : 320,724,000
BTT) 2 WA PR B i #8758 K N T 275 R i 4
MO EEB 2B —INBER(ZTZMEF -
#5515 S5 R I L2755 ) ©

FEEEIEZXRBRRBBRTEKE - K&
B2 WA IS DM T -

e
Hong Kong B
Mainland China B KR

2024
—F_MF

HK$'000
T

1,650,495 1,694,352
461,309 608,824

2,111,804 2,303,176

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and
deferred income tax assets, by geographical market is
as follows:

BREmTAMELERSHEENIINZ IER
BEZMEMES BT

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-mE

HK$’000 HK$'000

(J

TET THET

Hong Kong aBH 338,508 371,152
Mainland China R B K B 1,256,199 1,297,378
1,594,707 1,668,530
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDHBER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract (a) BREGHEBZWARR
liabilities
As at 31st March 2025, contract liabilities RZZEZRAF=RA=+—H A&
included receipts in advance and deferred haBEzEaRFBELREEKAZS
revenue amounting to HK$78,544,000 (2024: % /78,544,000 (=T = Y 4 :
HK$47,830,000). The following table shows how 47,830,000 70) ° FRETRRARS
much of the revenue recognised in the current HEERBNZANBEERERAZ
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract S5
liabilities:

2024
—ECME
HK$'000
THET
(D
Revenue recognised that was REVFTAEHNEE
included in the contract liabilities W B R
at the beginning of the year WAZ&HE 47,830 38,979
(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (b) REITZRHEH
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TERBLRIRE —ESEERETEBE
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term REBBESNTELE 2 RABITRYOSE
sales contracts recognised at a point in time: 7%

2025 2024
—E_FE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET BT
(D
Aggregate amount of the transaction RZAZ=+—BHBEHHk
price allocated to long-term sales 2EREITZRAEE
contracts that are partially or BRI REBTE
fully unsatisfied as at 31st March 988,150 653,173
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (Continued)

(c)

Management expects that 76.5% (2024: 85.6%)
of the transaction price, totalling HK$756,359,000
(2024: HK$558,994,000) allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations as of 31st March 2025
(2024: 31st March 2024) will be recognised
as revenue during the next reporting period.
The remaining 23.5% or approximately
HK$231,791,000 will be recognised in the
2026/27 financial year (2024: remaining 14.4% or
approximately HK$94,179,000 will be recognised
in the 2025/26 financial year).

All other contracts are for the periods of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts
receivable for goods supplied and service rendered,
stated net of discounts, returns and value added taxes.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group's activities as described below.

(i) Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has full discretion
over channel and price to sell the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs until the products
have been shipped to the specified location,
the risk of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in
accordance with sales contracts, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products.

e B ERR M

5 WARZHES(E)

(b)

(c)

KET2REAGH(HE)

EREERE BHE_T-_AF=H
Z—t+—H(ZZE_@mF: T _WOF
A=+ B BRERABITEARE
BB Z765% (=T — P04 :
85.6%) * #51756,359,000/8 (==&
~ P04 : 558,994,000 7T ) B E T —
A=k &= R AWA - 8 TH23.5% °
8 #231,791,000 8 T E T =75/
TtV BREEBR( S WF - T
B 14.4% @ 3 #794,179,000 3% 7T #5 £
TR AP REERER) -

RS HIRE B —FFIT - 1
BB SRS LB ISRAATT -
SREREREIZ AN R ERA
ST -

WA TER 2 B 5 BUER

WAZRBE W ERRE 2R BER
8 RIEFMESE M RATEIRT 2 B E
B HIERITH - RERIBETKIIEK -
2 UWABFRBES R FEFT & - RIREEF
ST REREARE - MAKEZRE
B E AR GMR (N T - A
SEAGHRLA -

() Em#HE

ESEEROCHEMINTE
F - BEFHHEEMIRERER
BETRRERE  AWERETZ
BEIAFEEPERERN - S
REMBEE - EmMNTEERETEM
BoREMBBZREBREERTR
P EPEHEANKMERBM
BRETEERNFEREPEME
o RINTTRAER -
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n\/-_]_\

BB WK

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c) Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

Sales of goods (Continued)

Revenue from these sales is recognised
based on the price specified in the contract.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate
and provide for the returns, if any, using
the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with
credit terms that are consistent with market
practice.

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to stage of
completion of the specific transaction and
assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service
to be provided.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the relevant leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

TS 52/\ ﬁHXﬁﬁE/&i

5

WARDEBER (&)

(C) l‘l&)\ﬁﬁwbzﬁﬂl—mﬁm(nﬁ

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

EmiEeE (&)

ZEHEZWATIRIER #HETH
ZEERER - EHARLHNU
BHEEEGT RBEBREM

B) BREENEBKRAIGETIEE
EEABOEER BHEZE
EHFMAMISEN  BEKS T

WA

FEFEHA

RIBFWAE R EREER H 2 TTHK
BEERILZDREERRBER T
R 2 BIRE L HIFFER - HEIR
RS 2 @5t BIRRER -

HERA

BRENEZHSWARERE
MR E IR AR s HERR -

BE R
AEETEHABEAEH B
hHREPEIMAE SRR
BEEEFPNRZBHEES —
FoRAY AEEREAESHE
EEEMBHRI AR HER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R

OTHER GAINS - NET

6 Hfttlsm —FEE

L

2025
—E-RE

HK$’000
FERT

2024

=
HK$'000
FET

Net exchange losses JFIE BT 1R (1,146) (2,053)
Gain on modification of lease MEBT 2 Wam — 842
Compensation for unfulfilled contracts  BREAXRZKE L ZEE 727 195
Release of exchange reserve Bt B8 1 B A JR B 11T B

upon deregistration of subsidiaries 2 IE R fEERED — (631)
Unrealised fair value (loss)/gain BEARBHEFABRZSHEEN

on financial assets at FVPL AR AABEESE) W

(Note 22) (FFzE22) (1,013) 213
Income from selling solar energy KREHEE KNG 2 WA 998 980
Government subsidies BT L 1,521 229
Sundry income HIEA 1,437 1,287

2,524 1,062
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f( NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
\

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE 7 RHEES<2XH

HAEERA ] [HERSHZL] (28
BEREEBEEE)/B&—F8E IR —%
BARE S IAMZE - EAHET :

Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and
distribution expenses”, “provision for/(reversal of)
impairment loss on financial assets - net” and “general
and administrative expenses” are analysed as follows:

2025 2024
e RS —ECNE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Cost of finished goods sold UK o 85 B BR 1,626,531 1,799,193
Provision for write-down of GERERE
inventories - net —F 5 2,120 846
Provision for/(reversal of) BEZLN 2 BE/ (B#)
onerous contracts (Note 30) (FfF5E30) 2,406 (24,371)
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BEREEZITE
and equipment (Note 14) (FFE14) 7,908 6,966
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CTREEEZINE
(Note 16) (FFzE16) 20,052 9,494
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, LEME  BEREEBZER
plant and equipment (M) 1,489 (361)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 1B B @F L (FsEs) 123,380 130,474
Expenses relating to short-term or FHRHSEEERE
low-value leases (Note 16) 2 Z (M 16) 2,337 5,832
Property tax for investment properties  #REWHE 2 WEF 6,248 7,039
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment of JEWEE TR & ZiE R ERE,
trade and bill receivables — net () — %58
(Note 24) (FFzE24) 2,597 (2,404)
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN €
— Audit services — ZBRTS 1,990 2,669
- Non-audit services — IR ERG 210 230
Legal and professional fees ERRBEEER 4,948 4,043
Freight charges ER= 85,625 95,527
Storage and handling charges EEREEE 8,832 11,388
Others Hh 35,702 44,374
Total 1R 1,932,375 2,090,939
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

e B ERR M

>3

8 EEEMNXH(BESEEZME)

e
Salaries and allowances e MoEE 88,261 93,210
Bonus TE4T 20,006 20,722
Pension costs - defined BIRE KA — 49 E R RETE
contribution plans (Note) (FsE) 8,151 8,447
Welfare and benefits & R A m= 6,962 8,095
123,380 130,474

Note:

The Group maintains two defined contribution pension schemes for
its employees in Hong Kong, the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (“ORSO”) Scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
("MPF”) Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held separately from
those of the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the related companies and their employees
make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5% (2024: 5%) of the
employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees who have
terminated employment could be utilised by the Group to reduce its
future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the related companies and their employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% (2024: 5%) of the
employee’s relevant income, as defined in the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the
employee’s contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 per month.
The contributions are fully and immediately vested for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for employees of its
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. The employees are entitled
to retirement pension calculated with reference to their basic salaries
on retirement and their length of service in accordance with the relevant
government regulations. The Group has no further obligations for the
actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

During the year ended 31st March 2025, the aggregate amount of the
Group’s contributions to the aforementioned pension schemes was
approximately HK$8,151,000 (2024: HK$8,447,000). As at 31st March
2025 and 2024, there is no unutilised forfeited contribution which could
be utilised to reduce future contributions of the Group.

Wi -

AEEREMBOTRAEHFFETEEZERE  BIA
BEtB([ARESHE ) REESHB([RESE)) -
IAmEG &2 BEHRAREZ EEDFRA - XHBL
HEeEHE -

REBEAESTE  HRARALEERARERZERT S
25% (=B =MF : 5%) AT EIEF AKX - KIER
ZEERRE 2 Mg m AR EBER D RRHERK -

RFBESE  HRERRARERERBASEREEERHE
RIEEFE GO R ERZEERARAZS% (ZF =1
F 5% AR EETARRK - AEEREER 2HRE
RYBEH1,50087T - HHTBREEHFETESR °

BN ERERRRERARTE - AREARERINT
BARREZ B ARIRBREBEREBRKGBIHK - B8
BREGERARE  £R2RERERK ZELH S RRS
FHRERABMERTESE - BRERFI - 5B H
ARTXNEFAERRREIRKEREN - ZEDREH
BAFTEIARBRRAEKEREXNZMERS -

HE-_Z-_A4=-A=+-—HLFE A£EHLHE
REtalfEL 2 R B 58,151,000 (=T =1
F :8,447,000/87L) c RZE-_RAFR-_FT_MF=A
=+—A - WERPHACRKERTTBERDREBE KK
2R -
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#/ NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
.

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EEKRSREEAEMN=
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=M=
The remuneration of every director for the year BE-_ T -_AF=A=1+—HILFE -
ended 31st March 2025 is set out below: BUESHMAOT
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
EUED [ (Note iii) scheme
BEHEHK
BiERA BRIE
[k HFERRE (B&Eiii) 2R ot
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THT THT THT Tz THR
Executive Directors WIES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew AL E — 3,697 1,950 18 5,665
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 27k E = 1,257 155 62 1,474
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Wong Kwai Sun (Note i) T ipced(iE) 54 — - - 54

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHEEE 207 - - - 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike LS E 180 - - - 180
Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|RELE 180 — — — 180

621 4,954 2,105 80 7,760
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every Director for the year
ended 31st March 2024 is set out below:

e B ERR M
s

9 ESERSREEAEMN=(F)

(a)

EsMe (&)

HE-_T-_NMF-A=1+—HILtFE -
FNEBREHFMOT ¢

Employer's
contribution
to a
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note iii) scheme
[EES PN
EEIEAL BRI
e HEREE (= iii) 2R B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TET T T
Executive Directors BIES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew AL E — 5,926 1,950 18 7,894
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2l FRrE — 1,248 125 62 1,435
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (Note ii) ERRIE S (ML) 86 — — — 86
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHEEE 207 — — — 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike HERERE 180 — — — 180
Mr. Li Yinquan F5IREE 180 — — — 180
653 7,174 2,075 80 9,982
Notes: B3
(i) Ms. Wong Kwai Sun was appointed as a Non-executive (i) R-ZE-_WNFE+-_A+=8 > 2&#Hxt

(if)

(iii)

Director on 13th December 2024. The amounts represent
emoluments payable in respect of her services as a Non-
executive Director from 13th December 2024 to 31st
March 2025.

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny retired as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 18th August 2023. The amounts
represent emoluments payable in respect of his services
as an Independent Non-executive Director up to the date
of his retirement.

The executive directors are entitled to discretionary
bonuses which are determined with reference to their
performance and the performance of the Group.

No incentive payment as an inducement for joining
the Group or compensation for loss of office was

paid

to any director during the years ended 31st

March 2025 and 2024. Also, no directors waived
their emoluments during the years ended 31st
March 2025 and 2024.

BEZARFRNTES - XFFEEREA
—E-_NE+-_A+=ZRAEZT-_RE=
A=+—BEAFERNTESMRBZRE
mERZME -

(i) RKRZZFTZ=FNATN\H BRELLER
EBLIERITESTB - ;Zifn BEEHEE
HREAHREEAB L IERITESIR
w2z RBEmMERZBE -

(i)  BMITEFARMBBIELL  EA2EZHK
ARAEERRETE °

REBEE-_Z_AFEK_T_NF=A
=+ HLEFE SIS TER
EEMFSREMANS B SRERfE -
AN TERESRBE_FT_AFR_
E_ME=-A=1t—HILFEREELMN
& o
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=

o

9

BF 55 R 2R B

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received any retirement
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2025
and 2024.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received any termination
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2025
and 2024.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available of directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2025 and
2024, no consideration was paid by the Company
to any third parties for making available of
directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and/or any
entities connected with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2025 and
2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and any entities
connected with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2025
and 2024 or at any time during the years ended
31st March 2025 and 2024.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ERAR AR

9 ESEKRSNREEAEMNE(F)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

EERKAER

MEEENHEE T _AFER TN
FZA=Z+— B ILFE B WETRERK
BF) o

ESRULEREA

MEEENHEE T _AER_T N
FZA=ZtT—BIEFEDWET MR
EEEH -

RERKZEZERBERAE=FM
Z B

REE-_ZE_AFR-_ZT_NF=A
=t+—HIEFE KRR EERY
CEERBEMEME=ZFZHRIE -

FBUES ZRSESFEFZE
ABRE HZEES MR
BERARBAZEN  BOERR
HXZRZH2ER

REEZEZZ_AFE-_Z_NHF=A
=+—HILFE HEFHUNER X
ZEEERFIZEAANBREZEEE Y
FREBEREAT=AZER  BUE
RREMRZ G2 -

EERRG  ZHHEHNPZEK
B

RZE-_RAFR B _NMF=A=+—
HERSIVNBEE T -_AFR TN
F=ZA=+—BIEFEAERERETT
FEHAEEXBEBAEARNRRERRL
FTREEERNEEREEEAERNE
ARG~ BHEREH °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(9)

(J

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals with highest emoluments
in the Group include one director (2024: one)
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in Note 9 (a) above. The emoluments
paid/payable to the remaining four (2024: four)
individuals during the year are as follows:

e B ERR M

L

EERSREEAEHNE (F)

(9) EEBREHF AL

Z!KEEEE% reEALTBE—RES
(=% ) EEe R £SO
uI9(a)Ffr§|J AT RBR - KEFEER,
EMEBINE(ZT_ME - MFH) AL
ZBemT

2025 2024

—E-RF —E-ME

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FET

Salaries and allowances e MoRRh 5,734 6,120

Bonus TEAT 3,898 4,230
Pension costs RIRE A

— defined contribution plans — M EHAREE 248 256

9,880 10,606

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

BT FIATEER :

Number of individuals

A

2025 2024
—B-EF —TNF

- HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 - 1,000,001 BTE
2,000,000/ 7T
- HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 - 2,000,001 BTE
3,000,000/ 7T
- HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 - 3,000,001 BTE
4,000,000/ 7T

No emoluments were paid/payable to the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
the Group or as compensation for loss of office
during the year (2024: Same).

AEEYEIN BAEEAHETHELERES
%ﬁAiLM’E*iEMD)\ZK%@‘M’E%EH&ﬁ1 (=
T - ER) e
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| ( NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
.\

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

10 HBRAREH

130

2025 2024
it S 2 —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Finance income BRI
Interest income: FEWA -
— short-term bank deposits —RHRIRITIE X 588 916
Finance costs M%ER
Interest expenses: FEXZH :
- bank borrowings and —BEK
hire purchase liabilities HEAE (63,809) (86,635)
— supplier finance arrangements —fHEm A L
(Note 28) (P 28) (1,205) (2,190)
— transfer from hedging reserve — —RE R EEREL —
interest rate swaps designated 1B TFE A S ¥R 2 F &
as cash flow hedges 18 5 — 1,780
— lease liabilities (Note 16) —HEBEKE16) (1,299) (871)
Bank charges HRITER (5,975) (4,339)
(72,288) (92,255)
Net finance costs B 75 R FRE (71,700) (91,339)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) except for one of the Hong Kong
incorporated subsidiaries which is subject to 8.25%
for its first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits under
the two-tiered profit tax regime during the year (2024:
Same). Subsidiaries established in Mainland China are
subject to China corporate income tax at 25% (2024:
Same).

The amount of income tax (credit)/expense recorded in
the consolidated income statement represents:

e B ERR M

>

11 FrAEH(ER) X H

AEEDEEEMEBRR ZRITHERASF
B bR RSt BB INE 2 BiIA -

EENERIRHEER16.5%(—F —[OF :
16.5% ) EL B - E—RHEEBFMHRZZ
HEB R RIBRIN 0 RAFERIEM ARG FISH
TR - E B 2,000,000 7T JE 2 5w M 3 B
KB25% EHEE(ZZE_UFE : HAR) - B
B RRER Y 2 B A RIIER R 25% (=&
ZPO4F - FAR) SR R EASH -

RigABERTIEZFREHEES) /X
B -

J

2025
“E-REF

2024
Lk
HK$'000
TR

HK$’000
TERT

Current income tax EHSH
- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH 3,383 3,215
— China corporate income tax — B EMEH 1,548 2,160
Deferred income tax (Note 20) EIEFTS R (BT 20) (20,589) 3,184
Under-provision in prior years TERETE 24 285
(15,634) 8,844
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an\ 7]L ﬁ& #E( «% Bﬁ
-

11 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 11 i8R (ER) (&)

(CONTINUED)
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs NEBBRBADEF 2 B EIRAE A T 825% T
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the BREZIEFORERAE 2B SREEE

weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the = (U N
consolidated entities is as follows:

==

132

—EoEE
HK$'000
FET
¢
Profit before income tax B TS TR K 65,610 85,854
Add: Share of results of investments o EhiRERE
accounted for using ABRZEE
the equity method LEE 19,641 22,750
85,251 108,604
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates %2 & B g N P e
applicable to profit in the respective B EGTE
countries Z R 12,833 18,211
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA (4,866) (7,082)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A F1F 2 2 H 2,871 3,577
Tax losses not recognised W ERERELE TS EE
as deferred income tax assets Z TIBEE 659 1,026
Recognition of previously unrecognised MR LA AR ASELESH
tax loss as deferred income tax assets BEZHMBER (19,883) (2,589)
Deferred income tax liabilities in respect gt B ARE R 5K EF
of withholding tax on Mainland China P G i 0
unremitted earnings FrgtiatE 1,280 44
Utilisation of previously unrecognised 15 A3 8 A R R A
tax loss g E 1R (8,555) (4,628)
Expiration of recognised tax loss BE 2 ERERTSEE 3 —
Under-provision in prior years TERETT 24 285
Income tax (credit)/expense FISf(ER) S (15,634) 8,844
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 DIVIDENDS

J

BB WK

n\/-_]_\

<

12 RE

Interim dividend of HK1.80 cents

(30th September 2023: HK1.50 cents)
per ordinary share (Note a)

Proposed final dividend of

HK1.50 cents
(31st March 2024: HK1.00 cent)

RS

AR AR 1.80 7811
—E-=FhAA=+H:
1.50 7% 41L) (FisE a)

BB AR B ER
A% 1.50 1L
—E-_MFE=A=+—8:

per ordinary share (Note b)

1.00 ) (FizEb)

2025
e R

2024
ZEoRE
HK$’'000
TR

HK$’000
TERT

11,457

9,606

9,548 6,386

Notes:

(a)

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30th
September 2024 of HK1.80 cents per ordinary share (six
months ended 30th September 2023: HK1.50 cents per ordinary
share) was paid in cash on 9th January 2025 (six months
ended 30th September 2023: paid in cash on 8th January
2024) to shareholders whose names appeared on the Register
of Members of the Company at the close of business on 20th
December 2024 (six months ended 30th September 2023: on
20th December 2023).

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2025
of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share (2024: HK1.00 cent per
ordinary share), amounting to approximately total dividend of
HK$9,548,000 (2024: HK$6,386,000), is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The amount
of the proposed final dividend is based on 636,508,315 ordinary
shares in issue as at 31st March 2025 (2024: 638,604,315
ordinary shares). These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect this proposed dividend payable for the year ended 31st
March 2025.

ARRRZZ_AF—ANB(EHE=T==FAI
A=+BIEAEAR - RZZT=mE— ﬁ)\ELAIE%
AR T —NF+ A= +RHEE=

FHAA=Z+THALEANEAA  : RZTE-_=F+— H +
B)& ¥R AR EIINARRRRESMZRE
LESRNBEE_Z-_WFAA=THLEREAZ
FHRSFREBERIOBIWEE=ZFT=_=FA1
A=+RHIEAEA : SRERAR1.5081) -

AARIBREERRAFTASEZREHEZ
—HE=ZA=+-BUEFEZRERETRE B
BR150BW(ZT—mMF: &L EBKR1.008
fil) - B B 4R%E#) 5 9,548,0008 T ( — T /U4 :
6,386,000/ 7T) - ZEBAARSHESEIHER
—E-RF=A=1+—H2Z2636,508315KRE T
ZERBRFHE(ZZT ZMF : 638,604,315 & i@
f) - ZELEAVBRRIARMEBEE_ZT_F1F
A=t RALFEHEZREMRARE -
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n\/-_]_\

L

134

B IR M A

13 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE 13 BRZEREF
(a) Basic (a) EX
Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated FRREFBAIRERFE R TR AR QA TIES AEE
by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the AR A FEE B BT L BRI 8t
Company by the weighted average number of o
ordinary shares in issue during the year.
(U
Profit attributable to owners of RRARHEB ANEEET
the Company (HK$'000) (F#T) 89,617 78,782
Weighted average number of B EITERRA
ordinary shares in issue ('000) D& (FRR) 637,370 640,246
Basic earnings per ordinary share TR i AR E AN F)
(HK cents) () 14.06 12.31
(b) Diluted (b) #5

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

For the years ended 31st March 2025 and 2024,
the Group has one category of potentially dilutive
ordinary shares - share options issued by the
Company. The computation of diluted earnings
per ordinary share for the years ended 31st March
2025 and 2024 did not assume the exercise of the
Company’s share options because the exercise
prices of these options were higher than the
average market price for ordinary shares. Thus,
there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares
as at both years end and diluted earnings per
ordinary share equal to basic earnings per ordinary
share for the years ended 31st March 2025 and
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R
~

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERRZRE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor
Buildings equipment Machinery vehicles

BEME

= i
S K% e e BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TR TERT TR

()
At 1st April 2023 R-T-=FNA—H
Cost A 169,566 57,452 55,369 6,597 288,984
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2T ERFE (161,664) (54,311) (28,747) (5,496) (250,218)
Net book amount EmFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
Year ended 31st March 2024 BEZT-mF
ZAZ+—RLEFE
Opening net book amount BREFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
Additions HE 5,750 2,185 7,324 492 15,751
Disposals HeE — (36) — (134) (170)
Depreciation e (504) (1,264) (4,919) (279) (6,966)
Currency translation differences RHERESR (338) (38) — (36) (412)
Closing net book amount HREAFE 12,810 3,988 29,027 1,144 46,969
At 31st March 2024 RZZE-NF=A=+—H
Cost KA 174,916 58,878 62,121 5,543 301,458
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE
and impairment KorfE (162,106) (54,890) (33,094) (4,399) (254,489)
Net book amount REFE 12,810 3,988 29,027 1,144 46,969
Year ended 31st March 2025 HE-T-RfF
=A=t-ALEFE
Opening net book amount HYEEFE 12,810 3,988 29,027 1,144 46,969
Additions hE = 736 2,124 201 3,061
Government subsidy (Note i) TR Eh (BHaED) = = (243) = (243)
Disposals & (5,566) (54) — — (5,620)
Depreciation e (693) (1,390) (5,491) (334) (7,908)
Currency translation differences EBELEE (23) (12) - 5 (30)
Closing net book amount BREmFE 6,528 3,268 25,417 1,016 36,229
At 31st March 2025 R=Z-AF=A=+—-H
Cost (D% 169,120 58,832 64,002 5,714 297,668
Accumulated depreciation ZihE
and impairment RifE (162,592) (55,564) (38,585) (4,698) (261,439)
Net book amount REFE 6,528 3,268 25,417 1,016 36,229

2024/25 Annual Report | 4 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
.\

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BEREE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Depreciation expense of approximately HK$4,554,000 WESH 44,554,000 t(ZF /U4 -
(2024: HK$4,122,000) was charged to “cost of sales” 4,122,000 7T ) & 493,354,000 7L(— &
and approximately HK$3,354,000 (2024: HK$2,844,000) Z P 1 2,844,000 70 ) D RIRGRE B R
was charged to “general and administrative expenses” HANEERN R —EITHREE A -
in the consolidated income statement.
Notes: B EE -
(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies (i) EREHERS Y RBETHEES Ak B S

attaching to the grants. 8 o

(i) Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the financial (ii) R BFEERBRMEWBEZME - BENRE

year were financed by:

2025 2024

—E-HE —E-_ME

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT T

Payment by cash A& AT 2,818 6,709

Government subsidy ERATHEBL 243 —

Hire purchase liabilities HEEE — 3,480

Transfer from trade receivable A eI BR 5 — 5,562

At end of year RER 3,061 15,751
Net book values of certain machinery which are under hire TELTHBE N A THEVEEESENT -

purchase arrangements are as follows:

2025 2024
—EB-HE —E_ME
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
(D

Cost PR 10,614 10,614
Government subsidy BRATHE AL (243) —
Accumulated depreciation REHINE (2,566) (1,517)
7,805 9,097

The terms of the hire purchase arrangements is for 5 years. THELHZHR A5 -
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REY=E
2025 2024
—®-af Lk
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TERT
At fair value RAREE
At beginning of year REA] 1,281,131 1,376,991
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERTBRER — 127
Fair value loss on investment properties REWE 2 A EBEEIE (25,002) (13,356)
Currency translation differences HHTE N R (9,276) (82,631)
At end of year RER 1,246,853 1,281,131
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income (i) REEHEZRTEIAZRENES
statement for investment properties as follows: I :
2025 2024
—E-RE —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
¢
Rental income Ha A 46,110 45,579
Direct operating expenses REEEHES WA
from properties that ZOHEZEE
generated rental income R (7,814) (8,414)
38,296 37,165
(ii) Non-current assets pledged as security (i) BEHERBEE
Investment property of approximately HK$1,246,550,000 #91,246,550,0008 T 2 & E W (=
(2024: HK$1,280,664,000) was pledged as collaterals T — P04 : 1,280,664,0007 Jr, ) I ##
for certain of the Group's bank borrowings of {E B 7N 5 B #9327,206,000 8 T(Z &
approximately HK$327,206,000 (2024: HK$349,272,000) Z V4 : 349,272,000/ L) E T iR
(Note 31). TER(HFEST) 2 IR -
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15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Accounting policy of investments properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at
its cost, including related transaction costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are
carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections.
Changes in fair values are recorded in profit or
loss.

Valuation technique

As at 31st March 2025, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,246,853,000 (2024:
HK$1,281,131,000) were stated at open market
value based on valuations assessed by an
independent professional qualified valuer and
reviewed by the directors.
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15 REWE(HE)

(iii)

(iv)

REMEZETHE

REYE(ZZERFREELHEET)T)
FIERAESEBREATER —EFHR
B AYWIAAKEER -

BREMENIGREK A E - B
RHRA o ENIRHERR - REVERIR
NABEIIRK - BRERE BB
BEEEZ RFAME - AREENLE
MZERSEE MEFERBEEE
ZWHE - HE SR 2 B EREL
B W EMEAER  AEBEAGRE
ffhEIE - PIANERNERT IS 2 T
ERIMARSREBAE - RREE
HENBRPIIR -

fh{E M

R-ZE-_RAE=A=+—H KREME
#91,246,853,000/8 JL(Z & — /0 F :
1,281,131,000 8 L) NI BT HE S
B EMFT G 2 BEAAFRMEY]R
MHRESERHN -
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REYE(E)
(iv) Valuation technique (Continued) (iv) fEEH (&)
The following table analyses the investment TRAGEZED AR R BEIER 2K
properties carried at fair value, by valuation B o
method.
Fair value hierarchy RAAEBEZER

Fair value measurement at

31st March 2025 using
R-Z-HF=A=+—H
EATHEBETZAABERNE
Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description ALl assets inputs inputs
WERME EXEMGTEHRE EXFAEE
BEEEZHE BAYE BWAYE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—F) (=) (£=18)
HK$°’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THx THET THET
(D
Recurring fair value LEEDAREE
measurement e
— Commercial units —BEET
- Mainland China = IPN — — 1,246,853

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2024 using
R-Z-NE=A=+—H

ERATIBRRETZARBENE
Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description ALl assets inputs inputs
WERBME EXHEMAEHE BRTAEE
BEEEZHRE BAHE WAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—F) (=) (£=R)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET FHET
(D
Recurring fair value KEEDAREE
measurement FTE
— Commercial units —BEEET
- Mainland China — AP B AR — — 1,281,131
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15 REWE(E)
(iv) Valuation technique (Continued) (iv) fEEFM(E)
Fair value measurement using significant REHEA T TERGABEZAAEE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) FEEZE)
ETET |
China
H B K BE
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1st April 2024 RZZF_WMFOA—H 1,281,131
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEZ AR BEEE (25,002)
Currency translation differences EHE X R (9,276)
As at 31st March 2025 RZE—RF=A=+—H 1,246,853
Total unrealised loss for the year included R-E-_RFE=A=+—"HBEE
in the consolidated income statement for RAFEFT ARG BEE
assets held at 31st March 2025 2 AREBEIEEEE (25,002)
As at 1st April 2023 R-ZE-_=FMA—H 1,376,991
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERYBRER 127
Fair value loss on investment properties REYEZ AN BERIE (13,356)
Currency translation differences BHE N (82,631)
As at 31st March 2024 RZZE_MFE=A=+—H 1,281,131
Total unrealised loss for the year included R-ZE-_NME=F=+—HRHEE
in the consolidated income statement for RAFEFT ARG BEE
assets held at 31st March 2024 2 AREE BB (13,356)
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(iv) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the
investment properties in Mainland China are as

BRI

n\/-_]_\

15 REWE(H)
(iv) fEEEM (&)

BHEATTBFEHARBEZ LA EE
FrE(E=F) (&)

BERARPBEAENREMEERERT
ABRBABBR(E=E) A EE
EZERMT

follows:

Fair value (HK$’'000)

As at 31st March 2025
R-ZE-5F=HA=1+—-H

1,246,853 Income capitalisation  Adjusted
approach market
yields
KR E R E KEE )
g%
Direct comparison Adjusted units’
approach rates
BEEREE RRBENER
As at 31st March 2024
RZE_MFE=A=+—H
1,281,131 Income capitalisation ~ Adjusted
approach market
yields
W EARE BRENS
Kamk
Direct comparison Adjusted
approach units’ rates
BEEEE BRBEMER

Valuation
technique

fhE

Unobservable
inputs
THEE
BABE

Range of
unobservable
inputs
TABE
BABEEE

3.50% to 4.00%

3.50% to 4.00%

Car park at
RMB 300,000/space

FEg
AR%300,000 7T,/ =

4.00% to 5.00%

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FUBEEBRABEHE
MEEZBR

The higher the
adopted yields,
the lower the fair value
ERANEEES
MABEBE
The higher the adopted
units’ rates, the higher
the fair value
ERMENERES
MREEES

The higher the
adopted yields, the
lower the fair value

4.00% t05.00% BRMKREHS -
AR EEWE
Car park:  The higher the
RMB300,000/space adopted units' rates,
the higher the fair value
BES: CRAELERES -
AR¥300,0007C,/Ef1 AREEES
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15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iv) Valuation technique (Continued)

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of each financial
year. As at 31st March 2025, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Cushman & Wakefield Limited
(2024: Knight Frank Petty Limited).

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Cushman & Wakefield
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group's
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is
derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between
the comparables and the investment properties
in terms of location, building quality and other
factors.

Adjusted units’ rates

The adjusted units’ rates have been determined
by making reference to the comparable market
transactions of similar properties, with adjustments
to reflect the differences between the comparables
and the investment properties in terms of time,
location, environment and other factors.
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15 REWE(HE)
(iv) fEEM (&)

REYWEN 1A EBE
AREBZEIINBBYL KRG BRGEEME
TREVBREERBENEZANE
B -R-_ZE-_AF=A=+—H @R
SEREZREMEZANBHEDAHE
BRITERAREE(ZTZMF « 3
WRIEMITAR AR °

AEE 2 WP SRS EH AR
BRITARRAREH ZAE - BRAME
BREARKRAAREEIEEER - A5l
HERFRGEEERNAEMET®
Ket@ad

AEBEFRNEEE=EE A KRN
fHIN

RBETHRRRTIE2ENMHEER
S a8 KR E D HR(EHEARRA LR
VEREREMEENE  BFEERE
AR EZER) TAERE °

BABENER
RPEBRBUERDE2EROREDE
ZAHE SRR (KA EIARBRA
BYERREMEERRE  UE  RE
NREMEARTEZER) TAERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
an\ jﬁ&#&&%‘%ﬁﬁ

16 LEASES 16 #HE

This note provides information for leases where the AR R

Group is a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i)
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

L

E(BEREERABAN)ZEHR -

REGaMBRRARBEI 2SR

RAMBRRREINATBBEEHRZ

KIE -

2024
—E-EF
HK$'000
FET
¢

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land use rights + {5 PR #EE 7,807 8,009
Sites, outlets, offices and warehouses TIih - B/ PBAEREE 12,478 32,328
20,285 40,337

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current ED 7,294 19,884
Non-current FETEED 2,054 9,349
9,348 29,233

There was no addition to the right-of-use assets
during the year ended 31st March 2025 (2024:
HK$38,851,000).

@i:;:ﬂi_ﬂ_+ BIEFEE -
EBAEFTAEEE(ZCTE _MF:

38,851 ,000#&7T) °

2024/25 Annual Report |

143



|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R

N

16 LEASES (CONTINUED) 16 AE (&)
(i) FAREEFE

BEHERNEREEERT I EEHERA

(i) Measurement of right-of-use assets

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the

following types of assets:

A

Sites, outlets,

Land use offices and
rights warehouses
Tith - P8
MAERER
HK$'000

T fE AR
HK$'000
TR THET

Total

B
HK$'000
TBT

At 1st April 2023 R_ZT-_=F/MA—A8 8,211 2,785 10,996
Additions NE — 38,851 38,851
Depreciation e (202) (9,292) (9,494)
Exchange differences M =5 = (16) (16)
At 31st March 2024 R PN4F
and 1st April 2024 —A=+—8K

ZEPFMA—H 8,009 32,328 40,337
Depreciation e (202) (19,850) (20,052)
At 31st March 2025 RZZEZREF

—A=+—H” 7,807 12,478 20,285
Note: st

During the year ended 31st March 2024, the Group has entitled RIZE-_NE=A=1+—HItFE  "EFEZH R
rental concession from the landlords. For a lease modification BEITHNHELSER - YR TMEA— BB BHEEET
that is not accounted for a separate lease, the Group remeasures ERIBCHEBE] EEFTNERBE  AEE
the lease liability based on the lease term of the modified lease BEKEIHENTE  BBFERKETAIERY
by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised IETTHEFEETMBUNEHTERERE - &
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The Group EEFRBYABERELSEEITHERE  HHE
accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making BEETENNE THEABRHRFEREEERAR
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets. TR EZERGEEaR Hitlas — 55 g
Any differences between the adjustments of lease liabilities and FAGEIIR

right-of-use assets are recognised in “other gains - net” in the

consolidated income statement (Note 6).

144 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ERAR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

<

16 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

B IR M

n\/-_]_\

16 HE (&)
(iii) AfreBEERERZSHE

RAEBEHERE

FINTERBERE S

()

Notes

B 5E

2024
Lt

HK$ 000
TER

HK$'000
TBT

Depreciation of EREEE

right-of-use assets ZIE
Land use rights TR R 202 202
Sites, outlets, offices Tib /5 WAE

and warehouses rEAE 19,850 9,292

20,052 9,494

Interest expense HEAE

for lease liabilities ZF B 10 1,299 871
Expenses relating to BHRHHEE

short-term leases 53 2,337 5,832

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31st March 2025 was HK$23,520,000 (31st
March 2024: HK$20,083,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various sites, retail outlets,
offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

(iv)

HEREE-_ZT-_RAF=A=1+—H
HFE 2B <R E L% 523,520,000
B ZCZE-_ME=ZA=+—8:
20,083,000 7T) °

AEEZHEEBRASHAR
AEEEERETIY  TEESH WL

ERRE - HESH—RIZETHR—
E=FFU e

MEGFREREERE B8R

T FHER R A6t o FH 5 199 52 3F B fp A0
MRE - EHEEETSRAEEEZR
o o
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17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17 €T ESE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: REBHANTERITEA :

2025 2024
—E-AHF —E-ME

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR THET

J

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REERAY RN SR EE
— Trade and other receivables — FE U AR R A FE UL BR 5K
(excluding non-financial assets) (T BiEEemEE) 379,684 390,820
- Pledged bank deposits —BEFRITER 687 1,804
- Cash and cash equivalents -RekREEE 178,980 145,304
Financial assets at fair value BAREEFAEBR
through profit or loss ZEMEE 2,901 3,914
Financial assets at fair value through RARBEFTAHMEERA
other comprehensive income JERMBEE 2,247 1,745
564,499 543,587
Financial Liabilities =R
Liabilities at amortised cost REER AR 2 Atk
- Borrowings — &8 1,122,617 1,259,501
— Trade and bill payables —ERERAREE 58,366 64,614
— Liabilities under the —HEERELHET
supplier financing arrangements ZBafE 25,798 35,965
- Other payables (excluding — HAEFEER
non-financial liabilities) (T BiEFEama®E) 38,636 41,303
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 9,348 29,233
1,254,765 1,430,616
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal
2025 are as follows:

18

subsidiaries as at 31st March

M :

e B ERR M
g

8 22 =)
R-FB-RF=A=+-BNTENBAA

(J

Name of entity

"EAE

Particulars of issued
LEICRETEU
registered capital
ERITRE
TMER 2 FH

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity

AR RS, BR3 ih B
P5ored 4 dedct

Percentage of equity
attributable
Company

interest
to the

AARE
IR AR AR E 2 H

2025
—EB-HE

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TEXH

RBE I

Hongkong and Shanghai Cayman lIslands, US$5 100% 100% Fund Management
Land Capital Ltd. limited liability company outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEMEEAFRAA HeHS  BRATRA 5%7T REE R BEARER
Hongkong and Shanghai British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Land Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EEESEERAR REELEES  BREELA 1%L REE R BEAERE R
Hongkong and Shanghai Land British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100% Fund Management
Management Limited limited liability company outside Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EEMEERFRANA RERZES  AREELA 1 REE R BEARER
HSL Asset Management Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Provision of management
(HK) Limited limited liability company services in Hong Kong
BEBEER(BR)ERRA B%  BREARARA 1787 REBRREERS
HSL Investment Advisory Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Provision of investment
(HK) Limited limited liability company advisory services
in Hong Kong
BERERABE)ERRA B BREERA 18T RERRBIREFARE
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EHRBRAE RBRZEE  AREELA 100E7T REE KD BEAEREZR
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Mainland China, RMB25,800,000 86.2% 86.2% Stockholding and trading of
International Trading Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company steel in Mainland China
LEEIREREESBRAT FEAE  FREERF AE¥ 25,800,000 7T R B ARREFHRBEERE
Top Bloom Group Limited British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
RERZES  AREELA e REE R BEAEREBZER
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18 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 18 HfEB AR (&)

KRB -_AF=A=+—HBNETENBELQA
FHEWT : (8)

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March
2025 are as follows (Continued):

Particulars of issued

Place of incorporation/

Percentage of equity

Principal activities

establishment and LEICRETEU interest attributable and place
Name of entity kind of legal entity registered capital to the Company of operations
AR RS, BR3 ih B BRITRE ADE R TEXH
"EsH P5ored 4 dedct HMERZFHE RAEEE D RBE I
2025
—EB-HE
(~
Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) British Virgin Islands, US$6 100% 100% Investment holding in
Limited (i) limited liability company Hong Kong
RERZEE  AREMLLA 67T RERREER
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary 100% 100% Provision of management
limited liability company and HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
BIEETTERAR EE BREELHA 2,000 T EBR RERREERRS
10,000,000 7T
BREEELTRH
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company and kitchen cabinet
in Hong Kong
BIEEZEMHARAA % BREMARA 28T REBRBEHAZAREE
VSC Building Products (Macau) Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company in Macau
BIESREME R AR DR P FREELDA SLPI% 30,000 7T RBFEEAAZA
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 100% Provision of steel
Solutions Limited limited liability company processing services
in Hong Kong
BIREREMBTIEERAA EE AREELTA 156,568,000 % 7T RE RSN TR
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100% Stockholding and trading
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 of steel in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
BIEEMBEABRAR R BREAELA 38,0008 7L & @Ak REBFHREERE
% 20,000,000% 7T
ERFEETERN)
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong, and
provision of logistic and
management service
of steel
BIRE @M I THERAER AR EE AREELTA 1387 REBREERR R#HE
REMRREERS
VSC Steel Processing Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100% Operation of the land
limited liability company situated in Tsing Yi
BIEERMMMIBRAR R BREAELA 1% RENRERZ T
EBNROEERERAR Mainland China, RMB479,130,000 100% 100% Property investment

limited liability company

HEAKE - BREERA AR 479,130,000 7T

in Mainland China
RABIREETYREKE
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18 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March
2025 are as follows (Continued):

e B ERR M

s

B 8 B (&)

R-ZE-_RAF=A=+—BHNZENBELQF
FHEWT : (8)

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued

Percentage of equity  Principal activities

establishment and share capital/ interest attributable and place
Name of entity kind of legal entity registered capital

MR,

HEAE REERBEE HMERZFHE

to the Company of operations
NG ) 3 TEXK
BREEZAEDL RE I

2025 2024

—E-RHE | ZBE-NF

(5
FEILREEARAA Mainland China, RMB92,835,165 100% 100% Property investment
limited liability company in Mainland China
HEAKE  ARETAA AR 92,835,165 7T RPBEREETYERE
LEREBAEERARAR Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Provision of asset

limited liability company

and investment
management services
in Mainland China

HEIRKE - EREMERA 720,000,000 7 RABREREEER
REEERS
EFEREELEERAR Mainland China, US$1,000,000 100% 100% Provision of consultancy

limited liability company

services on property and
business management
in Mainland China

FEAE - FREERT 711,000,000 RABERERRERER
PEERHARY
FRBEEE S (L8 BRAR Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
FEAE  EREEAR 6,500,000 % 7T RABAREEEEARA

BIES( LB EEEERRAR Mainland China,
limited liability company

US$7,280,000

100% 100% Provision of management
Service and trading of
steel, sanitary wares
and kitchen cabinets
in Mainland China

HEARKE EREERR 7,280,000 % 7T R BIRFESR (& 32 AR IA K
BENE - SAZAREE
RE=SEMARDA Mainland China, RMB 10,000,000 100% 100% Trading of sanitary wares

limited liability company

FEAE  EREEAA AR 10,000,000 7T

in Mainland China

R BEAEREGAZA

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

Note:

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held
indirectly.

* The English translation of these entities is for reference only. The
official names of the companies established in the PRC are in
Chinese.

RNEMINAEERAEAEERFE 25
REEEXTEFEZARBNNBAR - &
ERANEEMBHMBARZFBEESEARA
RITEK °

B EE -

(i) Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) Limited Z f% 3 B A2
RIEERE - HWB AR 2RO BIBEEE -

* FZEBRBAN 2 B EAEHBR > NP BERILZ
RA] XA REREE
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

B IR M A

Set out below are an associate and a joint venture of
the Group as at 31st March 2025 and 2024. The entities
listed below have share capital consisting solely of

ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group.

Details of the principal investments in an associate and
a joint venture as at 31st March 2025 and 2024 are as

follows:

19 BESBZEARZRE

INTEHINAEBR —_E-_AF R T _NF

=A

=tT—BZ-HBEQRRLR-—RHEER

Ale UTAISIEREAAETRRZEA - B
AEEERRFA -

R-ZF_AFE-_FT-_MF=ZA=+—HZ
—HERR R —HAERRZIEREH
BT

Name of entity

ER2R

Place of business/
Country
establishment/
incorporation

EXBE/

EMK AR
2025

—%-EF

%

Al

RERREZADL
2024

% of ownership interest

Nature of the
relationship

BELE

Measurement

method Carrying amount

kAR

2025
It Stk
HK$’000
TiER

SEAE
2024
“ECME
HK$'000
TBT

(O

HSL Shanghai Office Mainland China/ 15% 15%  Joint venture  Equity 224173 235,598
Partner | Limited British Virgin (Note i) method
("HSQ”) and its Islands
subsidiaries
(collectively as
*HSO Group”)

HSL Shanghai Office REAR,/ U B
Partners | Limited RERUES (H5ED)
(THSO) REME A
(HBHSO£E )

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Mainland China/ 5% 5%  Associate Equity 43,229 45,583
Limited (“Skyline”) British Virgin (Note ii) method
and its subsidiaries Islands
(collectively as
“Skyline Group”)

Skyline Holdings (BVI) ~ HEIAR/ BEAT B
Limited ([ Skyline J) EBRAHS (W)
REKEAR
(GiF8ISkyline £E )

Total investments 267,402 281,176

accounted for using the
equity method
WEREARNREEE

HSO Group and Skyline Group are private entities with no quoted

price available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and
fund management business in Mainland China and is owned as
to 15% by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62%
owned subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria
Private Limited ("RECQ”) (an independent third party).

As at 31st March 2025, Plentiful has contributed capital,
aggregated to US$39,379,000 (2024: US$38,081,000). According
to the shareholders agreement of HSO Group, in the event
that further capital is required for the operation of HSO Group,
the Group would have to contribute up to approximately
HK$102,084,000 (2024: HK$112,814,000) upon request.

The indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company have
entered into management service agreements with HSO Group
for providing management service. The management service
income is disclosed in related party transaction (Note 38).

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment
and fund management business in Mainland China and is
owned as to 95% by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (“Apollo”)
(an independent third party) and 5% by Top Bloom Group
Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company). As at 31st March 2025, Top Bloom has
contributed capital, aggregated to US$10,110,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$79,384,000 (2024: US$10,030,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$78,758,000). The indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company have entered
into management service agreements with Skyline Group for
providing management service. The management service income
is disclosed in related party transaction (Note 38).

The movements of interests in associates and joint
ventures are as follows:

e B ERR M

>3

19 BEBZEARZREE)

B EE -

(if)

HSOSBE X ZERFRAENREFHERERES
BEER  EHMEMARQR(ER] XA a
HH62% 2 MEWEB QA ) %A 15% & B Reco
Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] @ BB Y $=
T HEH85% °

RZZTE-_AF=RA=+—H EHEcH#EE
39,379,000% Jt(=— = — I 4 : 38,081,0003%
JL) o IRIBEHSOS BB EHE - MEHSOERE
MEBEEZES  AAKEARERHEERSH
102,084,000/ jo(= & = /9 4 : 112,814,000 7%
TT) °

ARAMEZ2EREFAME AR EHSOKREET
TERRB G RERHEERY - EERBK
ABBER R 25 (MiE38) °

Skylne SEBXZRFPEAAERERHERE R
E S ES X H A Apollo Skyline Holding
Limited ([Apollo] + BB E=7)#H5 95% K H
Top Bloom Group Limited ([Top Bloom | » A&7%
AEEEEZENBAREAS% - R=ZT_AF=
A=+—8 " Top BloomE& & 4 & 10,110,000
EL(FER#H79,384,000/87C ) (=T M4 :
10,030,000 JT (A8 & R £978,758,000 8 T ) ° &<
ARMEEEEHEH B A RC & Skyline £@E 5T
TERRB RS - NRHEERS - EERBWA
R R SR B (M EE38) ©

“ECRE —EINE

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

At beginning of year ) 281,176 313,118
Share of loss of investments accounted JEIEILHEREARZ

for using the equity method wEFBE (19,641) (22,750)

Contributions & 10,732 12,202

Currency translation differences HHEIE N =T (4,865) (21,394)

At end of year RER 267,402 281,176
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19 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

19 BEBZEARZREE)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate

BEQARARBEQNRUBERMRE

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the joint venture and the associate that
are material to the Group. The information disclosed
reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the relevant joint venture and associate
and not the Group’s share of those amounts.

TEREABASEMEBERZZAZRALK
BMERRZHBEHNME - IEREZEHKR
BRE2FIN AR S & AR K2 QR M B ERK
A2 MIAEEZEBESE -

HSO(Note (i)
HSO (Fffzk (i)

Skyline(Note (ii))
Skyline (HfzE (ii))

2025 2024 2024 2023
ZECHE

—F—=

31st December

t=A=t-H

—E-ME
31st March
=ZA=t-H

—ECME
31st December

+=A=+-8

31st March
=F=+—F§H

HK$’000
TiEn

HK$'000
TARL

HK$’000
Tign

HK$'000
TAT

()

Summarised statement of HERREHE

financial position
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEE 34,129 27,610 67,501 80,666
Other current assets Htng&eE 24,261 28,592 26,052 26,266
Total current assets MEEERE 58,390 56,202 93,553 106,932
Financial liabilities and SREER

total current liabilities nEEEER (558,219) (61,458) (879,301) (193,742)
Investment properties REME 3,606,970 3,762,220 1,430,981 1,487,624
Other non-current assets HipEREEE 1 1 1,703,113 1,851,452
Total non-current assets ERBEELS 3,606,971 3,762,221 3,134,094 3,339,076
Other non-current liabilities EtERBAR (1,612,658) (2,186,346) (1,483,596) (2,353,120)
Net assets BEZHE 1,494,484 1,570,619 864,750 899,146
Summarised statement of 2EERE

comprehensive income HE
Revenue WA 129,078 125,925 275,522 250,811
Fair value loss on RENEZDAEE

investment properties g (128,619) (70,409) (2,716) (178,633)
Finance income BEMA 1,011 1,024 - —
Finance cost HBER (101,942) (115,831) (101,323) (111,741)
Loss before tax BREiAIEE (161,222) (99,477) (49,841) (266,473)
Income tax credit FEHER 32,155 17,602 44,388 57,096
Loss for the year FEER (129,067) (81,875) (5,453) (209,377)
Currency translation differences ERELES (14,441) (132,313) (53,978) (30,463)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2HEEEE (143,508) (214,188) (59,431) (239,840)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint
venture and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information for
individually material joint venture and associate

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in the joint venture and the associate.

B IR M

n\/-_]_\

>3

19 BESEARZRE(E)

BEQAARBEQNAMBERRE(E)

EFIEAEERAIRBERAIZHBEHHE
#Hik

FrERMBENBERAEER
BENB S RE SRR

ABATR

—E-MF
HK$'000
FET
Summarised financial information HBEEREE
Net assets at beginning of year REN 2 BEFHE 2,482,285 2,814,803
Capital injection by shareholders R TFE
(Note (iii)) (B &% i) 79,895 121,406
Loss for the year FERIE (134,520) (291,252)
Currency translation differences EHEIE N =R (68,426) (162,672)
Net assets at end of year RERZEEFE 2,359,234 2,482,285
Investments accounted for fFAREREAR
using the equity method ZIE
— Carrying value —BRMEE 267,402 281,176

Notes:

(i)

HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2025, the fair value of
the investment property was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (2024: Same).

At 31st March 2025, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of HSO’s subsidiaries in the PRC amounted
to HK$81,367,000 (2024: HK$164,234,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of HK$4,068,000 (2024: HK$8,212,000) have not been
recognised in its consolidated statement of financial position
in respect of the withholding tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as HSO controls the dividend
policy of its PRC subsidiaries and it has been determined that
it is probable that such retained profits will not be distributed in
the foreseeable future.

Wi -

()  HSOZREEIEBILAERMEER - AT R K
FRFREREMEZARBE R_F-_RF=H
=+—B  REVEZAABERBMEBITEET
HRFEAERAREE(ZT_MF - HR) -

RZFEZAF=A=+—H HSORFEK
BE2HBARSRADREN ZEREZEA
81,367,000 jT(— & — PO £ : 164,234,000

JT) o MR HSO 2 %% & Fh BIAREMT B A RIA AR
B BEDREEANRBRTAEKEZSRE
A - B ARELR S MBI R R A B E 75k

ZERBHFFIEMTENFENS RNEEHESR
& 4,068,000 #7C(=Z =44 : 8,212,000/87T) °
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19

BB WK

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
for individually material joint venture and associate
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(iif)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |

The financial year of this associate is not conterminous with
that of the Group and the financial statements used for equity
accounting are for the years ended 31st December 2024 and
2023. This associate uses 31st December as its financial year
end, which is conformed with its holding company’s reporting
date. Subsequent to the financial year ended 31st December
2024 (2024: 31st December 2023) and before the Group’s
year end date of 31st March 2025 (2024: 31st March 2024), no
further injection has been made by Top Bloom to Skyline (2024:
injection of US$80,000 which is equivalent to HK$626,000 to
Skyline which contributed to the net assets shared by the Group
as at 31st March 2024).

As at 31st March 2025 and 2024, Skyline engages external,
independent and qualified valuer, Cushman & Wakefield Limited,
to determine the fair value of the investment properties as at 31st
December 2024 and 2023 and 31st March 2025 and 2024. No
significant change in fair value during the subsequent period to
31st March 2025.

During the year ended 31st March 2025, Top Bloom and Apollo
made a capital injection in the form of shareholder loans for
Skyline, totalled to US$1,600,000 which is approximately to
HK$12,523,000 (2024: US$7,700,000 which is approximately
to HK$60,289,000). These shareholder loans are interest free
and the repayment of which requires an unanimous approval of
all directors of Skyline. As such, these shareholder loans are
regarded as part of the investment in the associate. During the
year ended 31st March 2025, Plentiful and RECO made a capital
injection, aggregated to US$8,651,000 which is approximately to
HK$67,372,000 (2024: US$7,812,000 which is approximately to
HK$61,117,000).

BEBEERERAR

19 BEBZEARZREE)

BELARRBE

DR M BENBE(EH)

FIEAEERAIRBERAIZHBERHE
#Hik (&)

B EE -

(if)

(iii)

(%)

FEE R R 2 RFEERNEE TR Eﬁﬁ%aﬁﬁﬁ
DERAEREIE RERE-_T_NER=

—=F+ZA=+—BIFE- Eﬂé‘ﬁ“”?%)ﬂ
ToAZ+—HEREMBEEFER - AEEE
R E R HRE BB %&i—g—mi+—

A=+—HLEVBFE(ZZE_=F: ZT=-=F
T A=+ —R)BRRAEEHE-_T_HF=
A=+—H&#R (2T -_mF: —T-_MWF=A

=+—H)AT * Top Bloom3f 38 A [A Skyline 3 —
# 7% (2024 : 7 A 80,0003 7t (#1 & 626,000 %
T BRRZE-NE=A=1+—BAREEES
BEFE) -

R-ZZ_AFER-_F_ME=ZF=+—8"
Skyline ZRE SN L [ & & & (4 (B A0 & 12 R 1T
BRAREER _ZE-_NFR_ZF_=F+=A
=t+t—BR-ZF-_AFER-_F_NF=A=t+—
AREMENAABHE RBE_T= ﬁi H
=+t AMRENR  AREBELEEAE

REBEZZ-_RAF=A=+—HIEFE Top
Bloom N Apollo bA & 8 B¢ B & 3k = 17 Skyline
& # ¥ &1,600,000% st(fH & 712,523,000
B )(Z & Z M- 7,700,000%73 HE R
60,289,000/ 7T) - ZEWBRERBEE - zs'-‘i?x
/,\Z%Skyl|ne%%§$ BEE - ALt - ZERE

BRWEARBHEARREZ —35 - REEZT
—HAFE=A=1t—HILEE EHKRECOMNM
Hsoc./\&ﬁa 651,000 % 7T (#8& 7 67,372,000
B )(ZZFE M F:7,812,000E€ 7t HER
61,117,000,%7z>
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 20 EEFEBHEE(BE)
(LIABILITIES)
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset EAEKAHAEHEERNPMEREE
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset WA 7 A FR T - AR E R — ik
current income tax assets against current income tax ML ER T T e FRERH T EFEL
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets S EENMELEMSHREBEBKAETR
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same HbhEE&ES ISR EESTER BT
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different EHREEHEBE T EEKE - EELED
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the T :
balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as
follows:

2024
“ENE
HK$’000
FRT
(Y
Deferred income tax assets: REMSHEE
- Deferred income tax assets expected —FAHER+ @A %BIKE 2
to be recovered after 12 months BEMEMEE 11,237 15,139
- Deferred income tax assets expected —FEHEH+ —EARWE >
to be recovered within 12 months BEMEMEE 33,866 14,354
45,103 29,493
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEMSHREE
— Deferred income tax liabilities —FBHER T ZEARBEZ
expected to be settled after BEFTEHAE
12 months (80,679) (86,228)
Net deferred income tax liabilities BEFTER B E TR (35,576) (56,735)
The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are ELEFEHRAEFHEEHNT ¢
as follows:

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NE

HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TBT

(1)
At beginning of year REAT (56,735) (59,235)
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated B RE&RAEBZEERFRETA(30K%)
income statement (Note 11) (BFEE11) 20,589 (3,184)
Currency translation differences EMEN =5 570 5,684
At end of year RER (35,576) (56,735)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 20 EEFIEHEE (BE)(E)
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

The movements in deferred income tax assets REBELEMEHEERAB(WES KR —
and liabilities during the year, without taking into MIS AR A2 AR 2 8T -

consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets: BEFTBMREE :

Cumulative Decelerated Lease
tax losses depreciation liabilities Others Total

R AR HERE HESRE Hite #st

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER

At 1st April 2023 fﬁé:gi:i@ﬂ H 34,296 8,038 862 = 43,196
(Charged)/credited to the REABRRT

consolidated income statement (Tﬂﬂﬁ)/ A (8,086) (893) 4,619 — (4,360)
Currency translation differences S#[E £ (93) = — — (93)
At 31st March 2024 RZZ-_ME=A=+—-H 26,117 7,145 5,481 — 38,743
Credited/(charged) to the ERGRABREERT

consolidated income statement 5t A//(1B) 15,897 (958) (3,259) — 11,680
Currency translation differences SH¥EH =5 (8) — — — (8)
At 31st March 2025 RZE-_RF=A=1+—H 42,006 6,187 2,222 = 50,415
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFTSHIBE -

Investment Accelerated Right-of-use
properties depreciation assets Others Total

RENE mERE ERAEEE Hit At

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER

At 1st April 2023 R-E-=FMmA—A (97,622) (3,713) (410) (686)  (102,431)
Credited/(charged) to the ERGABRRR

consolidated income statement 5t A/(1%) 6,168 (225) (4,901) 134 1,176
Currency translation differences S#EN =% 5,777 — — — 5,777
At 31st March 2024 RZEZMF=A=+—H (85,677) (3,938) (5,311) (552) (95,478)
Credited/(charged) to the ERERABREERT

consolidated income statement A/ (31%) 6,251 685 3,253 (1,280) 8,909
Currency translation differences S¥EX Z% 578 — — — 578
At 31st March 2025 RZZ-RF=A=+-8 (78,848 (3,253) (2,058) (1,832)  (85,991)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/

(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

As at 31st March 2025, investment properties located
in the Mainland China amounted to HK$1,246,853,000
(2024: HK$1,281,131,000) are held by certain
subsidiaries with a business model to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. The Group has measured the deferred tax relating
to the temporary differences of these investment
properties using the tax rates and the tax bases that
are consistent with the expected manner of recovery of
the investment properties.

At 31st March 2025, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiary companies
amounted to HK$185,236,000 (2024: HK$198,117,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$9,262,000 (2024:
HK$9,906,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Group controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiary companies and
it has been determined that it is probable that such
retained profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2025, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$40,898,000 (2024: HK$24,670,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$1,108,000 (2024: HK$1,447,000) will
expire in five years from the year they were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of approximately HK$13,438,000 (2024:
HK$40,502,000) and approximately HK$2,680,000
(2024: HK$4,237,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately HK$81,441,000
(2024:HK$245,467,000) that can be carried forward
indefinitely and approximately HK$10,719,000
(2024:HK$16,948,000) that will be expired in five years
from the year they were incurred respectively.

20 EEFEHEE (&F) (&)

—E-_RE=A=+—HB & TH
ELARRBENRPBRAEZREMES
511,246,853,000% (= & — I &F:
1,281,131,000/8 ) - EEHE A BER
FRAREMEBANIDEERLZ  MIEBB
MELE - AEENERSREMERTR
B R ERE R RIEE Y ETE B ARk
MR E R -

iy

R-ZZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 WEBRAFFMYS
TR 9K 4 F) 2 8 By 1 2= %8 & 185,236,000
@ﬁ(:%—mi 198,117,000/ 7T ) » H
RAEEZEHZEMNBARNREREK - B
/H\EJQEET%H#XTTT /)fe FZER
Eéljﬁ_ﬁ.iﬁj gﬁ(lﬂiﬁgm /)E;A:{%
EE.;@%IJWEH%RIEFW/F&E’J EFIE B E
9,262,000/ Jt.(= = — 4 4 : 9,906,000 %
JC) °

BEEAMBSHEAENHAEABREANZBERR
REFRREFEIE M ATEE 2 HIEEIBE
MR -MN_TE_RAFZA=Z+—H BnH
HEBERZIELESH & E# 40,898,000
(= F Z M4 - 24,670,000 7T ) A] A
ERALEE - R T HHEBBER BT
B EE# 1,108,000 7L (= T — U £ -
1,447,000 L) KREEFERAFRE KX
3 o

N5 B 37 #E 5t 4981,441,0008 L (= — 11
1 245,467,000/8 7T ) A] LAEE R HR 45 82 2
FRIEE 18 A % 4910,719,0008 gt (— &2 =Y
% 116,948,000/ 7T ) < Fi 18 B B (X 5 K
HEREEFERAFERII) D AIERL
13,438,000 jo( = = = /8 4F : 40,502,000
77T ) LA N 492,680,000 JT (= F — U 4F ¢
4,237,000 8 T0) ZIBELEFTBRREE ©

2024/25 Annual Report | 4

157



{

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

A

158

21 BEAREBEEFARMEZHKAZ

21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME EEEE
2024
—E-IMEF
HK$'000
FET
e
At beginning of year REF] 1,745 4,652
Change in fair value recognised in other REAMEFEWARERZ
comprehensive income (Note 34) N EEEEH(MHiE34) 502 (2,907)
At end of year RER 2,247 1,745
Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive BARBEAEMEAKAZEREEIR
income, which is stated at fair value and denominated in NABEIERLIAETE  ERBERS
HK$, represents shares listed on The Stock Exchange of BT b2 P&fp
Hong Kong Limited.
22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 BARBEFABEZEMEE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2025 2024
—B-EHF —F-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
()
Unlisted securities FELEHES

At beginning of year REH] 3,914 3,701

Unrealised fair value (loss)/gain BANEBEFABG SBREE
on financial assets at FVPL RERDNABEER) W (1,013) 213
2,901 3,914

At end of year RER

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which is stated at fair value and denominated in
US$, represents the Group’s investments in a private
company incorporated in Hong Kong. For information
about the fair value measurement, please refer to Note
3.3 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B WA

23 INVENTORIES

23 FE

n\/-_]_\

<

J

2025
e R

HK$’000
TERT

2024
—E-ME
HK$'000
FET

Finished goods K 337,525 374,076
Work in progress T8 E 5,358 6,510

342,883 380,586
The costs of inventories recognised as expenses #91,626,531,000% (= & — g F:

and included in “cost of sales”
income statement amounted to approximately

in the consolidated

HK$1,626,531,000 (2024: HK$1,799,193,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net

realisable value. As at 31st March 2025, there is a

provision of HK$11,928,000 (2024: HK$9,847,000)

netted off with the inventories in the consolidated

statement of financial position.
write-down of inventories of HK$2,120,000 (2024:
“cost of sales” in the

HK$846,000) was included in
consolidated income statement.

24 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

A provision for

o EBEFA

B=E

24 FEWERE

N
A

R

1,799,193,0008 70) 2 T EM A E R A
BaRZ[HEERA |F o

$EIE¢E1&HTT—““HET S BB AT E R
BIHFE NR_TE-_RAF=A=+—
'11,928,000/%7EE|’]%§‘1%(—§ PO 4
9,847,000/ L) W EEE A
bO—IET_'{b

BRI R P TF
SBEB M 2 2,120,000 7T (=
T PO : 846,000 7T ) Bt ASRAIBR R
Z[SHERAF o

2025
—2ChRF

HK$°000
THERT

2024
ZEoRE
HK$'000
TR

Trade receivables UK BR 3R
— from third parties F=F 358,353 375,943
— from an associate (Note 38) — —MEE AR (M 38) 10,884 3,925
— from a joint venture (Note 38) ——RE&aE AR (MFE38) 343 321
Bill receivables EWER 9,256 5,918
Less: Provision for impairment B RER (17,810) (15,312)
Trade and bill receivables — net FEURBR A R =45 — /558 361,026 370,795
Less: Non-current W, - JERNER (8,627) (3,718)
Trade and bill receivables under MEEEANZ

current assets e S S E S 352,399 367,077
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ArE BT R AR M R

L

24 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open
account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice
date is as follows:

24 BYURAREE(E)

HEBAERELAEERNFO0EIET
FRRT AT -

RUERARRBERBEEZRHZRES TN
B

2025 2024

—ECRF —E-mE

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FE T

0 to 60 days 0% 60H 240,431 288,966
61 to 120 days 61%& 120 H 57,189 48,620
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 17,253 11,612
181 to 365 days 1812 365 H 31,249 14,298
Over 365 days 3@ 365 H 32,714 22,611
378,836 386,107
Less: Provision for impairment B BB (17,810) (15,312)
361,026 370,795

Classification as trade and bill receivables PEAEBRRRE

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due from
customers for goods received or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer),
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and bill receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the aging from billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B R AR Y R
s

24 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 24 FEWERAKRERE(H)
(CONTINUED)
Classification as trade and bill receivables THEAEEWEFNEE(§)

(Continued)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and FEURBR N M =i R E R EE E T ¢
bill receivables are as follows:

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-NE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FiBx
At beginning of year REH] 15,312 18,929
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment, net Fi{E#& &, ([E14 ) %58 2,597 (2,404)
Write-off during the year as uncollectible 4 R $4 A7 7] Y [@l — (219)
Currency translation differences HHEIE N AR (99) (994)
At end of year RER 17,810 15,312
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables EWEFRREERE L ERSEEER-F
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2025 —HERZZE-_MNF=A=t+—HZAREE
and 2024. =
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables EWERRERFE I RESENTIER
were denominated in the following currencies: g :

2025 2024
“EC-RE —EmE

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FRxT

HK$ BT 244,938 277,900
RMB AR 107,461 88,970
Us$ ETT 8,627 3,925
361,026 370,795
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25 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25 FEATERIE - e R HMFEWES
RECEIVABLES
2024
—ENE
HK$'000
FET
Prepayments for purchases TR EREE IR 27,509 41,544
Prepayments for purchase of TR BE B e kIR
machineries 128 —
Value-added tax recoverable A Y [E] (AR 2,781 3,231
Rental and other deposits HekEtize 13,213 13,098
Others EAh 7,151 8,775
50,782 66,648
Less: Non-current R FERNER (15,311) (15,199)
Current BN ER 35,471 51,449
The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables e REMEWER VEEDSREEEN_-F

B IR M A

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2025
and 2024 and were denominated in the following

currencies:

—HER-FT-_NF=ZRA=+—HZARE

BE%E - WATIEEE :

2025 2024
“ECEF —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FET
HK$ BT 15,055 16,777
RMB ARE 5,309 5,096
20,364 21,873
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

26 EIEKFRITETR

B IR M

n\/-_]_\

<

K RERREE
|

2024
—F_MF

HK$'000
TET

Cash on hand FEE® 237 178
Cash at bank SRITTERK 179,430 146,930

179,667 147,108
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BEIRRITE R (687) (1,804)
Cash and cash equivalents B kIReEE 178,980 145,304

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in the following currencies:

EEMRTERANRBESMASFEAUTIE
BarE

2025 2024

“ECEF —E-EF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

HK$ BT 96,358 72,998
RMB AR 62,492 57,526
us$ ETT 20,767 16,535
Others EHAth 50 49
179,667 147,108

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and EEHEETEF LR SR ESEEZER
cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair SHEHAN S —_FELR-_ZT-_WE=A

values as at 31st March 2025 and 2024.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 3.7%
(2024: 4.9%) per annum. These deposits have an
average maturity of 48 days (2024: 31 days).

As at 31st March 2025, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$687,000 (2024: HK$1,804,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

As at 31st March 2025, pledged bank deposits and
cash and bank deposits totalling approximately
HK$56,331,000 (2024: HK$42,016,000) and
HK$494,000 (2024: HK$1,522,000) were kept in banks
in Mainland China and denominated in RMB and HK$
respectively. These funds are not freely convertible in
the international market with exchange rate determined
by the People’s Bank of China.

=+—HBZARBERE -

THERZEBANEAEBSFIT%(ZE M
¢-4.9%> ZEGFRHFHEEAE A48 H
(ZE-WF :318) »

R-ZE_RAF=ZA=+—"H8 x£E8H
R 17 17 3 49687,000/8 ;t(= T — /Y & :
1,804,000 L) EMIFE AR S BENRE
2R o

R-ZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 BEHFRITE
FA R & RIRITF KA 456,331,000
B t(= Z = I F : 42,016,000 T ) &
494,000 (= Z =4 : 1,522,000/87T)
TR B RERITIED BIAA R KB
B WEEBTTREERBEMEEHLRR
HERBABEARBITERE °
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27 TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES 27 ENERIAREE

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 60
days.

B 2 MG A ERAE S A EEH
?LsoieoElTﬁznaE—EHT 1T o

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice

RNERERRBRRIEER B2 MREE D0

date is as follows:

T

2025 2024

—E-RF —ECNF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FET

0 to 60 days 0Z60H 58,167 60,981
61 to 120 days 612120 H 137 29
121 to 180 days 121 £180H — 640
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H — 2,040
Over 365 days #B3A 365 H 62 924
58,366 64,614
The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables FENEFRLREE EREHRER S —_1F

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2025
and 2024. They were denominated in the following

currencies:

A—ZZ-_NF=A=+t—HZAREEN
H o BNERIEZEBRATIEREE

2024
—mE
HK$'000
FET
HK$ BT 7,299 14,991
RMB AR 4,261 3,295
US$ ETT 46,806 46,328
58,366 64,614
164 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBBA1ERBR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 LIABILITIES UNDER SUPPLIER FINANCE

ARRANGEMENTS

The Group has entered into certain supplier finance
arrangements with a bank and an independent vendor
(“the Vendor”) and the liabilities under supplier
finance arrangements as of 31st March 2025 was
HK$25,798,000 (2024: HK$35,965,000). Under
these arrangements, the bank and the Vendor, pay
suppliers the amounts owed by the Group. The Group’s
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on
settlement by the relevant bank and Vendor. The Group
then settles with the bank and Vendor between 90 and
180 days after their settlement with the suppliers with
interest ranges from 5.66% to 6.91% (2024: 6.91% to
7.35%) per annum. These arrangements have extended
the payment terms.

The interest expense of the Group’s supplier finance
arrangements (Note 10) are as follows:

e B ERR M

>

28 HEBRMEZHETZ2AE

ANEBME—FRIT R — B E (8
ADEETETHESRREZE RZ2F
“hAFZA=+—H8 HEERELZHET
2 B & &25798,000/8 T(=Z — /4 & :
35,965,000 7L) - REZEZELZH T RITR
RN AEBE S EER 2 X EHE
IRITREEEMNRE  ANEEHHERAN
REBEEMRIE - RIEEFWHRE A&
EHZRIOE 180 A ZEERF B X [HERTT
M E - FFHERT566%26.91% (=
TPE  6.91% £ 7.35%) - RELHIER
1 SRERBR -

755 B 4 B P L A T2 2 L8 5 (PEE 10)
T

Denominated in

2025 2024
—E-RE

SR1
HK$'000
F87

HK$’000
TET

Interest rate per annum

“H R
uUSD Secured Overnight Financing

Rate plus 1.25%

(2024: Same) 1,205 2,190
e RAEFB B E N RN 1.25%

—T[0% 48R
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29 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 29 EFAEREMEMERRK
PAYABLES
2024
—E-MEF
HK$'000
FET
Accrual for employee benefit expenses JEFTHEE @A H 33,245 31,229
Accrual for operating expenses JERHE A 26,579 28,773
Rental deposits received BWEELS 12,057 12,530
Value-added tax payables FERTIGERE 1,782 3,366
73,663 75,898
Less: Non-current R SERNER (9,066) (11,633)
Current BN ER 64,597 64,265
The carrying amounts of financial liabilities in accrued ErraEREMEMERRIZSREBERT
liabilities and other payables approximated their fair ﬁgﬁ;ﬁiﬁﬁf\_?_ﬁiﬁ_?_mi A
values as at 31st March 2025 and 2024 and were = t+—AZAREBEESE LA TIEET
denominated in the following currencies: B :

2024
—EoME
HK$'000
FE T
HK$ BT 12,486 19,535
RMB AR 26,090 21,678
Us$ ETT 60 90
38,636 41,303
30 PROVISIONS 30 #&BE

2024
—TCNF

HK$'000
TR

e
Provision for onerous contracts BEZY) 2 BE 2,722 316
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A B R AR Y R
S
30 (&)
AEEREZZEHNT

30 PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)

Movements on the Group’s provision are as follows:

Onerous
contracts

BEZY

HK$’000
TR

At 1st April 2023 RZE-_=FMA—H 24,687 1,189 25,876
Reversal of provision F (A [E
during the year BiE (24,371) (521) (24,892)
Utilisation A — (668) (668)
At 31st March 2024 RZZE-mMFE=A=+—H 316 — 316
Provision during the year F B 2,406 — 2,406
At 31st March 2025 RZE-_RAF=A=+—-H 2,722 — 2,722
31 BORROWINGS 31 B&
2025
—E-RE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FBT BT
()
Current B ER
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) —EFEBIERITER() 691,183 691,193
— Short-term bank loans (i) — R HISRTTE () 95,058 145,584
— Current portion of long-term —RHESBITERZ A S -
bank loans, secured (ii) B (i) 15,301 68,049
— Current portion of hire purchase —HEaE Y
liability, secured (iii) B (i) 1,669 1,584
— Other loans (iv) —HMEK (iv) 3,570 9,737
806,781 916,147
Non-current JEENEA
- Long-term bank loans, secured (ii) —RERITER - BEM (i) 311,905 334,180
— Hire purchase liability, secured (iii) —MHBEaE - AEM i) 2,294 3,967
— Other loan (iv) —H M E K (iv) 1,637 5,207
315,836 343,354
Total borrowings BERE 1,122,617 1,259,501
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31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31 BE(E)
Notes: hEs:
(i) As at 31st March 2025, trust receipts bank loans and short-term (i) RZZEZRAF=A=+—0 " GERlRERITER

bank loans were secured by the pledge of the Group’s corporate
guarantee (2024: Same).

(i) As at 31st March 2025, the long-term bank loans of (i)

approximately HK$327,206,000 (2024: HK$349,272,000) were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s investment property of
approximately HK$1,246,550,000 (2024: HK$1,280,664,000)
(Note 15) and corporate guarantee. As at 31st March 2024,
the remaining current portion of long-term bank loans of
approximately HK$52,957,000 were secured by corporate
guarantee and Group's equity interests in certain subsidiaries.

(iii) ~ The Group has certain machinery financed by hire purchase (iii)
arrangement. The rights to the assets will revert to the
financier only in the event of a default of the terms under these
agreements.

L%ﬁﬁ%m@ﬂ%@#ﬁ#ﬁﬁW>77E¢
=RA=+—A:#ER)-

RZZT-_RF=A=+—H " #327,206,000%
TL(ZZT M4 : 349,272,0008 ) 2 REJRITE
R ANEE 4 1,246,550,000 8 7T 2 I E Y £ E 1
—Z 4 : 1,280,664,0007870) (HE15) K&
EEFELGH N T-_WE=ZA=+—H " ®%
#752,957,000 % jT By K B SR 17 B R BN B0 15 B &
EERLAEENE THEBE AR MOER R o

AEEBEETHEBLZE TREBENES -8
BEENRIRERZEHARTORRES SRR
TREA -

2025
—B-RE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
(D
Gross hire purchase liabilities HEEEEE
— minimum lease payments —RIEEERK
Not later than 1 year TER1F 1,814 1,832
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years BN FETERSF 2,403 4,256
4,217 6,088
Future finance charges on hire purchase THENRRGEER (254) (537)
3,963 5,051
Total present value of hire purchase HESENERE
is as follows: mE
Not later than 1 year TER1F 1,669 1,584
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years EBR1FETERSF 2,294 3,967
3,963 5,651
(iv) As at 31st March 2025, other loan represents loans from (iv) R-ZZE-AF=A=+—80 HEtEZIEkXE—H

a financial institution denominated in HK$ (2024: loans
denominated in US$ and HK$ respectively), unsecured and
repayable by quarterly instalments in accordance with the
repayment schedule as stipulated in the loan agreement until
September 2026 (2024: until March 2025 and September 2026
respectively). The loan bears interest at floating rate.
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31 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31 EE(E)
The maturity of the Group's borrowings in accordance NEBFBEESEERBEFERAXR 2B B R W
with the repayment schedule: T

2024
—E-ME
HK$'000
FET
Within one year 16A 806,781 916,147
Between one and two years 15224 28,542 25,180
Between two and five years 2FEBHF 103,254 93,950
Over five years HBiE 5 184,040 224,224
1,122,617 1,259,501

Borrowings were denominated in the following BEATAE®EE :

currencies:

2024
—EE
HK$'000
FBx
HK$ BIT 750,354 843,479
RMB ARE 372,263 409,855
Us$ = — 6,167
1,122,617 1,259,501

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) RRER - BEZEBRIER(EF)WT

at the reporting dates are as follows:

J

HK$ BTT 6.2% 6.2%
RMB AEEE 3.6% 4.8%
USs$ ET 7.5% 5.2%
All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2025 RZEZRFR-Z-_MF=A=+—8 -
and 2024 are on floating rate basis and the carrying AEBMBEEEHRZIHFRFEREEZ
amounts of the borrowings approximated their fair EEEMSBEEENAEBEMRS °

values.
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31

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 31 RE(&)
The Group has the following floating rate undrawn AEEEUTARRZEEERE !
borrowing facilities:
2024
Lk
HK$'000
FET
(5

— expiring within one year ——FAEH 961,235 825,437
961,235 825,437

Loan covenants

Under the terms of the non-current borrowings, which
had carrying amounts of HK$311,905,000 (2024:
HK$334,180,000) as of 31st March 2025, E&4N&ED
XEEFRAF (“MNR") and EELEEEERAR (4t
£&”), the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, are required to comply with the following
financial covenants at the end of each annual period:

° the current ratio must not be less than 1.0, and

e the net operating cash flow must be positive
during the year.

NAE and 3t& have complied with these covenants
throughout the reporting period. As at 31st March
2025, the current ratio of & and 1t& was 1.1 and
1.7 respectively. For the year ended 31st March 2025,
the net operating cash flow was RMB23,136,000 and
RMB5,765,000 for & and 1t & respectively.

There is no indicator that & and 3t& would have
difficulties complying with the covenants when they will
be next tested as at next annual reporting date.
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& m o Bl A AR 23,136,000 7T F1 A R #
5,765,000 7T ©

BRERBETNBNILEANTFERSH
BRI - 2B IABTZRLEK
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32 SHARE CAPITAL 32 B
Authorised Issued and fully paid
(Ordinary shares of (Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each) HK$0.10 each)
EE ERTRBE
(BR0.10BT2EBR) (BR0.10BTZEER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
BRHEE HE RHEE HfE
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
TR THET T FHET
As at 31st March 2023 R-ZE-_=%=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,414 64,041
Less: Repurchase o EERE — — (1,810) (181)
As at 31st March 2024 RZZE-_WMF=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 638,604 63,860
Less: Repurchase B BRI — — (2,096) (210)
As at 31st March 2025 R-ZE-_AF=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 636,508 63,650
During the year ended 31st March 2025, the Company HE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILFE T2
repurchased and cancelled the ordinary shares on The AR AR SO R H T AR M
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows: T

Number Highest Lowest Aggregate
of shares price paid price paid consideration
Month of purchase B8 A & repurchased per share per share paid

cI) =163 BRxft CEARELE
BROBA BEE BEE  (HREXA)
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$’000
TH’ BT BT TR

J

July 2024 “T-NFE+LA 896 0.245 0.236 215
August 2024 “E-FENAR 1,200 0.250 0.243 299
The transaction costs incurred during the share ROBEMEE s XHEANGAERED
repurchase were booked under “Other reserves” in the T2 EMFEE IR -

consolidated statement of changes of equity.
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33 SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company
(the“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 11th
August 2021 and the previous share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 11th August 2011 (the“2011
Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 10th August
2021, notwithstanding that the share options which have
been granted and remained outstanding shall continue
to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance
with the terms on which the share options were granted,
the provisions of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and the
Listing Rules. Unless otherwise terminated or amended,
the 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date (i.e. 11th August 2021) and will expire
on 10th August 2031. The purpose of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme is to provide incentives to participants
to contribute to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and/or to retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group. Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme include any employee (whether full fume or
part time), executive or officers of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries (including executive or non-executive
directors of the Company) and any business consultant,
financial or legal adviser of the Company or any of its
subsidiary or any other person, who satisfies the criteria
prescribed by the terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme. The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted no later than twenty-eight (28) days from the
date of grant, provided that no such offer shall be open
for acceptance after the expiry of the period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme or after the 2021 Share Option Scheme
has been terminated. The amount payable by each
grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of options is HK$10.00.

The subscription price in respect of any option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of
the relevant option and must be at least the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant of the options, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five (5) business days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Board of Directors but in any event, not longer than
ten (10) years from the date of grant.
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options under 2021
Share Option Scheme and the options granted under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries to each grantee (including both
exercised or outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a grantee would result in the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of Company’s shares in issue,
such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, together with all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(including the 2011 Share Option Scheme), must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries if this would
result in the 30% limit being exceed. In addition, the
total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme (“General Limit"). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the General Limit.

Unless otherwise imposed by the Board and stated in
the offer letter, the exercise of an option is not subject
to any performance target which must be achieved
before the options can be exercised or any minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised.

33

fB M (4]
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DB ] B A RS B RT 8IS TR AR A
PR A RERTT AR B D BERA R
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 11th August
2021. No options were granted or exercised, and
2,100,000 (2024: 1,246,622) share options were lapsed
under 2011 Share Option Scheme during the year
ended 31st March 2025. The terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of
options, if any, granted prior to its expiration.

Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share
Option Scheme for the year ended 31st March 2025
were as follows:

33 BRE(E)

—E——FEREFIHER=ZZE=—FN\A
+HE®m BE_E-_RAF=-A=+—H1
FE T ——FEREFIIETITHERER
REHER H sk 17{F - B 2,100,000 (== =1
F 1,246,622 ) EREE RS — T ——
FHRBETZKADEEEF RN KE

A - ARERTA EJE i B HA AT E % B8 A i (2n
BIATITME

BE_T-_hE=-A=1+—RHLFE"
——FBk %HﬂETHﬁZ$kF“Em
T

Exercise
price per
share

Adjusted

Date of grant

Validity period per share
f3e
REE
HKS

B

RFRH b ShiTkE
HKS

B

exercise price

As at
1st April
2024

As at

Cancelled/ 31st March

Granted lapsed  Exercised

R-E-m&

BA-H
000
Tk

&F
000
Tk

GRS
'000
i

BfTE
000
Th

(5
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 1 0.928 0.928 2,100 = (2,100) = =
19th January 2025
“F-if “3-54-A=tAZ
-A=1H _7_£¢ ATNE
2,100 = (2,100) = =

Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share
Option Scheme for the year ended 31st March 2024
were as follows:

BHE-_Z-_WNWF=ZA=1+—HItFE "
——i%h%+%ﬁT%ﬁZ%k%“ﬁw
g

Exercise Adjusted As at
price per  exercise price 1st April Cancelled/
Date of grant Validity period share per share 2023 lapsed Exercised
BEE R-B-=fF
RTEH ghikE  SRORE mA-A BT
HKS HK$ 000 000
BT iy T T
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 1 0.928 0.928 2,100 = = = 2,100
19th January 2025
2% ZZ-R§-AtHE
-A=1H ZECRE-RTAR
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 2 1.300 1.043 1,246 = (1,246) = =
26th November 2023
“3-=f ZR-CET-AZTHRE
T-AZTtH ZRCZET-AZTAA
3,346 = (1,246) = 2,100
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33 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1) The share options were vested in four tranches, with each
tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e.
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019
respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

2) The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to
17th December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were
adjusted for the open offer completed in December 2014.

No options were granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31st March 2025 and
2024.

As at 31 March 2025, there were no outstanding share
options granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme
and 2021 Share Option Scheme (2024: 2011 Share
Option Scheme: 2,100,000 and 2021 Share Option
Scheme: Nil, representing 0.33% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2024).

The maximum number of shares available for issue
upon exercise of share option not yet granted under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme is 64,123,231 shares (2011 Share
Option Scheme: Nil and 2021 Share Option Scheme:
64,123,231 shares), representing 10.07% (31st March
2024: 10.04%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st March 2025.

e B ERR M

BRE(E)
GEE

1) BIRESNEREE - §—Ho R RS HEERED
lEl’ﬁZ*(Eﬂ?%‘ﬁﬂi*ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%%%ﬂ‘]@%Z*) 2
F— FZ  FEZRFENHEHIR=ZZT—REF - =
T—+F T )\FER_ZT-hhFHW—A=+H
BAFITE BEE_ZE-_RAF—A+ABILL-

2) RZZ-MF+-_ATEARE-ZT——FBR
B BIRE ZBRETEERBA R T —HF
TZRAEMZ R EEHFE

BE_ZT_AFR-_F-_MF=A=1+—H
LHFE YERE-FT - —FBREFIR
B R -

RZE-_AF=ZA=+—H REE_-Z
ffiﬁ%l&ﬁé?riu&_?_*Eﬁﬁﬂﬂ*.ﬁ
BTEREmMEATEZEBRECEZ
E:‘*f4~fﬁﬂ§kﬁ&+%-2jmnmok
M2 —FEREE - & BARFR
—E_NEZA=Z+—BZEETRAN
0.33%) ©

BE_Z——FEREFER-_T = —F
BERETE FHARENEREETE
B Al TE1T 2R & KNEE A64,123,231
B ZE——FEREFNE: BER - =—
FHEREE :64,1232310% ) - G AR
AN ZE-_RAF=A=T—BZE2ETK
AKE10.07%(ZZE_ME=A=+—H:
10.04%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE BT R AR M R
X

34 RESERVES 34 BREGE)

Share Capital
Share option :: § Capita Other | anslation Retained

premium gserve eserve (1) feserve Ve eserve [6SEMVe

Ykt Kot i R

HK$'000 (§000 HK$'000

}%:[ TIET AT BT
As at 1st April 2023 R-E-ZERA-A 426,013 800 80,946 19,629 30,744 1,668 (12,145) 1,018 (26,960) 366,19 897,108
Proftfor the year ER| = = = = - - - - - 78,782 78,782

Otter comprehensive incomefloss) ~ E#EEHA/(6E)
Release of exchange reserve upon KB RTRMEERE

deregistraton of subsidiaries EifEED = = = = = = = - 831 - 631
Loss on cash flow hedge RefielnlER - - - - - (1,668) - - - - (1668)
Curency ranslaton differences ~ EXERZE = - - - - - - - (75,949) - (75949)
Change n financil assets BAREEHALBRARAD

at FVOCI (Note 21) SRER (M) - - - - - - - (2907) - - (2907)
Transaction with ouners SEE\NEREAY

intheir capacty as owners SHEGHRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves  EEEFHE - - - i) - - - - - (122) -
Lapse of share option BRERH - (342) - - (1,166) - - - - 1508 -
Retur of capital to ERRET

non-controling interest islits - - - 1,446 (33) - - - - (1,204 29
Shares repurchased FhOIEE (280) - 461 - - - - - - (461) (280)
Dividend paid ke = - - - - - - - - (19.212) (19.212)

At 315t March 2024 R-R-mE=f=1-8 425,133 458 81,407 0,997 38,545 - (12,145) (1,889) (102,278) 424,886 876,714
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34 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

34

e B ERR M

fB M (4]

Share Capital
Share option  redemption Statutory
premium reserve  reserve (i)  reserves (i)

BB K4RA
Rt i BE()  ERER()
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
Tin Tin Tin T

Capital
reserve

Erih
HKS 000
T

Hedge
reserve

Sk
HKS 000
T

Cumulative
Financial foreign
assets at currency
Other FVOCI  translation Retained
reserve reserve reserve eanings
FOAEE
HAEHEE
¥z 2ith%
EhRE  SREEEE EiRf REEA
HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn

As at 1t April 2024 R-E-RERA-A 425,733 458 81,407 21997 38,545 = (12,145) (1,889) (102,278) 424,886 876,714
Proftfor the year EREf| = = = — - - - - - 89,617 89,617
Otter compretensive incomeyfloss) ~ E28Y//(BE)
Currency tranglaton differences ~ EXERZE = - - - - - - - (11,196) - (11,196)
Change in financiel assefs BAABEARBZERAL

at FVOC (Note 21) SREE 2D (HE) - - - - - - - 502 - - 502
Transaction with owners SEE\NEREAY

n their capacy as owners SHEHTS
Appropriaton of statutory reserves  EEEERE - - - m - - - - - (22) -
Lapse of share option BlRERN - (458) - - - - - - - 458 -
Return of capital to EREET

non-controling nterest Fislits - - - - - - (o74) - - - (o74)
Shares repurchased FhOIEE (315) - 525 - - - - - - (525) (315)
Dividend pid $lthe - - - = - = = = - gy )
At 315t March 2025 R-E-18=f=1-R 425,418 = 81,932 22,269 38,545 = (13,119) (1,387) (113474 496,342 936,526

Notes:

(if)

Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund
and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China,
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their
respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may
be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.

The capital redemption reserve has been established upon
repurchase of shares.

(if)

EEREEN T EAES THBARRIL 2 B¥%
REFHEER—RREES - WRPBEREERT
Bl - R BRRERR S R AR & 2 P /B8 1 R ZB Y LR B¢
Baf(FEHBEFEBR) BHTAELETRE
REEER-REHEES  LEXVHEREERS
BEE - —RBEHESDH BIERHEER KIS MR -
MR RHBED AT A EZMRA -

BEARBEEFED R DB R -
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35 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Set out below is summarised financial information for a
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) that
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for
the subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

35 FiEFIMERS

TXHINGEEHAKET S BEARIFEH
tErE s ([FEE bR |) P B 2 B H 81 7%
EHBE - B RARERENSERRAM
HEHEHA] -

Summarised statement of financial position

BERERHE

Plentiful Praise Limited
EHRERAF

2025 2024
—E-mE
HK$'000
FET

—2-1F
HK$°000
TET

Current assets mENE E 57 55
Current liabilities mENa G (192,771) (186,477)
Current net liabilities REFEE (192,714) (186,422)
Non-current assets IERBEE 224,173 235,593
Non-current net assets EREFEE 224,173 235,593
Net assets FEE 31,459 49,171
Accumulated NCI RIS 84,726 89,070

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

FEBRARME

(J

Plentiful Praise Limited
BRERAT
2025

—E-RE
HK$’000
TERT

2024
bt a3
HK$'000

TBxT

Loss for the period and HABER

total comprehensive loss REEBReE (19,395) (12,260)
Loss allocated to NCI DEFIEEHEER 2R (7,370) (4,659)
Dividends paid to NCI XN FHREHERRZRE — —

Summarised cash flows
HEREHME

Plentiful Praise Limited
EHRERAF

2025 2024
—E-mE
HK$’'000
FET

—2-1F
HK$°000
TET

Cash flows from operating activities KrEEH I REME (22) (11)
Cash flows from investing activities KBTS ZHERE (10,106) (9,188)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEEDH 2 RERE 10,130 9,234
Net increase in ReRREZEEZ
cash and cash equivalents EIFE 2 35
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBBA1ERBR AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

e B ERR M
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36 ZKERERER

FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax (a)
to net cash generated from operations is as

()

follows:

BRAIBHAENEEE
FEEENT ¢

FEeRE

2025 2024
e Lk
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Profit before income tax B TS FE A A 65,610 85,854
Share of results of investments FEIL R A
accounted for using the AR ZIE
equity method ZEE 19,641 22,750
Interest income LB A (588) (916)
Interest expenses FEXZH 72,288 92,255
Depreciation of property, VI - BRE REE
plant and equipment e 7,908 6,966
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 20,052 9,494
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, &M -« BEN&RE
plant and equipment Z 518, (E) 1,489 (861)
Gain on modification of lease HEEE 2 W — (842)
Unrealised exchange loss RELE H B8 (297) (353)
Release of exchange reserve Bt B 2 B 7 Jh S S A O
upon derecognition of subsidiaries ZIEH EERED — 631
Fair value loss on investment properties &M% 2 A BEEE 25,002 13,356
Unrealised fair value loss/(gain) BAREEFABR
on financial assets at fair SREEREHEAR
value through profit or loss BEEE (W) 1,013 (213)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment % §t&ER(EEBEE,
loss on financial assets — net (EI%) — 55 2,597 (2,404)
Provision for write-down FERERE
of inventories - net —F58 2,120 846
Provision for/(reversal of) BERN 2 BE/
onerous contracts ([E%#) 2,406 (24,371)
Operating profit before working LEESEHR 2
capital changes W 219,241 202,692
— Inventories -FE 35,222 85,627
— Trade and bill receivables —EWBE R R 6,300 48,740
- Prepayments, deposits —ANRIE - Zek
and other receivables H fth fE UL BR 5K 15,649 36,102
- Trade and bill payables —EAER N EE (4,548) (72,019)
— Contract liabilities —&BHaE 30,887 10,027
— Accrued liabilities and —EETEER
other payables H fth FE AT BR 5K (1,333) 6,029
Net cash generated from operations & Fr15 2 IR & /55 301,418 317,198
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 FERERER(HE)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REERERERT  HEWE -
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and BMERFZEZFREFERSE

equipment comprise:

2025 2024
ZECRE —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
©
Net book amount (Note 14) BREFEE(MIEE14) 5,620 170
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HEME  BEMEREZ
plant and equipment (Note 7) (B18), W (KisE7) (1,489) 361
Sales proceeds of disposals HEWE - BEREKHEZ
of property, plant and equipment SHE TS RIA 4,131 531
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36 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 36 MERERER(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) MEITBHZ2EEHR
activities

Liabilities from financing activities

HEEBAE

Liabilities

Interest payable under
(included in accrued Borrowing Borrowing Hire supplier
liabilities and due within - due after 1 Lease purchase finance

other payables) year [IEINES liabilities arrangements

) ZfEE B8 BERE BREEE ZUHTZAE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T BT BT BT T
(9
Net debt as at RZZZ=%
1st April 2023 MA—AZFER 2,970 1,367,897 62,098 4,620 3,324 65,775 1,506,684
Proceeds from borrowings EEFEE — 174,567 340,176 — 3,480 — 518,223
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ (EiER/T(EE — (559,174) (9,789) — — —  (568,963)
Net decrease in trust receipt ~ EFUERITER
bank loans FEEAD — (93,934) — — — — (93,934
Net decrease in supplier HERRE T
finance arrangements FRRD = = — — — (29,203)  (29,203)
Repayment of interest expenses |83 ff (85,294) — — (871) (248) —  (86,413)
Additions RE — — = 38,851 = = 38,851
Interest expenses FEZit 86,797 — — 871 248 — 87,916
Payment for lease liabilites) ~ HE&E/
hire purchase liabilities AERERR — — — (13,380) (1,253) — (14,633)
Other non-cash movements HtRe 29 — 54,529 (54,061) (842) — — (374)
Currency translation differences B X Z% — (29,322) 963 (16) — (607) (28,982
Net debt as at R-ZB-ME
31st March 2024 ZR=+-BZ3EH 4,473 914,563 339,387 29,233 5,551 35965 1,329,172
Proceeds from borrowings EEMETE - 252,433 — - - — 252,433
Repayment of bank borrowings ~ EBR{THEE — (377,601) (8,197) — — —  (385,798)
Net decrease in trust receipt ~ EFUIERITER
bank loans FRRD — (10) — — — — (10)
Net decrease in supplier HEBRERH
finance arrangements FERD = = = — — (10,005)  (10,005)
Repayment of interest expenses |83 ft (65,423) — — (1,298) (237) —  (66,958)
Interest expenses FISXH 64,777 — — 1,298 237 - 66,312
Payment for lease liabilites/ ~ HE&E/
hire purchase liabilities HERERR - — — (19,885) (1,588) —  (21473)
Other non-cash movements HiR e 29 — 15,591 (15,151) — = — 440
Currency translation differences [EX Z% — 136 (2,497) — — (162) (2,523)
Net debt as at RZZ-RF
31st March 2025 =A=T-BZFEE 3,827 805,112 313,542 9,348 3,963 25,798 1,161,590
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37 COMMITMENTS

(@) Commitments under operating leases

(i)

(i)

Lessor

The Group leases investment properties
under non-cancellable operating lease
agreements. The lease agreements
are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate. As at 31st March
2025, the Group had total commitments
receivable under various non-cancellable
operating lease agreements in respect of
rented premises of HK$26,761,000 (2024:
HK$26,541,000).

Lessee

The Group leases various retail outlets,
offices, warehouses and sites under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The
majority of lease agreements are renewable
at the end of the lease period at market rate.
See Note 16 for further information.

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had total
commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in
respect of short-term and low-value leases
of HK$462,000 (2024: HK$2,084,000) which
will be recognised as an expense in the
forthcoming consolidated income statement.

(b) Capital commitments

As at 31st March 2025, the Group had total capital
commitment of approximately HK$102,852,000

(2024:HK$114,979,000),

mainly includes

contracted but not provided for in respect of
property, plant and equipment and investment
property of approximately HK$768,000 (2024:
HK$2,165,000) and commitment in respect of
investments accounted for using equity method, if
called, of approximately HK$102,084,000 (2024:
HK$112,814,000). See Note 19 for details.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |
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(i)

HFEA
AEEREBETRE & ZEBELH
HEEWE - YA EEEEH
BUTTISHEER KR-_ZT -1
FZA=1+—8 AEEE%F:
ZEEBEEYENTIHE
BEMY HEWERERE R
26,761,000 o(Z & — I 4 :
26,541,000 7T ) °

REA
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R RMER G 1B kT ER AR
Sgo

BEARERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The major shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”), who directly owns 0.62% of
the Company’s shares and indirectly owns 14.06% and
29.92% of the Company’s shares through his controlling
companies, namely Perfect Capital International Corp.
(“Perfect Capital”, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and 100% owned by Mr. Yao) and
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Island, in which Mr. Yao directly holds
approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owns approximately 42.86%), respectively. The
remaining shares of the Company are held by general
public.

Mr. Yao is the Chairman of the Board of Director of the
Company.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the significant related party
transaction are disclosed below. The transactions with
related parties were conducted in the ordinary and
usual course of business in accordance with terms
agreed between the Group and its related parties.

(a) Related party balance and transactions

Balances with related parties

e B ERR M

7
38 LIRS

RAATIHFE ERE R AL £ %
D REERHA A RAOE2%MK M
LA K i B H ¥ IR & FlPerfect Capital
International Corp. ([Perfect Capital] + —
FRABRLHESTMK L2 A5 - Bk
4 5B 100% #z= ) X Huge Top Industrial
Ltd. (—FAR R BERE LS M 2 AF]
Bk EFEEERFN4881%ER RER
Perfect Capital HEFFH4)42.86% #5) 5
RIS B A N R R 14.06% & 29.92% R 15 °
RRABIRTROBARIES o

RELEREARBERTEER -

B MBRRAEMIBOMPESESN - EX
BB RXZEENT - BB I XZRAEE
SH BT 0 2 RN — R K B R XK B
FRARETT ©

(a) BABLEHRRERS

BARRRTT 2 R

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FEx FET
e

Trade receivables & U BR 3R
— an associate — — & A F] 10,884 3,925
— a joint venture ——MH&aE AR 343 321
11,227 4,246

Contract liabilities EHEE
— an associate — — & A A 3,063 —
— a joint venture ——H&aE AR 274 —
3,337 —

The balances with the related parties are included
in “Trade and bills receivables” and “Contract
liabilities”.

BRARE Ty 2 EERET Al RUR A R R R
RIa#Ba’E]-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Related party balance and transactions
(Continued)

Transaction with related parties

The following is a summary of significant related
party transactions, which were carried out in the
normal course of the Group’s business:

38 BB AERSZ (&)

(a)

BEH?EHEI%&B\E% (g\g)

BEHELTZXE
RAKEEREEBBIETETZEKR
BARZHMEMT :

2025 2024
—BCHF —E_ME
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt o FEx FTET
e
Management fee income ERBRAE
for services provided to RHRBET
— a joint venture ——M&aE AR (i) 14,246 15,724
- an associate — — A& AT (ii) 15,179 15,281
29,425 31,005
Notes: B 5
(i) During the years ended 31st March 2025 and 2024, (i) REBEZE-_ZEZ_AFEER_ZT_NHE=AH

management services were provided by indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company to HSO Group, a joint
venture of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

(i) During the years ended 31st March 2025 and 2024,
management services were provided by indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, to Skyline Group, an
associate of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

(b) Key management compensation

(b)

Z+—HLEFE AARAzZHEEZEN
BREZESRAEZERAALE -—HE
BRAHSOKERHE 2 ER R

(i REBEE-ZZ-_REFR=-ZT-_NE=A
=+—HIEFE AXQFRZHEZENR
BARKRESREZBRAASE—HB
&N A) Skyline fEERRHt 2 BIRART ©

TEEEERM

2024
—ZmE
HK$'000
FET
(3

Salaries and allowances e MoEBh 10,688 13,294
Bonus TE4T 6,003 6,305

Pension costs - defined BREKA—-HFE
contribution schemes HERETE 328 336
17,019 19,935
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39 XQFHMBEMRRARRFEESS
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2025 2024
—E-RE —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT
Non-current assets REBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR ZKE 703,778 674,181
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and TEFIA - e
other receivables T H b e AR X 129 129
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEE 3,175 1,168
3,304 1,297
Total assets HWEE 707,082 675,478
Equity E=
Capital and reserves attributable A2 T HEE AENE
to owners of the Company R R &
Share capital &N 63,650 63,860
Reserves [t (a) 642,343 610,416
Total equity B 705,993 674,276
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities REAE
Accrued liabilities and other payables fE&T & & &k E b FERTBR 3K 1,089 1,202
Total equity and liabilities ERREBEE 707,082 675,478
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 39 AARMBMRARKRFEEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (£8)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) QT EELE
Capital
Share  Share option redemption  Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
REE BRERE 4ARDRG BARR RE&EA aE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TR TiEn TiEn TiEn
Note (i) Note (ii)
FEEE (1) Wi (i)
e
At 1st April 2023 RZE-=ENA-A 426,013 802 80,946 53,986 49,484 611,231
Profit for the year ERER = = = = 18,677 18,677

Transaction with FEAUEFEN
owners in their 25T
capacity as owners ~ HX5

Shares repurchased {7 EE (280) — 461 — (461) (280)

Lapse of share options  BREX M - (342) - - 342 -

Dividend paid BfilE - - - - (19,212) (19,212)

At 31stMarch 2024 RZZ-W4F 425,733 460 81,407 53,986 48,830 610,416
ZA=1-H

Profit for the year FERT = = - - 50,064 50,064

Transaction with BEANUEREA
owners in their 25T
capacity as owners X%

Shares repurchased  fR{3 B (315) - 525 - (525) (315)

Lapse of share options B fkiEX M - (460) - - 460 -

Dividend paid BRTRE - - - - (17,822) (17,822)

At31stMarch 2025  R-Z-1E 425,418 = 81,932 53,986 81,007 642,343
=A=1-H
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39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established
upon repurchase of shares.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal values
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of
acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus
is also available for distribution to shareholders. However,
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) the Company
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value
of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

40 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 2nd June 2025, Top Bloom Group Limited (the
“Lender”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a Loan Agreement with Skyline
Holdings (BVI) Limited (the “Borrower”), an associate
of the Company pursuant to which the Lender has
agreed to provide the loan in favour of the Borrower in
the amount of RMB18,000,000 for a term of six months
at an interest rate of 10% per annum. The loan shall
be used by the Borrower or its subsidiaries for general
working capital purposes. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 2nd June
2025.

This is a non-adjusting event after the financial year
end and does not result in any adjustments to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2025.

e B ERR M

39 i;%ﬁﬁ!ﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂ%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
AR

(a) FLF#ERE(E)

(i) EAEORFEBECNEBRNERT

(i) ARFRHABRBERUE B HUKENEL
Bl D E(E 4 B8 B AN A B [ B 37T DA
Rz B EEMERZEZH -

BRREBEMN REBRE-AN-F2
AUE(IERT)  BABBRITA DK TR
R oo AT - (i) AN R BT BE RN BFAR
TREXNEBzBE  H()ARBZAE
REEBEENEEEREBITRARBKN
B MARRNEERARR
PEIRFKEREHEHDIK

40 HERRBECEH

R-ZZ_RFE/,A-H  Top Bloom Group
Limited ([ERAD(RQARz —HBEEE2E
B/ A A]) £ Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited
([BEFAD(RRRZEE AR —HE
RiBE - Bl ERACREBRBERARE
+EAARE 18,000,000 T2 EF - AN
A FREE10% -  ERERBRARE
MBARHERA—REELESRARFER - 15
E R NG el s =Yy =l = /N

WAMBFEEREIIFPDEEE 188
BBE_Z_AF=A=+"HLFEZLR
B BRRMELEMAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries.

41.1 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has right to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(i) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition
method to account for business
combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset
or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. ldentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ERAR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e SR AR MY A

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

()

(1)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the profit
or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions - that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

41
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.1 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.2 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the aggregate fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method - net” in
the consolidated income statement.
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.2 Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

41.3 Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 - Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of
the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income. The Group’s
investments in joint ventures include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the joint venture and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the joint venture's
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
ventures, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided
to the Chief Operating Decision Maker, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, and has
been identified as the Executive Directors that
make strategic decisions. Information relating to
segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed as
such information is not separately reported to the
CODM.

41.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the profit or loss. All foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within
“other gains- net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

41.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in

other comprehensive income.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into

the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit
or loss.

41

e B ERR M

HBEEASTBREE (&)

41.5 MR E (R)

(c)

(d)

£EHA (&)
(i) FBAEELEZENEME
ERA P ER -

KERE-—HBIBEERELZ
BEE A EBEBABRREZRIN
BERCZEENABRE  WAK
MERME - FEEZEBER
ZRANEMEEBATER -

HERIRERBL HE

REEFRIEE (AN ERAEER
BINEB s 2HREXBERLE
BYHREY —RHWNE A F 2 ZH
RBRERINET)  HEERY
—HAERABRERRENE(E
FEIRSNETS ) 3 th B G B — g
LBRBREERTE N (BFEFEIN
%7%))  AIARRRAERE ARZE
BHRBRTMAEENERLER

HEFHDRERL

HRHE—FMBAR(BREFEIN
EB)HOEEMRBEEHAKE
KREHWE R B HEE - 48
FELL DI #) RETIE X Z B R A
SR BEYFERNER
HER - ZRAEEM AR & (A
MOLEBERARRAGERAM
BEEYAEEREERTES
S FESHE) - R AR REt
ERERENOEEER -

2024/25 Annual Report | 4

195



196

NOTEST()THE(XDNSCHMDATEDFWNANKNALSTATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

41.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and eq

uipment,

is stated at

historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit
or loss during the financial year in which they are
incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

2% to 20%
20% to 33%
15% to 33%
10% to 25%
10% to 20%

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements
— Furniture and equipment
— Machinery

— Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’'s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’'s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 41.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e SR AR MY A

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 41
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HBEEASTRREE (&)

41.7 Land use rights 41.7 v fE AR

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the costs of leasehold land
over their terms. Land use rights are presented as
right-of-use assets on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

41.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUSs).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

41.9 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

T3 A 2 AT ERTR A BUR IR A AR R
HEHTIRR - BIEABE R EARE
B ARERAD# - LI ERE
RIEFBMBERRAETEINREREE
&= o

MNBFETRMEEZRE

BRECRAHARCEE MWﬁ@ ﬁ
RS - AT FEITRERE
E%#%IR@“%N%E%%* %
’/,\?'TiﬁfﬁZﬁFaLﬁ/ﬁﬂﬁuﬁE
BERACRBBEAIKNESE 2 HER
BRR—IEREEE - JRESELE
EARBERLEKAEFEREERE
Zfﬁ% SAMRENS - BESHE
DABNRERECREEESENMN)
Z?ﬁgm EENIINERMEZ IS
BEEGNTERSE B2 0 2R
EHEITAE -

HMIEREE

(@ #8
AREHEEBAED AU T
215

s REHBREAARBENEG
AE b2 KA AR
@) R

o IREHKAGE -

DEIRAREBERESREEL
EBEXARBEREZLTEMBRT -

2024/25 Annual Report | 4

197



198

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(a

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

- FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented in net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains - net”
in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL")
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.
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NOTEST()THE(XDNSCKMDATEDFWNANKHALSTATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group calculates
the ECL of financial instruments in different
stages. Stage 1 refers to financial instruments
that have not had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition; Stage
2 refers to financial instruments that have
had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition but that do not have
objective evidence of impairment; Stage
3 refers to financial assets for which there
are objective evidence of impairment at the
reporting date since initial recognition. For
these assets at Stage 1, 12-month ECL are
recognised and for assets at stage 2 and 3,
life-time ECL are recognised. For financial
assets with low credit risks as at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group recognises 12-month
ECL based on the assumption that the credit
risks have not significantly increased after
initial recognition. The Group determines the
level of credit risks according to their internal
and external investment grade credit rating
and the ages of financial assets. For those
financial assets are more than 30 days past
due, they would be classified as stage 2
and 3, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For financial assets in stage 1 and stage
2, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the asset, that
is, without deduction for credit allowance,
and the effective interest rates. For financial
assets in stage 3, interest income is
calculated on the net carry amount, that is,
net of credit allowances, and the effective
interest rates.
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41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.9 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

The Group recognises the provision and reversal
of ECL in profit or loss. For debt instrument at
FVOCI, the Group makes relevant adjustments
to other comprehensive income at the same
time as recognising ECL in profit and loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Impairment on bill receivables, other
receivables and deposits are measured
as either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL,
depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit
risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured
as lifetime ECL, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

41.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e SR AR MY A

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 41 HEBEEERSTHERBE(H)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

41.11 Inventories N1 EE

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

41.12 Other receivables

If collection of other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value.

41.13 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

41.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.15 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

41.16 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period.

The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged.

At the inception of the hedging, the Group
documents the economic relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, including
whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the
cash flows of hedges items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking its hedge transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EMIEERARMEE

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 41
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

HBEEASTBREE (&)

41.16 Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued) MNATTET AR HIES (&)

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months; it is classified as a current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months or if
the counter party has the right to terminate the
hedging instruments anytime. Trading derivatives
are classified as a current asset or liability.

41.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.18 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

41.19 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year
is the tax payable on the current year’'s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate
for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&E A 1ERAR AR

41

HBEEASTRREE (&)

N1 EE R

AU 2ELEEREREE(EAR
REFHEGFERETREILEZE
E)EEREEZ —REFEBERATS
HARFEERAE  BEERFEEARK
LEEEHRAEERERGILE -

B EMEEXRAAREEEHRRNE
TP RER ©

NAIEHIRIELFTBH

AEEWFAEHERSAEHERES
= HRATIATS R - IRBADEERER
MFEHRREFE - YRIEEBNERE
HERBEEMSHEEMBENE
PARRAE R B 75 1R R AR EE AR o

(a) ERFE

BRI EREARARRRE
MEBAR BEREERARKES
REERRVBANBE RN RE
HIHIRE B EE EERMHA
MIEEPEE - EEEREAH
155 DI fR R AR IR B 15 00 TE B /T
BRI - W EER G
AREARAANERI TEENH
BT  NEBEGAEEMESL
g ENKF oA BHER
TRz~ BURR IR AR #
BAF TR N HETE R AR o



41

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to
investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where
the Company is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

41.20 Employee benefits

(a

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution
plan. The schemes are generally funded
through payments to insurance companies or
trustee-administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.
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41

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligation (Continued)

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment
of current employees without possibility of
withdrawal. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

(a)

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.20 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long
service payments to its employees upon
termination of their employment or retirement
when the employees fulfil certain circumstances
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods.

41.21 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e SR AR MY A

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY 41 HEBEEERSTHERBE(H)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.21 Share-based payments (Continued) NAUBRBRER S (E)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant date
and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense
during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\/-_]_\

41

BB WK

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.22 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination
payments. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

41.23 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

41.24 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e SR AR MY A

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY M1 HEMEBEEEASHBRBE(E)
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
41.25 Leases M.25FHE
As a lessee 1EBERHA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41

BB WK

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.25 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

° any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.
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SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.25 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

As a lessor

Lease income where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position based on their nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M AE IR AR MY AT

41

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’'s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

41.27 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are deducted
against the carrying amount of the assets.

41.28 Hire purchase liabilities

Property, plant and equipment acquired under
hire purchase are capitalised in the consolidated
financial statements and depreciated in accordance
with the policy set out in Note 41.6 above. The
corresponding outstanding obligations due under
the hire purchase after deducting finance expenses
are included as liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements. Finance charges are allocated
to profit or loss over the period of the hire purchase
agreements on a straight line basis.
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